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Colbinabbin  
Place Based Plan
Our strong spirit and innovative thinking  
creates a vibrant and welcoming place  
for our community to thrive.

DRAFT
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We respect and acknowledge the unique 
Aboriginal cultural heritage of the Taungurung, 
Yorta Yorta and Dja Dja Wurrung peoples, on 
whose land Colbinabbin is situated.  We pay 
our respects to their ancestors, descendants 
and emerging leaders. We also acknowledge 
their living culture and their unique role in the 
life of this region.

We commit to ensuring that we work in 
partnership and consult with the indigenous 
community in relation to the projects 
contained within this Place-based Plan to 
ensure that we honour their culture and meet 
the needs of their community. 

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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Our Community
The people of Colbinabbin are proud of ‘Colbo’ and 
have a very strong ‘can do attitude’ when it comes to 
improving their town and caring for one another.  
Residents think outside the square when it 
comes to solving local issues (such as the 
potential loss of the general store several 
years ago) and think big when it comes 
to putting their town on the tourism map 
(through the painting of the silos in town).

Local residents say that they like the 
character of the town, the lifestyle 
it offers, the climate, the beauty, 
the history, the location, facilities, 
organisations and the sense of 
optimism around growth and 
development.

Purpose of  
the Plan
Through the development of this Place 
Based Plan, the Colbinabbin community 
has identified the key actions that will 
enable it to continue to create a vibrant 
and welcoming place for people to thrive.  
These actions have been incorporated into 
the plan and will help guide the community and 
its partners in delivering important programs, 
services and infrastructure over the next 10 years.

1. Executive Summary
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1. Executive Summary

Our Top Priorities
Through numerous community engagement activities, the Colbinabbin community has identified opportunities to enhance 
the health and wellbeing of the community and to increase the overall liveability, prosperity and sustainability of the town.  
The top six projects identified by the community (i.e. those that received the highest number of votes through community 
engagement activities) include:

The remaining nine projects, which are all considered by the Colbinabbin community 
to be very important, are listed in the Action Plan at the end of this plan.

The Process Undertaken
The Colbinabbin Place Based Plan was strongly driven by the community and will help to guide decision making by the 
community, Campaspe Shire and other key stakeholders in relation to initiatives in Colbinabbin.  Over 200 local residents 
had their say in the future of Colbinabbin from the end of May to the end of July 2022 through: 

This engagement built on previous engagement undertaken as part of the development of the Council Plan in 2021/2022 
and previous community plan engagement.

1. Swimming Pool
Retain the swimming pool and provide programming 
opportunities to increase usage and the variety of 
activities available

2. Play Spaces
Upgrade play spaces to provide quality play 
opportunities for local children and those visiting 
Colbinabbin 

3. Local Businesses
Encourage people to support local businesses including 
the general store, the hotel, agricultural businesses and 
wineries

4. Early Year’s Hub
Explore the potential to develop an early year’s hub 
which will provide services such as Maternal and Child 
Health, kindergarten, childcare, playgroup and allied 
health services from the one location

5. Events
Develop and enhance events to attract more people to 
visit Colbinabbin and to provide residents with enjoyable 
and accessible local activities

6. Recreation Reserve
Upgrade the Recreation Reserve to include the 
construction of a new multi-purpose community hub 
that provides opportunities for the delivery of, sport, 
recreation, social, health, business 
and community strengthening 
opportunities.  The master plan 
features a number of other 
projects that will benefit 
the town too, including 
improved walking trails; 
updated play space;  
improved shade, lighting 
and seats; BBQ and picnic 
facilities; opportunities for 
informal recreation, etc.

142
Community 

survey 
participants

(50% of 
community)

22
Drop-in session 

interviews

28
Drawings from 
school children

9
Drawings from 

pre-school 
children

1
Written 

submission 
received
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1. Executive Summary

Key Focus Areas
To help achieve the vision, four key focus areas 

were developed:

1. Social and community connections

2. Health and wellbeing

3. Education, training, industry and employment

4. Built and natural environment

Underpinning each of our four focus areas is 
leadership and planning.

The Vision
Together the community has agreed 

upon a shared vision for the town and 
surrounding region. It is:

Our strong spirit and innovative thinking 
creates a vibrant and welcoming place 

for our community to thrive.

Objectives
Each of the four key focus areas have been 

supported by at least one objective.  
These are as follows:

1. An inclusive, welcoming and connected community 

2. A healthy and active community

3. Innovative industry, education and training 
opportunities that meet the needs of our 

community 

4. A sustainable built and natural 
environment
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1. Executive Summary

Our Agreed Projects
Many potential projects were identified by the community throughout the engagement period. The list of potential projects 
was assessed by the Colbinabbin Place Based Plan Governance Committee (made up of a broad cross representative 
group of community members). A detailed community engagement report accompanies this plan. Below is a summary of 
each of the proposed 15 projects agreed upon by the Governance Committee: 

Quick Win Projects (3 - 12 Months)
1 Shop local

Encourage people to shop locally by promoting local businesses and consider development of tourist information 
at the store.

2 Streetscapes (A)
Improve the streetscapes of Colbinabbin to include township entry signage, directional signage, branding and 
landscaping (some of these actions may take place over several years)

3 Memorial Hall
Refurbish and renew the hall by closing off the external public toilets, remodelling the internal toilets, upgrading 
the Maternal and Child Health consulting space, painting the facility, installing air conditioning and undertaking 
basic maintenance. At the same time, seek additional user groups and uses for the hall, e.g. tourist information, 
museum, storage of cemetery and / or historical records / archiving documents, health and wellbeing classes, 
youth / children’s activities, library and display of art works. 

4 Public toilets
Develop new stand-alone accessible, unisex toilets with baby change facilities in Colbinabbin (accessible to the 
silos and the main road) to replace the existing toilets at the Memorial Hall once they are closed off.

5 Recreation Reserve
Implement the recreation reserve master plan by undertaking detailed design work for a new multi-purpose 
community hub to include improved social, community and change facilities at the recreation reserve in the 
short term and the construction of this facility in the medium term. Undertake other identified actions over the 
next 10 years in accordance with the schedule in the master plan.

6 Walking / cycling paths
Connect and further develop safe walking / cycling paths around Colbinabbin that link to key locations such as 
the school, Recreation Reserve, silos, wineries and town centre, including a crossing over the channel. The first 
priorities are to create a safe link from the town to the primary school through the erection of a barrier next to the 
main road; footpaths leading into the recreation reserve and a flashing 40km per hour signs in the school zone 
during pick up and drop off times. Other actions such as additional connections in the township, extending the 
Rushworth Rail Trail to Colbinabbin and reinstatement of the Golden Ironbark Trail may take place over several 
years.

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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1. Executive Summary

Short Term Projects (1 - 4 Years)
1 Children’s services 

Undertake a study to determine the feasibility of developing an integrated early years hub in Colbinabbin 
incorporating services such as kindergarten, childcare and Maternal and Child Health and visiting allied health 
professionals. The feasibility study will explore the possibility of relocating the Colbinabbin Primary School to the 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve or the possibility of relocating the early years facility to the primary school site.

2 Playground
Upgrade the existing play space in the centre of Colbinabbin and provide a barrier or fence to prevent children 
from running onto the main road.

3 Streetscapes (B)
Improve the town’s storm water drainage system, in particular follow up work on the drain along Boldiston Lane, 
to limit the impact of future flooding events.

Long Term Projects (5 - 10 Years)
1 Residential development

Expand housing estates in town to support increased population growth and sustainability and complete works 
in current housing estates, e.g. kerbs, gutters and roadways.

Ongoing Projects
1 Swimming Pool

Retain the Colbinabbin Swimming Pool and increase programming / activation. 

2 Events
Develop and enhance events (e.g. food, wine, music) to attract more visitors to Colbinabbin. 

Advocacy and Support Projects
1 Communications

Advocate for improve NBN and mobile phone service reception, as well as free Wi-Fi from the public telephone 
booth. 

2 Employment
Advocate for the promotion of employment opportunities available in Colbinabbin and employment opportunities 
available by people working from home

3 Enhanced outreach services
Advocate for the provision of enhanced outreach services for health and wellbeing, including Maternal and Child 
Health service and home care.

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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1. Executive Summary

Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan 
It is important to note that the Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan was scheduled to commence after the 
completion of the Colbinabbin Place Based Plan. Its completion date was brought forward somewhat so that due 
consideration could be given to the township plan and the recreation reserve plan at the same time as there are many co-
dependencies between the two, and the most significant projects within Colbinabbin are likely to occur at the Recreation 
Reserve (refer to Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan for more details). Of particular importance are:

•	 New multi-purpose community hub - the development of a new multi-purpose community hub at the recreation 
reserve will provide gender neutral change facilities for players (footballers, cricketers, netballers, tennis players and 
lawn bowlers) and umpires, first aid / trainer’s room, a gym, a social / meeting space, kitchen, kiosk, bar, accessible 
toilets with baby change facilities, office and storage space. It may also provide space for the Maternal and Child 
Health Service, a telehealth station, visiting professionals such as rural finance or allied health specialists, older adults 
activities, community cooking classes, community meetings, community celebrations, training courses, hot desks, etc.

•	 New walking / cycling paths - improved and safer physical walking / cycling path connectivity between the school, the 
silos / town centre, wineries and the recreation reserve. 

•	 Co-location of the primary school and an early years facility – potential relocation of the primary school to the 
recreation reserve (pending support from all levels of Government) and an early years facility constructed next to the 
primary school.

•	 Various other works as detailed in the master plan.

10. �Install electronic netball 
scoreboard

11. �Expand tennis courts for 
netball and basketball

12. �Install shade structure on 
tennis court

13. �Renovate north east corner of 
bowling green

14. �Install new shade structure on 
bowling green

15. �Demolish bowls / netball / 
tennis pavilion 

16. �Purchase pool blanket and 
explore solar heating 

17. �Develop early years facility and 
possibly relocate school 

18. �Formalise car parking
19. �Develop pedestrian safe zone
20. �Construct shared walking / 

cycling paths
21. �Redevelop reserve entrance, 

new ticket box and widen entry 
road

22. �Upgrade play space
23. �Plant trees
24. �Install more seats around site
25. �Install directional signage on 

main road
26. �Install BBQ / picnic area
27. �Install interpretive signage
28. �Install outdoor fitness 

equipment
29. �Explore income generating 

activities

1. �Install football goal post nets

2. �Install new coaches boxes

3. �Upgrade cricket nets

4. �Install PA system

5. �Replace oval lights

6. �Install new larger scoreboard

7. �Design multi-purpose facility

8. �Construct multi-purpose facility

9. �Demolish football pavilion and install amenities 
facilities

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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2. Introduction
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The Colbinabbin Place Based Plan aims to strengthen and build the adaptive capacity and resilience of the community. It 
will achieve this through the establishment of a vision which reflects the Colbinabbin community’s future ambitions. It also 
incorporates clear objectives and actions to guide decision making to support implementation of the vision.

The plan clearly identifies the direction the Colbinabbin community wishes to further develop and enhance in relation to:

•	 Social and community connections
•	 Health and wellbeing
•	 Education, training, industry and employment
•	 Built and natural environment.

Underpinning these four areas are strong community leadership and quality planning. Effective leadership and planning at 
the local level are critical factors in the realisation of identified projects. 

The Place Based Plan will also be used to:

•	 Identify partnerships
•	 Stimulate economic growth and investment
•	 Provide an evidence base of need
•	 Attract funding
•	 Advocate for specific resources and initiatives
•	 Guide the provision and management of programs, 

services and facilities for the community.

To maintain momentum and to ensure continued 
engagement by the community, the plan has 
identified some quick wins, as well as some 
medium and longer-term actions. There are also 
some advocacy projects incorporated into the 
plan.

Extensive community engagement 
occurred in order to develop the plan. This 
engagement included:

•	 Community survey – 142 participants 
(representing 50% of the community) 

•	 Drop-in session – 22 interviews
•	 Drawings from school children – 28
•	 Drawings from pre-school children – 

9 drawings
•	 Written submission – 1 email received.

In addition to community engagement, 
a broad range of relevant documents 
including Campaspe Shire Council’s Plan 
were reviewed and a demographic analysis 
undertaken.

2. Introduction

Introduction
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3. Our Town
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Colbinabbin is situated in the southern part of the Shire of Campaspe 20km to the west of Rushworth and 160km north of 
Melbourne. It is renowned for its friendly, welcoming atmosphere and strong community spirit. It is also valued for its rich 
agricultural soils and its world class wines set amongst rolling hills and its stunning painted grain silos. 

Overview

3. Our Town
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Our History and Industry
Colbinabbin got its name from the Aboriginal term for “the meeting of the black and red soils”. For more than 40,000 years, 
the Taungurung, Yorta Yorta and Dja Dja Wurrung people have cared for the land in the district and retained their strong 
attachment to country. The Colbinabbin community acknowledges the care of the land provided by our First Nations 
people and welcomes the opportunity to work hand in hand with them to continue to protect and care for the land and its 
waterways into the future.

Europeans settled Colbinabbin in the 1850’s and established farms on the rich Cambrian soil. A township was established 
20 years later, and the post office opened two years later in 1872. The construction of the Waranga Mallee channel in the 
1930’s enabled a much greater variety of farming enterprises to occur due to irrigation, e.g. cereal cropping, livestock 
production, tomato farms and more recently, vineyards. Viticulture is currently the largest industry employer locally. 
Farming enterprises continue to evolve through the enhanced the use of technology, resulting in higher production levels. 

Facilities, Services and Businesses
In addition to various farming enterprises in the district, Colbinabbin also incorporates a range of facilities, services and 
businesses within the township. These include:

Within 10km of the town limits, there are a range of other businesses and facilities including:

3. Our Town

•	 Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve featuring an oval, 
tennis courts, netball courts, bowling green, 2 
pavilions, swimming pool and playground (as well as 
the kindergarten)

•	 Colbinabbin Anglican Church
•	 Colbinabbin Cemetery
•	 Colbinabbin Country Hotel
•	 Colbinabbin Depot 
•	 Colbinabbin Fire Station
•	 Colbinabbin General Store Co-op
•	 Colbinabbin Kindergarten
•	 Colbinabbin Motors
•	 Colbinabbin Pipeline

•	 Colbinabbin Memorial Hall – incorporating Maternal 
and Child Health Service, Historical Society materials, 
public toilets, playground, gazebo with history boards

•	 Colbinabbin Primary School
•	 Colbinabbin Silos
•	 Colbinabbin Uniting Church
•	 Browns Stock Feeds
•	 Morgan’s Fuel Self-Serve Fuel Station
•	 Morgan’s Logistics & Spray Contracting
•	 Resource Recovery Centre
•	 West Farm Supplies
•	 Wheelhouse AGnVET

•	 Bed and Breakfast Accommodation
•	 Brown Brothers Wines
•	 Catholic Church
•	 Carls Compost
•	 Chinaman’s Bend Vineyard
•	 Colbinabbin Estate
•	 Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve (Hill)
•	 Cornella Brewery
•	 Ellis Vineyard
•	 Hennings Vineyard
•	 Humis Vineyard

•	 Kennedy Wines
•	 Mt Burrumboot Estate.
•	 P V Green Energy Pty Ltd
•	 Reid Stockfeed
•	 Shiraz Republic Winery 
•	 Stuart Co Vineyard
•	 Sundowner Foods
•	 Treasury Wines
•	 Whistling Eagle Vineyard
•	 Whitebox Winery

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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Factors Impacting our Community
Some of the factors impacting the community of Colbinabbin in recent years, which inform the many of the actions within 
this Place Based Plan include:

Locally Specific Factors

Broader Environmental Factors

3. Our Town

•	 Ageing community infrastructure and insufficient 
funds to renew or upgrade this infrastructure

•	 Growth in the number of kindergarten and school 
aged children in the community

•	 Lack of childcare 
•	 Lack of services for more vulnerable people in the 

community
•	 Limited housing stock, vacant land and rentals in 

Colbinabbin
•	 Decreasing volunteer rates (and a need for more 

volunteer support)
•	 Lack of accommodation for visitors and seasonal 

workers
•	 Changes to the workforce, e.g. more women working, 

but they tend to travel to places such as Echuca, 
Bendigo or Shepparton for work

•	 Influx of managers and highly skilled people in the 
district

•	 Growth in people working from home (which can 
make Colbinabbin even more attractive to people 
looking to relocate)

•	 Greater focus on sustainability, e.g. water and 
electricity

•	 Lack of connectivity in the town and lack of safe 
pathways

•	 The effects of large-scale business developments in 
the district such as solar farms

•	 Limited options for electric car charging
•	 Lack of access to face-to-face health services and 

GPs locally, but increasing access to telehealth for 
GPs, allied health services and mental health support

•	 Potential to co-locate services, e.g. Colbinabbin Fire 
Station at the Recreation Reserve

•	 Climate change impacts – resulting in a higher risk of 
floods, grass fires, drought and heat related incidents

•	 Potential environmental impacts of large businesses 
•	 COVID-19 impacts such as illness, a sense of social 

isolation, fear of being in crowded spaces, delays to 
medical treatments and more people working from 
home

•	 Increased price of housing – making home ownership 
unaffordable for some

•	 High interest rates – resulting in mortgage stress and 
potentially higher rents for some

•	 Increased cost of living, including utility costs and 
fuel costs

Attachment 8.4.3.1
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Our People 
The following table provides an overview of the Colbinabbin community, based on the 2021 Australian Bureau of Statistics 
Census 1

Current population 
285

5-19 years  
19.9% (59) (compared 
with 17.8% for Victoria)

Top countries of birth 
(other than Australia) 

England (1.4%) and 
Thailand (1.1%)

Females 
45.8%

20-44 years  
21.3% (63) (compared 

with 35.4% for 
Victoria)

Languages spoken 
at home other than 

English 
Auslan (2.5%) and 

Thai (1.1%)

Males 
54.2%

45-64 years  
27.9% (84) 

(compared with 
24.2% for Victoria)

Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait 

Islander (as a % of 
population) 

0.0% (compared 
with 1.0% for 

Victoria)

Median age 
47 (compared with  

38 for Victoria)

People over 65  
22.8% (68) (compared 
with 16.8% for Victoria)

Median 
household 

weekly income 
$1,278 (compared 

with $1,759 for 
Victoria)

0-4 year olds 
7.7% (23) (compared 

with 5.8% for Victoria)

People born in 
Australia 

80.7% (compared with 
65.0% for Victoria)

Top 5 industries of 
employment 

1. Other grain growing
2. Grain-sheep or grain-

beef cattle farming
3. Hospitals (except 

psychiatric)
4. Sheep farming 

(specialised)
5. Pubs, taverns and bars

3. Our Town

Attachment 8.4.3.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 17



Page 14Draft Place Based Plan  |  Colbinabbin

Top 5 occupations 
1. Managers
2. Labourers

3. Community & personal 
service workers
4. Professionals

5. Clerical & administrative 
workers

Currently attending 
TAFE, university or 
tertiary institution  

8.4% (compared with 
24.5% of Victorians)

Homes rented 
 (compared with 28.5% 

for Victoria)

Full time 
employment rate 
63.5% (compared 

with 56.2% for 
Victoria)

Those with a 
Bachelor degree or 

above 
14.0% (compared with 
29.2% of Victorians)

Earn less than $650 
per week 

19.6% (compared with 
16.4% for Victoria)

Part time 
employment rate 
32.8% (compared 

with 32.3% for 
Victoria)

Voluntary work in 
the last 12 months  
41.7% (compared 

with 13.3% for 
Victoria)

Earn more than 
$3000 per week 
9.3% (compared 
with 24.2% for 

Victoria)

Average number of 
motor vehicles per 

dwelling 
2.6 (compared with 

1.8% for Victoria)

People with 
long term health 

conditions  
47.7% (compared with 

38.9% for Victoria)

Unemployment rate 
0.0% (compared with 

5.0% for Victoria)

Homes owned 
outright or with a 

mortgage 
75.3% (compared with 

68.3% for Victoria)

3. Our Town

Our People
(Continued)
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3. Our Town

Our Strengths
Employment
The demographics also tell us that Colbinabbin is very much a farming community, and that those who live in the town or 
district are more likely to be in full time work compared with Victorians overall. The unemployment rate is listed as 0.0%.

Housing
The demographic analysis tells us that in 2022 there is a higher level of home ownership and lower level of rental in 
Colbinabbin compared with other towns and cities in Victoria, potentially creating a higher level of housing security than in 
some other towns and cities.

Young people
The high percentage of children and teenagers are likely to continue to make services such as the kinder, school and 
sporting activities sustainable into the future.

Volunteers
Compared with Victoria, the population of Colbinabbin has a high level of volunteerism. Many of these volunteers are likely 
to be associated with groups such as the Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Committee of Management, sporting clubs, etc. 

Our Challenges
Young adults
There is a significantly lower percentage of people between 20-44 years of age living in Colbinabbin compared with 
Victoria. Presumably a high percentage of this group moved away for study or employment purposes. The gap in this age 
group may result in fewer local people being able to fill sporting team positions, thereby requiring sports people to be 
brought into town from places like Bendigo or Shepparton. Other occupations that traditionally rely on younger people, 
such as hospitality or harvesting, may also see labour shortages.

Wages
Wages in Colbinabbin are somewhat lower than for Victoria overall. This may impact the ability of some members of the 
community to afford goods and services.

Education
The percentage of people currently studying at TAFE / tertiary level, or whose highest educational achievement is 
a Bachelor degree or above is much less than for Victoria overall.  This could potentially limit job opportunities for 
Colbinabbin residents where tertiary level education is a requirement. 

Volunteers
Although Colbinabbin has traditionally had a high level of volunteerism, anecdotally we know that following COVID-19 
restrictions, volunteer engagement is lower than in previous years. This potentially impacts the delivery of services and the 
maintenance of community facilities in Colbinabbin. 

Health
Almost half of the population has long term health conditions. This may impact the types of support local residents need 
and may ultimately result in some people moving to other locations, particularly as they age, to receive the level of support 
required. It may also limit the types of programs people may become involved in.

Growth
Whilst the growth rate for Campaspe Shire is estimated to be 10.67% between 2022 and 2036, much of this growth will 
occur in larger centres with land available for housing development, e.g. Echuca West and Kyabram. The area in which 
Colbinabbin is situated, i.e. Rushworth and District, is only expected to have a growth rate of 0.3% (or the addition of 7 
more people in this 14 year period). 2

What Our Demographics Tell Us
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4. Our Vision, 
Key Focus Areas, 
Objectives And 

Actions
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4. Our Vision, Key Focus Areas, Objectives and Actions

Our vision describes what we want 
Colbinabbin to be like in the future. 

This is our vision:

Our strong spirit and innovative thinking 
creates a vibrant and welcoming place for 
our community to thrive.

Our focus areas and objectives tell everyone 
what we want to achieve and relate directly to 
our vision. 
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4. Our Vision, Key Focus Areas, Objectives and Actions

Objective:  
An Inclusive, Welcoming and Connected Community
Events: Our existing events and activities are well promoted and attract both local residents and visitors to the area. New 
events that we instigate highlight our unique attributes and location, e.g. food and wine.

Play: Our children have safe and enjoyable places to play with their family and friends within the town centre, at the 
recreation reserve, at the primary school, at the kindergarten, at their homes and at other key locations around town. Each 
of these play spaces offers a different type of play experience to enhance the physical, social, cognitive and imaginative 
needs of children and their families.

Memorial Hall: We reimagined and reinvigorated the Memorial Hall and it now provides for additional programs and 
services for the community and visitors. It is well utilised. 

Recreation Reserve: Our Recreation Reserve more effectively meets the needs of our participants, administrators, 
volunteers, spectators and the broader community. A new multi-purpose community hub incorporating a range of 
community spaces, social spaces, meeting spaces, spaces for outreach / health services and gender-neutral change 
facilities is used extensively and is an integral part of our community. Other upgrades are undertaken at the Reserve to 
improve the experience of all user groups. Co-location of community facilities, programs and 
services at the Recreation Reserve is considered.

Swimming pool: The public swimming pool in Colbinabbin is regularly used 
by local residents and visitors to the area for swimming, water play and 
community gatherings. 

How we aim to achieve this
1.	 We will develop and enhance events (e.g. food, wine, music) 

to attract more visitors to Colbinabbin. We will develop 
a calendar of events to promote existing events and 
activities in the town. This calendar will be promoted 
through our promotional channels.

2.	 We will develop a safe place for children to play in the 
township.

3.	 We will refurbish and renew the Memorial Hall by 
closing off the external public toilets, remodelling 
the internal toilets, upgrading the Maternal and Child 
Health consulting space, painting the facility, installing 
air conditioning and undertaking basic maintenance. 
At the same time, we will seek additional user groups 
and uses for the hall, e.g. tourist information, museum, 
storage of cemetery and / or historical records / archiving 
documents, health and wellbeing classes, youth / children’s 
activities, library and display of art works. 

4.	 We will implement the Recreation Reserve master plan by 
undertaking detailed design work for a new multi-purpose 
community hub to include improved social, community and 
change facilities at the recreation reserve in the short term, and the 
construction of this facility in the medium term. We will undertake other 
actions that have been identified in the master plan. 

5.	 We will retain the Colbinabbin Swimming Pool and increase programming / 
activation.

4.1 Social and Community Connections
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4. Our Vision, Key Focus Areas, Objectives and Actions

Objective:  
A Healthy and Active Community
Health and wellbeing services: Colbinabbin is a caring town where health and wellbeing services are inclusive, 
accessible and readily available to all through face-to-face provision, telehealth or outreach. These services enable older 
adults and people with disabilities to remain living at home as long as possible and ensure that children who require 
additional support to thrive are connected to appropriate services when needed.

Lifestyle: Our people understand the importance of health and have embraced healthy and active lifestyles. 

Belonging: People in Colbinabbin have a strong sense of belonging and look out for one another. They know their 
neighbours and feel safe and supported at all times. Our people never hesitate to lend a hand to those in need. 

Participation: We provide opportunities for the community to participate in a range of different activities to improve 
their health and wellbeing, enjoy our beautiful natural environment, have fun, develop their skills and make new social 
connections. Our volunteers are well supported.

Trails: Our network of walking and cycling trails not only provide opportunities for people to be physically active, but also 
create a safe connection to school and other key destinations.

How we aim to achieve this
1.	 We will connect and further develop safe walking / cycling paths 

around Colbinabbin that link to key locations such as the school, 
Recreation Reserve, silos, wineries and town centre. Our first 
priorities are to create a safe link from the town to the primary 
school through the erection of a barrier next to the main 
road; footpaths leading into the recreation reserve; and 
a flashing 40km per hour signs in the school zone 
during pick up and drop off times. We will undertake 
other actions such as additional connections in 
the township, extending the Rushworth Rail Trail 
to Colbinabbin and reinstatement of the Golden 
Ironbark Trail in the medium to long term.

2.	 We will advocate for the provision of enhanced 
outreach services for health and wellbeing, aged 
care, people with disabilities and children. Some 
of these services could potentially be delivered 
from the proposed new multi-purpose community 
hub at Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve.

4.2 Health and Wellbeing
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4. Our Vision, Key Focus Areas, Objectives and Actions

Objective:  
Innovative Industry, Education and Training Opportunities 
that meet the needs of our Community 
Businesses: Our existing shops and businesses are well supported by local residents and visitors 
passing through or staying in Colbinabbin and district. People are able to purchase basic goods 
and services, as well as unique local products within Colbinabbin and district, thereby 
retaining money locally and creating local employment opportunities.  

Information: Visitors are able to easily find out about local tourist attractions and 
businesses such as our painted silos and wineries before arriving in Colbinabbin 
or whilst they are in Colbinabbin. This information will be available online and 
in brochure / map format.

Technology: Our local residents have access to secure and reliable NBN 
and mobile phone reception, enabling them to easily access the internet for 
work, study, connection and play. Locals and visitors will also be able to 
access free Wi-Fi from a location in the main street.

Business development: People are supported to establish businesses 
in Colbinabbin (either in the town, in the district or at their home) and 
employment opportunities in Colbinabbin are promoted by relevant 
organisations such as Council.

Early years: Our children have access to a range of quality early years 
services in a suitable location in Colbinabbin.

How we aim to achieve this
1.	 We will introduce a ‘shop local’ campaign to enable local businesses to 

survive and thrive. By encouraging local people to shop locally, it will reduce 
the need (particularly for those with no transport or limited transport options) 
to travel to Shepparton or Echuca if they can buy goods locally. It will also help 
to create more local employment opportunities, increase the diversity of products 
available locally and retain money in the local community. 

2.	 We will work in partnership with Colbinabbin General Store Co-operative to establish tourist 
information stand within the Store, e.g. maps, brochures, displays, etc.  As part of this, we will also explore:

	- a.	working in partnership with Echuca Moama Tourism and Campaspe Shire Council to ensure that information 
about Colbinabbin attractions, e.g. the silos and wineries and events, is available at Visitor Information Centres, and 
included in promotional materials such as maps, brochures signs, banners and in online promotions / video content.

	- b.	establishing a community website to promote the liveability and unique attributes and attractions of Colbinabbin 
to local residents and to residents of other towns in the region and across Victoria. 

3.	 We will work in partnership with Campaspe Shire to advocate for improved NBN and mobile phone reception in 
Colbinabbin and district, as well as free Wi-Fi a location in the main street.

4.	 We will work in partnership with Campaspe Shire to promote Colbinabbin as an ideal place to establish a new 
business and to promote employment opportunities that are available in Colbinabbin.

5.	 We will undertake a study to determine the feasibility of developing an integrated early years hub in Colbinabbin 
incorporating services such as kindergarten, childcare and Maternal and Child Health and visiting allied health 
professionals. We would ideally like an early years’ facility to be co-located with the Colbinabbin Primary School. As 
part of the feasibility study, we will explore the possibility or relocating the primary school to the recreation reserve or 
the possibility of relocating the early years facility to the primary school site. 

4.3 Education, Training, Industry and 
Employment
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4. Our Vision, Key Focus Areas, Objectives and Actions

Objective:  
A Sustainable Built and Natural Environment
Streetscapes and open space: Our parks, gardens and streetscapes are attractive and well maintained, predominantly 
featuring a variety of different native and indigenous plantings that are drought tolerant and easy to maintain. These 
spaces provide accessible paths, seats and shade, and depending on their size and purpose, may also feature toilets, 
BBQs, play equipment and picnic facilities. Local residents and visitors use these spaces for activities and events year-
round. Our storm water drains are efficient and limit the impact of future flooding events.

Roads and footpaths: Our roads and footpaths are safe and well maintained and connect people to key locations in the 
town such as the school, the recreation reserve, the shops and the silos. People are able to find their way around town and 
to key locations through well thought out wayfinding signage that is branded to reflect the character of Colbinabbin. 

Residential land: New residents, including those with young families, are 
attracted to the town as additional residential land is opened up.

Housing estates: Existing housing estates are made more attractive 
and more functional by completing construction of kerbs, 
gutters and roadways. 

Sustainability: Our community embraces initiatives that 
will help it to become more sustainable.

How we aim to achieve this
1.	 We will develop new accessible, unisex 

toilets with baby change facilities in 
Colbinabbin to replace the existing toilets 
at the Memorial Hall (which we proposed 
to be closed down as part of the hall 
refurbishment). These toilets will be 
centrally located near the main street so 
that they are accessible for locals, people 
passing through the town or people 
visiting and attending events at the silos.

2.	 We will improve the streetscapes 
of Colbinabbin to include improved 
township entry signage, directional 
signage, branding and landscaping. We 
will also improve the town’s storm water 
drainage system, in particular follow up 
work on the drain along Boldiston lane, to 
limit the impact of future flooding events.

3.	 We will advocate to Campaspe Shire to expand 
housing estates in Colbinabbin township 
to support increased population growth and 
sustainability and will seek help to advocate to 
developers to complete works in current housing estates, 
e.g. kerbs, gutters and roadways.

4.4 Built and Natural Environment
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A Governance Committee comprising of community representatives will take 
on the role of implementing the plan, supported by the community 
planning resources of Campaspe Shire Council. The committee 
will consist of approximately eight local residents. Two 
committee members will be assigned to each of the 
four portfolio areas to drive the projects. They will be 
supported by Campaspe Shire Council and are able 
to establish their own sub-committees to assist 
with project implementation. 

An implementation plan will be produced 
by the Governance Committee to progress 
projects. It will incorporate the following 
information for each project:

•	 Project description
•	 Why this project is important to 

Colbinabbin
•	 How we are going to make this 

happen
•	 Who is going to help us with the 

project
•	 How this project is supported by 

Council
•	 The resources required to implement 

the project
•	 How we will know if this project has 

been a success.

The style of this implementation plan will 
assist with grant applications. 

The Colbinabbin Place Based Plan should 
be reviewed annually. There may also be a 
requirement to establish baseline data for some 
projects so that the impact of specific actions or 
initiatives can be measured. 

5. Our Monitoring And Evaluation
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The following members of the Colbinabbin Place Based Plan Governance Committee were instrumental in guiding the 
development of this plan and will play a pivotal role in its implementation going forward:

•	 Dean Wallace (Chair)
•	 Jo Brown
•	 Tait Hamilton
•	 Shannon Hill
•	 Anne McEvoy
•	 Hannah Price
•	 Shell Rathjen
•	 Brian Spencer
•	 Sadie Vale

Lachlan Cozens and Sam 
Campi from Campaspe Shire 
provided invaluable support 
and guidance throughout the 
project.

6. Acknowledgements
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There are 15 key actions identified by the community that will help achieve the vision for Colbinabbin. These actions will be 
subject to attracting sufficient funds.

Quick win projects (1-12 months): Category  Leaders

Shop local – encourage people to shop locally by promoting local 
businesses and consider development of tourist information at the store.

Education, 
training, industry 
and employment

Shannon Hill

Hannah Price

Brian Spencer

Streetscapes (A) – improve the streetscapes of Colbinabbin to include 
township entry signage, directional signage, branding and landscaping 
(some of these actions may take place over several years). 

Built and natural 
environment

Dean Wallace

Sadie Vale

Memorial Hall – refurbish and renew the hall by closing off the external 
public toilets, remodelling the internal toilets, upgrading the Maternal and 
Child Health consulting space, painting the facility, installing air conditioning 
and undertaking basic maintenance. At the same time, seek additional 
user groups and uses for the hall, e.g. tourist information, museum, storage 
of cemetery and / or historical records / archiving documents, health and 
wellbeing classes, youth / children’s activities, library and display of art 
works. 

Social and 
community 
connections

Ann McEvoy

Jo Brown

Public toilets – develop new stand-alone accessible, unisex toilets with 
baby change facilities in Colbinabbin (accessible to the silos and the main 
road) to replace the existing toilets at the Memorial Hall once they are 
closed off.

Built and natural 
environment

Dean Wallace

Sadie Vale

Recreation Reserve – implement the recreation reserve master plan by 
undertaking detailed design work for a new multi-purpose community 
hub to include improved social, community and change facilities at the 
recreation reserve in the short term and the construction of this facility in 
the medium term. Undertake other actions identified over the next 10 years 
in accordance with the schedule in the master plan.

Social and 
community 
connections

Ann McEvoy

Jo Brown

Walking / cycling paths – connect and further develop safe walking / 
cycling paths around Colbinabbin that link to key locations such as the 
school, Recreation Reserve, silos, wineries and town centre. The first 
priorities are to create a safe link from the town to the primary school 
through the erection of a barrier next to the main road; footpaths leading 
into the recreation reserve; and a flashing 40km per hour signs in the school 
zone during pick up and drop off times. Other actions such as additional 
connections in the township, extending the Rushworth Rail Trail to 
Colbinabbin and reinstatement of the Golden Ironbark Trail may take place 
over several years.

Health and 
wellbeing

Shell Rathjen

Action Plan

7. Action Plan
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Short-term projects (1-4 years): Category  Leaders

Children’s services - undertake a study to determine the feasibility of 
developing an integrated early years hub in Colbinabbin incorporating 
services such as kindergarten, childcare and Maternal and Child Health 
and visiting allied health professionals. The feasibility study will explore the 
possibility of relocating the Colbinabbin Primary School to the Colbinabbin 
Recreation Reserve or the possibility of relocating the early years facility to 
the primary school site.

Education, 
training, industry 
and employment

Shannon Hill

Hannah Price

Brian Spencer

Playground – upgrade the existing play space in the centre of Colbinabbin 
and provide a barrier or fence to prevent children from running onto the 
main road.

Social and 
community 
connections

Ann McEvoy

Jo Brown

Streetscapes (B) - Improve the town’s storm water drainage system, in 
particular follow up work on the drain along Boldiston lane, to limit the 
impact of future flooding events.

Built and natural 
environment

Dean Wallace

Sadie Vale

Long-term projects (5-10 years): Category  Leaders

Residential development – expand housing estates in town to support 
increased population growth and sustainability and complete works in 
current housing estates, e.g. kerbs, gutters and roadways.

Built and natural 
environment

Dean Wallace

Sadie Vale

Ongoing projects Category  Leaders

Swimming Pool – retain the Colbinabbin Swimming Pool and increase 
programming / activation. 

Social and 
community 
connections

Ann McEvoy

Jo Brown

Events – develop and enhance events (e.g. food, wine, music) to attract 
more visitors to Colbinabbin. 

Social and 
community 
connections

Sadie Vale

Advocacy projects Category  Leaders

Communications – advocate for improve NBN and mobile phone service 
reception, as well as free Wi-Fi from a location in the main street.

Education, 
training, industry 
and employment

Shannon Hill

Hannah Price

Brian Spencer

Employment – advocate for the promotion of employment opportunities 
available in Colbinabbin and employment opportunities available by people 
working from home.

Education, 
training, industry 
and employment

Shannon Hill

Hannah Price

Brian Spencer

Enhanced outreach services – advocate for the provision of enhanced 
outreach services for health and wellbeing, including Maternal and Child 
Health service and home care.

Health and 
wellbeing

Shell Rathjen

1 �Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2021 Census QuickStats – Colbinabbin (State Suburb): https://abs.gov.au/census/find-census-data/
quickstats/2021/SAL20611 

 2 �Forecast.id: https://forecast.id.com.au/campaspe 
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DISCLAIMER 
The information contained in this report is intended for the specific use of the 
within named party to which it is addressed ("the communityvibe client") only.  
All recommendations by communityvibe are based on information provided by 
or on behalf of the communityvibe client and communityvibe has relied on such 
information being correct at the time this report is prepared. 
 
communityvibe shall take no responsibility for any loss or damage caused to 
the communityvibe client or to any third party whether direct or consequential 
as a result of or in any way arising from any unauthorised use of this report or 
any recommendations contained within. 
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve is located on the eastern edge of the 
town of Colbinabbin near the primary school.  On its eastern border lies a 
creek, and on its western border, a channel.  Its southern border fronts the 
Bendigo to Murchison Rd and its northern border adjoins farmland. 
 
This 10-year master plan has been developed in collaboration with user 
groups and the broader community to document at a high level what the 
Colbinabbin community wants to achieve at Colbinabbin Recreation 
Reserve in terms of programs / activities and services for both existing and 
future users.  It therefore helps to identify the facilities and infrastructure 
required to deliver these programs / activities and services and provides 
the basis for further planning and detailed design work.  It will be used as a 
tool to guide priorities at the reserve and to seek external funding for 
works. 

 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve acts as a community hub whereby people 
come to take part in sport and recreation activities in a playing, passive 
recreation, administrative or support capacity.  Others come to enjoy 
watching a particular activity or event.  Others still come to the site to learn 
and to develop social connections with the broader community; thereby 
strengthening community ties and identify.   
 
The majority of sport and recreation facilities currently available in 
Colbinabbin are located within the Reserve. This provides opportunities for 
multi-use of facilities and economies of scale.  These facilities include:  
 

• a turf sports oval with cricket wicket  

• 2 asphalt netball / tennis courts with lights and 6 shelters 

• 2 plexipave tennis courts  

• a bowling green with 6 rinks 

• cricket practice nets 

• a basic pavilion shared by football and cricket (as well as swimming 

pool users) 

• a basic pavilion shared by netball, tennis and bowls 

• a playground  

• a kindergarten  

• a swimming pool  

• various other supporting amenities, e.g. ticket box, player shelters, 

storage sheds and internal roadways.   
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One of the key challenges of the site is the location of various facilities and 
infrastructure and the potential cost of redeveloping these in a more suitable 
location, e.g. moving the swimming pool to another location or rebuilding the 
recently upgraded netball courts and tennis courts in another location.  As 
there are not the resources to ‘start from scratch’, this master plan is designed 
to work within the parameters of what already exists.  This may result in 
duplication of some items such as toilets, but it will ultimately result in a lower 
cost overall.   

 
The key projects identified in this master plan are: 

 

Quick wins 

• Undertake detailed designs for a new multi-purpose facility 

• Install nets behind the football goal posts at each end of the ground to 
prevent the football (and potentially cricket balls) from hitting spectators 
and cars. 

• Construct new coach’s boxes that are larger in size than the existing 
boxes. 

• Purchase a pool blanket and explore solar heating as a means to 
provide warmer water for swimming pool users and to potentially 
extend the season. 

• Install additional seats around the oval, in the tennis court area, at the 
play space and in the swimming pool grounds with backs and arm rests 
on some, and create a suitable location for people in wheelchairs to 
safely view sporting events. 

• Install signage on the main road to direct people to the Recreation 
Reserve and to let them know what is available at the site. 

• Install a shade structure and seating on the southern tennis courts. 

• Install electronic scoreboards for netball 
 

Short term priorities 

• Demolish the existing bowls / netball / tennis pavilion  

• Construct a new multi-purpose facility at Colbinabbin Recreation 
Reserve on the site of the existing bowls / netball / tennis pavilion, 
featuring: 

• Unisex change rooms 

• Unisex umpire change rooms 

• Trainer / medical room 

• Accessible toilets 

• Baby change / feeding facilities 

• Kitchenette / kitchen 

• Social space with bar 

• Office 

• Storage 

• A community gym (potentially) 
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• Multi-purpose room/s suitable for Maternal and Child Health 
Service, telehealth appointments and hot desks 

• Large deck / verandah area for spectator viewing with fans and 
heating and potentially pull-down blinds to support year round 
use for night functions. 

• Demolish the existing football / cricket pavilion (once the new multi-
purpose facility has been constructed) and install amenities facilities 
which can be used by swimming pool patrons and other reserve users. 

• Create a pedestrian-safe zone near the new multi-purpose facility so 
that adults and children can move around safely in an area not used by 
cars. 

• Formalise car parking around the proposed new multi-purpose facility 
and create parking spaces for people with disabilities, emergency 
vehicles and deliveries  

• Redevelop the entrance to the reserve by:  

• widening and sealing the entrance road into the Recreation 
Reserve so that it is suitable for emergency vehicles and two 
way traffic 

• replacing the existing ticket box with a new ticket box to improve 
operations and comfort of volunteers 

• aligning internal roadways for best traffic flow 

• installing directional signage. 

• Undertake bowling green rink renovation on the north-east corner to 
level the playing surface. 

• Install new shade structures at the north end of the bowling green to 
provide shelter from the sun for players. 

• Develop safe shared walking / cycling paths that connect the school 
and township to the Recreation Reserve and vice versa, using the train 
bridge as part of this development. 

 

Medium term priorities 

• Upgrade the run up, wickets and carpet in the cricket practice nets.  

• Explore the option of expanding the tennis court footprint to 
accommodate larger multi-purpose courts that are also suitable for 
netball and potentially basketball.  This development includes an 
upgrade to the playing surface, multi-sport line marking, new netball 
goal posts, new tennis posts, new tennis nets, new lights, new umpire 
chairs and a half basketball court or a basketball ring and backboard in 
the netball court area. The footprint required to accommodate multi-
purpose courts is 36.10 metres in length and 40.25 wide plus additional 
space for spectator shelters and seating outside this area on the sides. 

• Upgrade the play space at the Recreation Reserve to incorporate 
nature-based play, some traditional elements, seats, picnic tables, 
accessible paths and a shade sail.  Provide some form of barrier to 
prevent children from running onto the road. The play space should be 
located close to the new multi-purpose facility. 

• Plant additional low-maintenance indigenous trees, shrubs and ground 
covers in key locations around the reserve to improve the amenity of 
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the site, provide more shade and provide habitat for fauna.  Ensure 
plantings adhere to Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) principles to ensure users feel safe. 

• Install a BBQ, some picnic tables that are accessible for people in 
wheelchairs and a shelter near the playground. 

• Install interpretive signage at the Recreation Reserve to acknowledge 
and celebrate the cultural heritage of traditional owners of the land. 

 

Long term priorities 

• Replace the existing lights on the sports oval with LED lights to enable 
better viewing for participants and spectators during night games and 
training. 

• Purchase a larger scoreboard that is capable of showing movies for 
community members. 

• Develop an early year’s facility at Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, 
subject to the outcome of the (yet to be completed) feasibility study 
(this may be incorporated within the footprint of the proposed new 
multi-purpose facility).  Relocation of the Colbinabbin Primary School to 
the site may also be a possibility, subject to approval from State and 
Local Government. 

• Install a Public Address (PA) system at the oval to communicate with 
players, spectators and the general community during events or 
emergencies. 

• Install outdoor fitness equipment in the current play space site.  
 

Ongoing priorities 

• Explore income generating activities such as rental received from 
hosting a bottle recycling facility on site. 
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2. INTRODUCTION 

The Colbinabbin Town Recreation Reserve Committee of Management and 
Campaspe Shire Council contracted Communityvibe, in partnership with Dale 
Denham Design to develop a Master Plan for the Recreation Reserve.  This 
follows the previous master plan prepared by Communityvibe in 2008. 
 
The purpose of this Master Plan is to identify the long-term planning needs of 
the Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve to ensure that appropriate facilities and 
infrastructure are developed to meet the needs of both existing and future 
user groups.  Another key outcome is to ensure that any improvements or 
works undertaken at the site are flexible enough to cater for the introduction of 
a broad range of new sport, recreation or community-based activities in the 
future.    
 
The methodology used to develop this master plan is as follows: 
 

• Undertake a basic literature review of relevant documents (including 

the previous master plan and the Colbinabbin Place Based Plan, 

Council Plan, Active Living Census (2019) and Campaspe Open Space 

Plan) 

• Review trends and state participation data 

• Undertake a basic demographic analysis of Colbinabbin  

• Review community engagement undertaken through the Place Based 

Plan and user group workshops 

• Meet with various user groups 

• Identify issues and opportunities 

• Develop a written document, a landscape plan and a facility plan 

• Review feedback on the draft master plan from the general community 

and user groups 

• Finalise the master plan. 
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3. POLICY CONTEXT 

A number of relevant reports were reviewed in order to develop an 
understanding of policies and previous directions that may impact on 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve.  These documents are as follows: 
 
Campaspe Shire Council Plan (2021-2025) 
The vision contained within the Council plan is: “Our places are vibrant and 
sustainable, our people are strong and supportive.” 
 
The key priorities and objectives, many of which have direct relevance to 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve and its functions, include: 

1. Flourishing and diverse local economies 
a. Stimulated economic activity that provides local jobs 
b. A resilient long-term economy attractive to local and external 

investors 
2. Resilient protected and healthy natural environment 

a. Well managed resources for a sustainable future 
b. Sustainable water and energy use 
c. Protected natural environment 

3. Well planned places 
a. Attractive and useable sites of importance 
b. Land and underlying infrastructure suitable for growing 

populations 
c. Quality, attractive recreational spaces 
d. Improved walkability and cyclability within townships 
e. Ability to travel safely and easily by road and rail 
f. Digital connectedness maximising mobility, economic 

productivity, health care access and education participation 
4. Growing quality of life 

a. Communities have a say on local infrastructure and attractions 
that stimulate engagement and activity 

b. Effective and efficient services available locally 
c. Children, young people and families healthy and well 
d. Inclusive, connected, culturally diverse and safe. 

 
Campaspe Shire Open Space Strategy (2022-2023) 
The Open Space Strategy will provides a framework to achieve the overall 
direction of an open space network that is of high quality, connected and 
provides access for all.   
 
The seven key principles contained within the strategy are: 
 

1. “Health and community benefit: Our spaces are for people, to improve 
health and wellbeing outcomes, and give everyone a chance to 
participate in physical activity and be socially connected.  

2. Adaptable: Council will plan for spaces to be flexible and offer diversity, 
to meet changing community’s needs.  
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3. Accessible and connected: Spaces provide access to all and are well 
connected through footpath and road networks.  

4. Sustainable spaces: Responding to climate change and incorporating 
sustainable environmental design best practice.  

5. Partnerships: Council will work with others to plan, develop and 
maintain spaces.  

6. Protection and conservation: Design and planning of open spaces will 
respect, protect, and conserve our natural and cultural heritage.  

7. Adequately resourced: Open space planning will be strategic, effective 
and equitable, aligning with Council and community capacity to 
deliver.” 

 
It notes the seven key attributes of open space that the community values, i.e. 
 

1. Places for health and physical activity 
2. Places for children to play 
3. Places for organised sport 
4. Landscapes that improve township amenity 
5. Environments for walking and cycling 
6. Places that provide a sense of local character 
7. Places that encourage Council and community partnerships. 

 
The strategy notes the seven key principles for play spaces as:  
 

1. Accessibility 
2. Diversity 
3. Connections 
4. Quality 
5. Safe  
6. Natural environment 
7. Community. 

 
When Council makes decisions around planning, development and 
investment for areas of open spaces, it considers the following nine factors: 
 

1. Ownership / governance 
2. Typology 
3. Hierarchy 
4. Function 
5. Need and demand 
6. Funding 
7. Usage 
8. Planning 
9. Social, environmental, cultural and economic. 

 
The strategy identifies hierarchies for different sized sport and recreation 
facilities.  Colbinabbin is classified as a local facility, i.e.: 
 
“Local facilities cater for the immediate community they are located in and are 
designed to cater for local level competition and general community sporting 
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needs. They usually cater for football, cricket and netball. Competition is 
generally of a local level but the space can be adapted to support finals and 
smaller scale sporting events.” 
 
In relation to open space in Colbinabbin, the strategy states: 
 
“Colbinabbin is situated in the south of the shire and has a population of 304 
(2016, ABS Census data). There is a recreation reserve, playground and 
open space along channel road. Colbinabbin is well serviced with open space 
with the recreation reserve and the playground beside the memorial hall. The 
silo art and parking space has access to the playground and toilets and 
creates a stopover point for travellers. There is no foreseeable need to 
develop any additional public open space in Colbinabbin.” 
 
It does however note as an action for Colbinabbin: 
 
“Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Committee of Management to develop a 
master plan for the reserve.” 
 
 
Communityvibe (2008) Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan 
The previous master plan identified a number of different priorities.  The 
following table identifies which of the actions were achieved: 
 

Facility Details Achieved Comments 

Pavilion Construct 
verandah, disabled 
toilet, female toilet 
sealed off from 
change rooms 

X and ✓ • No verandah 

• No conversion of 
umpire change 
rooms to disabled 
toilet 

• Lockable door has 
been installed 
between female 
toilets and change 
room 

Netball 
courts 

Extend run off, 
resurface courts, 
re-fence courts, 4 
new netball 
shelters 

✓ • Netball court 
upgrade completed 

• 6 shelters developed 

• New lights installed 
too 

Bowls and 
netball 
pavilion 

Extend kitchen and 
bar, add netball 
change and 
storage space 

X and ✓ • No extension 
undertaken 

• New hot water unit, 
stove and floor 
coverings 

• Interior painting has 
been undertaken 

• Netball storage is 
now available in the 
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Facility Details Achieved Comments 

new storage shed 

Tennis 
courts 

Resurface tennis 
courts 

X • Tennis courts have 
not been resurfaced 

Tennis / 
netball 
shelter and 
public toilets 

Demolish and 
replace with facility 
in bowls pavilion 

X and ✓ • Old netball shelter 
demolished to make 
way for netball court 
expansion, but no 
new toilets 
developed 

Kindergarten Install culvert over 
drain for parking, 
upgrade kitchen, 
convert male toilet 
to storage space 

✓ • Upgrades at kinder 
include: new toilets, 
new sheds, external 
landscaping 

Playground Install picnic table X • No picnic table 
installed 

Outdoor pool Install shade sails, 
construct shared 
change rooms for 
swimmers in 
summer and 
football umpires in 
winter 

X • No change room 
works undertaken at 
the pool 

• Shade sails installed 

Internal 
roads 

Install 2 speed 
humps between 
playground and 
bowls 

✓ • 2 speed humps 
installed 

Signage Install welcome 
sign, children 
crossing signs, 
directional signage 
to public toilets 

X • Limited signage 
installed – only 
CFNC signage at 
roadway 

Access to 
reserve / 
entrance 

Modify pedestrian 
fence on bridge to 
improve visibility on 
departure from 
Reserve 

X • No modifications 
have occurred 

Other 
activities 

Install basketball 
rings at netball 
courts 

X • No basketball rings 
have been installed 

 
Additional works undertaken outside the scope of the previous master plan 
include: 
 

• Sports oval renovation – improved drainage and replanting of grass 

• Umpire change rooms – new floor coverings and painting, but still no 
female umpire change facilities 
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• Pavilion toilets (male and female) painted, new floor coverings and new 
cabinetry 

• Cricket practice nets – an upgrade was completed in 2019 

• Scoreboard – new electronic scoreboard was installed in 2015 

• Timekeeper’s box - louvre windows removed and replaced with glass 
sliding window 

• Lighting – new football / cricket lights installed 

• Power supply – power supply was updated during lighting upgrade 

• New 4 bay storage shed built for multi group users 

• Further upgrades undertaken to kinder building. 
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Campaspe Shire – Colbinabbin Place Based Plan – Draft (2023) 
 
The vision contained within the Colbinabbin Place Based Plan is:  
 

“Our strong spirit and innovative thinking creates a vibrant and 
welcoming place for our community to thrive.” 

 
The four key objectives of the plan all align with the purpose and intent of 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, i.e. 
 

• Objective 1: An inclusive, welcoming and connected community 
 

• Objective 2: A healthy and active community 
 

• Objective 3: Innovative industry, education and training opportunities 
that meet the needs of our community 

 

• Objective 4: A sustainable built and natural environment. 
 
The five key actions of relevance include: 
 

1. Recreation Reserve - We will undertake a master plan of the 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve and upgrade the football / cricket 
pavilion to include improved social, community and change facilities, in 
addition to netball change facilities and an updated play space. 
 

2. Swimming pool - We will retain the Colbinabbin Swimming Pool and 
increase programming / activation. 

 
3. Play - We will develop a safe place for children to play in the township. 

 
4. Early years - We will undertake a study to determine the feasibility of 

developing an integrated early years hub in Colbinabbin incorporating 
services such as kindergarten, childcare and Maternal and Child 
Health.  

 
5. Trails - We will connect and further develop safe walking / cycling 

paths around Colbinabbin that link to key locations such as the school, 
Recreation Reserve, silos, wineries and town centre, including a 
crossing over the channel. 
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4. SPORT AND RECREATION FACILITY TRENDS 

Some of the state and national trends currently impacting sport and recreation 
facilities and spaces include: 

 

Wetlands, 
fishing 
platforms, canoe 
launching pads 

Activities for 
young people, e.g. 
½ basketball 
court, pump track 

Seating, picnic 
facilities, 
BBQs, 
drinking 
fountains and 
shade 
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5. PARTICIPATION IN SPORT AND ACTIVE RECREATION 

Traditional sports such as football, netball, cricket and tennis and bowls 
remain popular in Colbinabbin, however, there has been a considerable 
growth in informal physical activities in recent years at a state, national and 
international level.  
 
The following table lists: 
 

• the top 15 participation activities for adults between July 2021 and 
June 2022 (Ausplay)1  

• the top 10 participation activities for children in Victoria between July 
2021 and June 2022 (Ausplay)2 

• the top physical activities in Rushworth and District (incorporating 
Colbinabbin) in 2019 across all age groups (Active Living Census: 
2019)3 

 

Activity Victorian 
Adults aged 
15+ - top 15 
activities 

Victorian 
Children 0-14 
years of age – 
top 10 
organised 
sports 

Rushworth and 
District 
residents 
(across all 
ages) 

Walking 
(recreational)  

51.2%  18.2% 

Fitness/Gym 37.8%  4.3% (indoor 
group fitness 
only) 

Athletics, track 
and field (includes 
jogging and 
running) 

20.8%  1.7% (jogging 
and running 
only) 

Cycling 17.2%   

Swimming 14.0% 35.8% 7.9% 

Yoga  7.6%   

Bushwalking 7.3%  7.8% 

Tennis 6.1% 5.8% 2.9% 

Basketball 5.8% 10.8%  

Golf 5.5%  4.8% 

Virtual based 
physical activity 

5.1%   

Australian 
Football  

4.7% 13.8% 8.1% 

 
1 Sport Australia. Ausplay Survey 2021-2022: 
https://www.clearinghouseforsport.gov.au/research/ausplay/results 
2 Ibid 
3 Campaspe Shire Council: https://www.campaspe.vic.gov.au/Our-services/Community-support-
programs/Healthy-Loddon-Campaspe 
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Activity Victorian 
Adults aged 
15+ - top 15 
activities 

Victorian 
Children 0-14 
years of age – 
top 10 
organised 
sports 

Rushworth and 
District 
residents 
(across all 
ages) 

Football / soccer 4.4% 8.0%  

Netball 3.2% 5.6%  

Gymnastics  10.5%  

Dancing 
(recreational) 

 8.1%  

Cricket   6.2%  

Karate  4.3%  

Active play 
(playgrounds) 

  11.7% 

Fishing   4.9% 

 

The emphasis for adults is far more on individual non-structured activities.  
The children’s survey specifically focussed on organised sport outside of 
school hours, so it is not possible to ascertain the popularity of unstructured 
activities.  
 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve participation data 
Since 2017, there has been an increase of 190 participants at Colbinabbin 
Recreation Reserve, from 271 to 461.  These figures may include double or 
triple counting of some people, e.g. a child who attends Colbinabbin Primary 
School is counted once there, plus once each for their participation in netball 
and tennis for example.  Nevertheless, usage figures are extremely high for 
such a small town with a population of 285. 
 
The following table shows participation data collected by Campaspe Shire 
Council across all organised sport at the reserve between 2017-2022: 
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Some of the most notable areas of participation between 2017 and 2022 
include: 
 

• An increase in female cricketers from 2 in 2017 to 9 in 2022 

• A major increase in male footballers from 77 in 2017 to 142 in 2022 

• An increase in female participation in netball (and possibly football) 
from 69 players in 2017 to 99 players in 2022 

• Usage by Colbinabbin Primary School from no recorded use in 2017 to 
19 children in 2022 (note that there are 53 students enrolled in the 
school in 2023 and this number is anticipated to increase to 62 
students in 2024, so usage by the primary school is expected to 
increase) 

• A major increase in tennis players from 5 in 2017 to 38 in 2022 

• Participation in junior football (in the Runnymede Junior Football Club) 
by girls from 0 players in 2017 to 6 players in 2022. 

 
Note that the graph above does not include usage by:  
 

• Weekly boxing / exercise classes 

• Colbinabbin Kindergarten 

• Informal users (e.g. those who use the playground, have a kick of 
football or walk around the grounds) 

• Other clubs for practice matches, e.g. football and netball practice 
matches between teams from Shepparton and Bendigo 

• Cricket games by other clubs. 
 
Barriers to participation 
Campaspe Shire’s Active Living Census (2019) indicates that for people living 
in Rushworth and District, the key barriers to being more physically active are: 
 

1. Time poor (52.2%) 
2. Personal reasons (31.2%) 
3. Safety (20.6%) 
4. Lack of social support (19.2%) 
5. Cost (19.1%) 
6. Poor health / disability (18.2%). 

 
Enablers to participation 
The top 10 enablers to help increase physical activity within Campaspe Shire 
are: 
 

1. Walking tracks / footpaths (26.6%)  
2. Exercise equipment / facilities (12.9%)  
3. Bicycle tracks / lanes and skate facilities (10.6%)  
4. Toilets / change rooms (10.5%)  
5. Lighting (9.9%)  
6. Playgrounds (8.5%)  
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7. Safety measures / restrictions (7.3%)  
8. Bins / rubbish collection / clean environment (6.7%)  
9. Accessibility (6.1%)  
10. Cover / shade / shelter (5.4%).  

 
Both barriers and enablers to physical activity have been considered as part 
of this master plan.  
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6. OUR TOWN AND OUR PEOPLE 

 
Colbinabbin is situated in the southern part of the Shire of Campaspe 20km to 
the west of Rushworth and 160km north of Melbourne.  It is renowned for its 
friendly, welcoming atmosphere and strong community spirit, as well as its 
world class wines set amongst rolling hills and its stunning painted grain silos.  
 
Participants in the various sport and recreation activities that occur at the 
Reserve are attracted from a much wider catchment area. Travellers often 
stop at the Reserve to break their journey.   
 

 

 

 
 

The Campaspe Shire Active Living Census (2019) reported the following data 
for residents of Rushworth and District (which includes Colbinabbin): 
 

• 29.5% of residents rated their health as fair or poor 

• 5.9% of residents rated their general wellbeing as low   

• 19.5% or residents don’t feel like they are valued 

• 48.1% of adults reported meeting physical activity guidelines 

• 38.3% of residents are overweight 

• 27.3% of residents are obese  

• 57.4% of residents utilised open spaces weekly for physical activity 

• 55.4% of residents want to be more active more often. 
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Our people 
The following table provides an overview of the Colbinabbin community, 
based on the 2021 Australian Bureau of Statistics Census4   
 

Current population 

 

285 
(growth rate is 0.3% 
between 2022-2036) 

Females 

 

45.8% 

Males 

 
54.2% 

Median age 

 

47 years of age  

(compared with 38 
years of age for 

Victoria) 
 

0-4 year olds 

 
 

7.7% (23) 
(compared with 5.8% 

for Victoria) 

5-19 years  
 

 

19.9% (59) 
(compared with 

17.8% for Victoria) 
 

20-44 years  
 

 

21.3% (63) 

(compared with 
35.4% for Victoria) 

45-64 years  

 
 

27.9% (84)  
(compared with 

24.2% for Victoria) 

People over 65  

 

22.8% (68) 

(compared with 16.8% 
for Victoria) 

People born in 
Australia 

 

 
80.7%  

(compared with 
65.0% for Victoria) 

Top countries of 
birth (other than 

Australia) 

 
England (1.4%) 
and Thailand 

(1.1%) 
 

Languages spoken at 
home other than 

English 

 
Auslan (2.5%) 

and Thai (1.1%) 
 

 

 
4 Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2021 Census QuickStats – Colbinabbin (State Suburb): 

https://abs.gov.au/census/find-census-data/quickstats/2021/SAL20611 
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Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander (as a % of 
population) 

 

0.0%  

(compared with 1.0% for 
Victoria) 

 

Median 
household 

weekly income 

 

$1,278  

(compared with 
$1,759 for 
Victoria) 

Top 5 industries of 
employment 

 

 
1. Other grain 

growing 
2. Grain-sheep 

or grain-beef 
cattle 
farming 

3. Hospitals 
(except 
psychiatric) 

4. Sheep 
farming 
(specialised) 

5. Pubs, 
taverns and 
bars 

Top 5 occupations 
 

 
 

1. Managers 
2. Labourers 
3. Community & 

personal service 
workers 

4. Professionals 
5. Clerical & 

administrative 
workers 

Full time employment 
rate 

 
 

 

63.5%  

(compared with 56.2% for 
Victoria) 

 

Part time 
employment rate 

 

 

32.8%  

(compared with 
32.3% for 
Victoria) 

Average number of 
motor vehicles per 

dwelling 

 

2.6 

(compared with 
1.8% for Victoria) 

 

Unemployment rate 
 

 

0.0%  

(compared with 5.0% for 
Victoria) 

 

Currently attending TAFE, 
university or tertiary 

institution 
 

 

8.4% 
(compared with 24.5% of 

Victorians) 

Bachelor degree 
or above 

 

14.0% 
(compared with 

29.2% of 
Victorians) 

Voluntary work in 
the last 12 months 

 

 
 

41.7%  
(compared with 

13.3% for Victoria) 

People with long term 
health conditions 

 

 

47.7% 
(compared with 38.9% 

for Victoria) 
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Homes owned outright or 
with a mortgage 

 

 

75.3%  
(compared with 68.3% for 

Victoria) 

Homes rented 
 

 

13.8% 
 (compared with 

28.5% for 
Victoria) 

Earn less than $650 
per week 

 

19.6%  
(compared with 

16.4% for Victoria) 

Earn more than $3000 
per week 

 

9.3% 
 (compared with 24.2% 

for Victoria) 

 
 
These demographics tell us that the community of Colbinabbin has a higher 
percentage of children and young people under the age of 19 compared with 
Victoria, and a higher percentage aged over 45.  The real gap is in the 20-44-
year-old age cohort.  Compared with Victoria, the community is generally 
older. Based on this information, it will be important to offer junior programs 
such as Net Set Go, Auskick and Milo Cricket, as well as providing 
opportunities for older residents in the community, e.g. seniors tennis, bowls, 
walking / cycling paths, gentle exercise in water, as well as social spaces.  
Looking at ways to retain or attract 20-44-year-olds is also a consideration as 
it is this age group that predominantly makes up adult sporting teams and 
helps them to remain viable.  
 
People living in Colbinabbin tend to report worse health than their Victorian 
counterparts and two thirds of people are overweight or obese.  A variety of 
entry level sport and active recreation opportunities requiring minimal skill 
levels and effort should be considered at the reserve to help encourage more 
people to become physically active, thereby helping them to improve their 
health and wellbeing. This could include activities such as walking, cycling, 
swimming, gentle exercise in water, indoor gentle exercise classes and 
barefoot bowls. 
 
From an economic perspective, Colbinabbin households typically earn $500 
less per week than the average Victorian household, hence consideration 
should be given to keeping activities at a minimum where possible to attract 
maximum participation.   
 
Volunteering levels in Colbinabbin are significantly above the rate for Victoria.  
Assuming that these volunteers are keen to support activities at the 
Recreation Reserve, there should not be too many difficulties attracting 
people to run activities at the reserve through coaching, officiating, working in 
canteens, taking part in working bees, etc. 
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7. MANAGEMENT AND PLANNING 

 
Management 
A local committee, known as the Colbinabbin Town Recreation Reserve 
Committee of Management, has been appointed to manage the reserve.  This 
committee manages all of the facilities and capital works projects at the 
reserve (except for the outdoor pool and kindergarten), whilst user groups 
maintain the sports grounds and buildings that they use.  The outdoor pool is 
managed by Campaspe Shire Council.  
 

Planning 
The Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve is located on three parcels of Council 
owned land.  Parcel A is 1.5 hectares in size; Parcel B is 5.81 hectares in 
size; and Parcel C is 3.52 hectares in size – totalling 10.83 hectares.  Utilities 
at the site are Goulburn Murray Water for water and Powercor for power.   
 
Parcels A and B are zoned as Public Park and Recreation land (PPRZ) and 
Parcel C is zoned as Farming land (FZ).  In terms of overlays, the majority of 
the site is subject to an inundation overlay (except for the western edge). The 
Cornella Creek water course runs through the eastern side of the site.  Parcel 
C is subject to a Specific Controls Overlay (SCO) and Specific Controls 
Overlay – Schedule 2 (SCO2). There are no heritage or salinity management 
overlays on the site, but these are located nearby.  
 
The Recreation Reserve is in a designated bushfire prone area (BPA). 
Special bushfire construction requirements apply and planning provisions may 
also apply.  
 
Native plants that are indigenous to the region and important for biodiversity 
might be present on the property. This could include trees, shrubs, herbs, 
grasses or aquatic plants. There are a range of regulations that may apply 
including the need to obtain a planning permit under Clause 52.17 of the local 
planning scheme. 
 
All or part of the parcel is in an ‘area of cultural heritage sensitivity’, i.e. the 
land form of this type is generally regarded as more likely to contain 
Aboriginal cultural heritage.  If significant land use is proposed, a cultural 
heritage plan may be triggered.  Under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006, 
where a cultural heritage management plan is required, planning permits, 
licences and work authorities cannot be issues unless the cultural heritage 
management plan has been approved for the activity. The registered 
Aboriginal Party for the site is Taungurung Land and Waters Council 
Aboriginal Corporation. 
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Key 
 

1 Swimming pool 16 Coaches box 

2 Oval 17 Bowls club shade structures (9) 

3 Cricket nets 18 Bowls / Netball pavilion 

4 Bowling green 19 Netball shelters (6) 

5 Netball courts 20 Oval scoreboard 

6 Tennis courts 21 Sports pavilion 

7 Playground 22 Storage shed 

8 Entrance 23 Pool shade structure / sails (3) 

9 Kindergarten shade structure 24 Pool garden storage shed 

10 Kindergarten pergola 25 Pool storage shed 

11 Kindergarten storage shed 26 Pump shed and tank pool 

12 Kindergarten building 27 Shelter 

13 Kindergarten storage shed 28 Storage shed 

14 Kindergarten storage shed 29 Ticket box 

15 Coaches box   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5

4 

6 

7 

8 

Parcel A 

Parcel B 

Parcel C 
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8. FACILITY ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES  

The following table describes facilities at Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, existing user groups and issues and opportunities for 
each facility / space.  
 

Sports oval 
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Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 1 turf oval used for Australian Rules Football and Cricket  

• Turf wicket 

• Automated irrigation system  

• Training level lighting 

• 2 coach’s boxes 

• 1 small electronic scoreboard 

• 2 cricket practice wicket (only one with carpet and run up) 

• Storage shed 

• Ticket box 
 

User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Football Netball Club – games are held from April to September 
(Saturdays and mid-week training), but pre-season training starts in December.  
Divisions include seniors, reserves and U18’s 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club - October to March (Saturday matches and Thursday night 
training).  One team in B division. 

• Auskick – Thursday nights 

• Runnymede Junior Football Club – train every second Wednesday and play 4-5 games 
on Friday nights or Sundays 
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• Milo Cricket – Thursday nights 

• Football and cricket clubs from other parts of the state - practice matches and exhibition 
matches 

• Community members – daily for walking, having lunch / picnics, using the playground, 
running around the oval, kicking a football on the oval 

• Go At Fitness (privately operated fitness classes) – Mondays from 5pm-6pm  

• Colbinabbin Primary School – periodically for PE and sport 

• Colbinabbin Kindergarten 

• Local schools – periodically for cluster sports events 

• CFA – periodically for evacuation and staging during emergencies 

• Air ambulance – periodically for medical emergencies. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Goal nets - as there are no nets behind the goal posts, there is a risk that spectators 
and cars will be hit by an errant football or cricket ball on match day. 

• Coach’s boxes – the existing coaching boxes are too small to enable all players to be 
seated whilst waiting to get onto the ground.  

• Cricket nets – the existing cricket nets are in poor condition and need to be upgraded.  

• Lighting – lights are adequate for football training, although they may need to be 
upgraded to a higher level if additional night football matches are scheduled by the 
league (including at junior level).  Currently only one night match is held each year for 
football.  Spectators report that it is difficult to see the entire field at present during night 
matches.  From a cricket perspective, good lighting is critical for night matches and 
training.  

• Communications – there is currently no Public Address (PA) system to communicate 
with players, spectators and the general community during events or emergencies. 

• Scoreboard – although there is an electronic scoreboard at the oval, it is located across 
the internal roadway near the netball courts and is relatively small in size.  There is 
potential to replace the existing scoreboard with a larger one that would enable movies 
to be played on it after games or for special events or could provide large scale video of 
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training workouts and educational materials for players. 

• Spectator viewing – spectators primarily view football from around the pavilion or in 
their cars.  A portable grandstand, that could also be moved over to netball and tennis 
facilities as required, would provide additional viewing opportunities. 
 

Proposed actions • Install nets behind the football goal posts at each end of the ground to prevent the 
football or cricket balls from hitting spectators and cars. 

• Construct new coach’s boxes that are larger in size than the existing boxes. 

• Upgrade the run up, wickets and carpet in the cricket practice nets.  

• Replace the existing lights on the sports oval with LED lights to enable better viewing 
for participants and spectators during night games and training. 

• Install a Public Address (PA) system at the oval to communicate with players, 
spectators and the general community during events or emergencies. 

• Purchase a larger scoreboard that is capable of showing movies for community 
members. 
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Sports pavilion 
 

         
 

    
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Change facilities for footballers, cricketers, and swimming pool patrons.  

• Bar area for football / cricket. 

• Small kitchen / kiosk with outdoor servery. 

• Kiosk (during swimming season) / medical area (during football season).  
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• Time keeper’s box (upstairs). 
 

User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Football Netball Club - April to September (Saturdays and mid-week 
training).  Also for pre-season training which commences in December. 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club - October to March (Saturday matches and Thursday night 
training).  One team in B division. 

• Auskick – Thursday nights 

• Runnymede Junior Football Club – train every second Wednesday and play 4-5 games 
on Friday nights or Sundays 

• Milo Cricket – Thursday nights.  

• Football and cricket clubs from other parts of the state – periodically for practice 
matches and exhibition matches  

• Colbinabbin Primary School – periodically for PE and sport 

• Local schools – periodically for cluster sports events 

• CFA – periodically for evacuation and staging during emergencies 

• Swimming pool patrons – December to March. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Pavilion – the existing pavilion no longer adequately caters for the needs of Recreation 
Reserve users.  It does not have unisex, accessible or female friendly change facilities, 
female umpire facilities, baby change / feeding facilities or social facilities.  Hence 
typical club activities such as Thursday night dinners, after match socialisation, awards 
nights, etc all have to be held outside or elsewhere.  This impacts the financial 
sustainability of the club and its ability to create club camaraderie.  To bring the pavilion 
up to the level expected by the community and state sporting associations, it is 
proposed that a new multi-purpose facility is constructed.   

• Location - the location of the proposed new multi-purpose facility will impact other 
facilities at the site.  If constructed at the site of the existing bowls / netball / tennis 
pavilion, it would negate the need to upgrade this smaller pavilion but would require the 
construction of amenities for the swimming pool should the existing pavilion be 
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demolished.  These swimming pool change facilities could be provided by a new 
amenities building.  The demolition of both of the existing pavilions on site, replaced by 
a new facility, will reduce ongoing maintenance on two ageing facilities. 

• Design - the design and size of the new multi-purpose facility will be governed by 
Campaspe Shire Council policy and AFL, Netball Victoria, Tennis Victoria, Bowls 
Victoria and Cricket Victorian design standards for local level facilities.  The new multi-
purpose facilooity should be designed to incorporate Environmentally Sustainable 
Design features such as solar panels; be accessible for all ages and abilities; and be 
multi-purpose in nature.  As a guide, the footprint for a local level football pavilion, 
according to the AFL Victoria Facility Guidelines, is approximately 590m².  That does 

not include netball change facilities, which will be required.  Note that some of the 
features in the AFL guidelines, e.g. massage rooms, doctor’s rooms and gymnasiums 
are optional. 
 

Proposed actions • Undertake detailed designs for a new multi-purpose facillity 

• Construct a new multi-purpose facility at Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve featuring: 

• Unisex change rooms 

• Unisex umpire change rooms 

• Trainer / medical room 

• Accessible toilets 

• Baby change / feeding facilities 

• Kitchenette / kitchen 

• Social space with bar 

• Office 

• Storage 

• A community gym (potentially) 

• Multi-purpose room/s suitable for Maternal and Child Health Service, telehealth 
appointments and hot desks 

• Large deck / verandah area for spectator viewing with fans and heating and 
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potentially pull down blinds to support year round use for night functions. 
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Netball courts 
 

      
 

     
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 2 asphalt netball courts (also line marked for tennis) 

• Lights 

• 6 shelters. 
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User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Football Netball Club – April to September (Saturdays and mid-week 
training). Netball divisions include: A Grade, B Grade, C Grade, U17’s, U15’s, U13’s, 
U11’s and Net Set Go.  Note that there is very strong demand for netball.  The 2023 try 
outs had 65 females try out for 35 positions and high numbers for all junior divisions as 
well. 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club – October to March (Saturdays and mid-week training and 
competitions) 

• Colbinabbin Primary School – periodically for PE and sport 

• Local schools – periodically for cluster sports events. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Upgrade - netball courts were recently upgraded and are in good condition. 

• Multi-use of tennis courts – of the four hard courts at the Recreation Reserve, only two 
are line marked for netball.  Netball is currently experiencing high demand and a lack of 
court availability.  If the two tennis courts were also expanded to meet netball court 
standard dimensions, there would be opportunities to have multiple teams train at the 
same time and also provide opportunities for events such as netball tournaments and 
potentially basketball. 

• There are no electronic scoreboards on the netball courts. 
 

Proposed actions • Explore the option of expanding the tennis court footprint to accommodate larger multi-
purpose courts that are also suitable for netball and potentially basketball.  This 
development includes an upgrade to the playing surface, multi-sport line marking, new 
netball goal posts, new tennis posts, new tennis nets, new lights, new umpire chairs 
and a half basketball court or a basketball ring and backboard in the netball court area. 
The footprint required to accommodate multi-purpose courts is 36.10 metres in length 
and 40.25 wide plus additional space for spectator shelters and seating outside this 
area on the sides. 

• Install electronic netball scoreboards. 
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Tennis courts 
 

       
 

    
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 2 plexipave hard courts (line marked just for tennis) 

• 2 asphalt courts (shared with netball) 

• 6 player shelters (on shared netball courts) 

• 1 basic shelter (on netball court) 
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• 3 umpire’s chairs 

• No lights. 
 

User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Tennis Club – October to March (Saturdays and mid-week training and 
competitions).  Teams include: Section 2, U16 and U12.  There are also 14 primary 
aged children attending a tennis coaching program.  

• Colbinabbin Primary School – periodically for PE and sport 

• Local schools – periodically for cluster sports events. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Shade – whilst the northern tennis courts have access to the six player shelters 
installed as part of the netball court upgrade, there is just one small shade structure (in 
poor condition) on the two southern courts.  The seats are also in poor condition. 

• Court condition – although the courts are still playable at this stage, they will need to be 
upgraded in the future to provide a safe and comfortable playing surface for 
participants. 
 

Proposed actions • Install a shade structure and seating on the southern tennis courts. 

• Explore the option of expanding the tennis court footprint to accommodate larger multi-
purpose courts that are also suitable for netball and potentially basketball.  This 
development includes an upgrade to the playing surface, multi-sport line marking, new 
netball goal posts, new tennis posts, new tennis nets, new lights, new umpire chairs 
and a half basketball court or a basketball ring and backboard in the netball court area. 
The footprint required to accommodate multi-purpose courts is 36.10 metres in length 
and 40.25 wide plus additional space for spectator shelters and seating outside this 
area on the sides. 
 

 

Attachment 8.4.3.2

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 66



 

Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan                                                      Pg 35 

 

Lawn bowls greens 
 

    
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 1 turf bowling green with 6 rinks 

• Lights (currently don’t work) 

• Shelters  

• Storage shed. 
 

User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Bowls Club – Division 5 men’s and women’s weekend pennant team (plays 
on Saturdays); Division 5 men’s and women’s midweek pennant (plays on Tuesdays). 
There is an annual tournament held – this typically attract around 65-70 players and 
there are social days held 4-5 times per year.  Barefoot bowls is played on weeknights 
from November to February and there are occasional games played between the 
football and cricket clubs. 
 

Issues and opportunities • The north-east corner of the green has sunk 50-70mm and requires lifting. 

• Shade – the shade structures at the north end of the green need to be replaced. 
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Proposed actions • Undertake rink renovation on the north-east corner to level the playing surface. 

• Install new shade structures at the north end of the green to provide shelter from the 
sun for players. 
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Netball / bowls pavilion 
 

         
 

          
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 1 brick pavilion with a central divider featuring a kitchenette, bar, social space and 
toilets, including an east and west facing outside access. 

• Water bubbler on the south verandah. 
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User groups and usage • Colbinabbin Football Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Bowls Club  

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club 

• Community members for meetings, parties, etc. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Change facilities - the existing pavilion is unsuitable as a netball change facility as it 
only has 2 female pans and 1 shower in the female change room and 1 male pan, 1 
urinal and 1 shower in the male change room.  During netball season both the male 
and female change rooms are used by netballers. There are no dedicated change 
areas and no space for teams to separate themselves from one another or store their 
belongings.  Further, there are no umpire change rooms, accessible toilets or baby 
change areas.  The sports pavilion, which is located on the opposite side of the oval 
and too far away to be functional as a netball changeroom. 

• Kitchenette – numerous organisations use the netball / bowls pavilion for meetings and 
functions, but the kitchenette is not able to adequately cater for such activities.  It 
requires new shelving, benches, storage space, a new sink and new appliances. 

• No heating available under southern verandah. 

• No ceiling fans inside or outside pavilion. 
 

Proposed actions • Incorporate netball change facilities, a suitable kitchen and heating / cooling into a new 
multi-purpose facility to be shared by football, cricket, netball, tennis, bowls and other 
community uses. 

• Demolish the existing bowls / netball / tennis pavilion.  
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Swimming pool 
 

        
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• 1 x 20m, 6 lane outdoor swimming pool 

• 1 toddler outdoor swimming pool with shelter 

• Pool pump shed 

• Picnic tables with shade sail 

• Change room (no showers) and kiosk shared with sports pavilion 

• Separate storage shed. 
 

User groups and usage • Community members for swimming – daily during summer months (December to 
March) 

• Colbinabbin Primary School – periodically for swimming program 

• Local schools – periodically for swimming program. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Retention – the Colbinabbin community is very keen to retain its outdoor swimming 
pool.  In order to do this, it is keen to demonstrate to Campaspe Shire that the pool is 
well utilised.  Council’s existing initiative of free entry to the pool in the 2022/2023 
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summer is most welcome.  Other initiatives to consider are a pool blanket and solar 
heating to extend the season and activities such as community BBQs on Friday 
evenings. 
 

Proposed actions • Purchase a pool blanket and explore solar heating as a means to provide warmer water 
for swimming pool users and to potentially extend the season. 
 

 

Attachment 8.4.3.2

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 72



 

Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan                                                      Pg 41 

 

Kindergarten 
 

    
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Kindergarten building (previously the gun club pavilion) 

• Play area 

• Shade sails 

• Storage sheds. 
 

User groups and usage • Kindergarten – 3- and 4- year-old kinder operates from the kindergarten building on 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Thursdays. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Early years facility – during the development of the Colbinabbin Community Based 
Plan, there was discussion about developing a new early year’s facility in Colbinabbin 
incorporating kindergarten, childcare, maternal and child health services, visiting allied 
health professionals and the potential relocation of the primary school (subject to 
Department of Education and Training agreement and financial support – both 
unknown at this stage).  An action identified in the Community Based Plan is to 
undertake an early year’s facility feasibility study.  As this study has not yet occurred, 
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the viability of developing such a facility on site is unknown.  However, the master plan 
design needs to set aside space for such a facility if it is to be developed on site.  The 
footprint of a 2 room early years facility with 2 consulting rooms, play area and parking 
is approximately 2000m². 
 

Proposed actions • Develop an early year’s facility at Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, subject to the 
outcome of the (yet to be completed) feasibility study. Relocation of the Colbinabbin 
Primary School to the site may also be a possibility, subject to approval from State and 
Local Government. 
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Internal roadways, parking and paths 
 

 
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Internal roadways 

• No formalised car parking spaces 

• No disabled car parking spaces 

• No shared paths. 
 

User groups and usage • General public on a daily basis. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Entrance roadway – as the Recreation Reserve is used by the Air Ambulance for 
medical emergencies and the CFA as staging area and an evacuation area when local 
disasters have occurred, it is important that the entrance roadway is able to safely cater 
for vehicles such as fire trucks and ambulances.  The existing roadway is too narrow at 
present and if cars are using the roadway at the same time, but in the opposite 
direction of one another, both have to partially move off the road. Further, the existing 
gravel roads within the Reserve require continual maintenance with excavators and 
graders, as well as a regular top up with gravel to fill potholes. Therefore, a widened 
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road, preferably sealed with bitumen is desired. 

• Parking – parking occurs haphazardly around sporting and community infrastructure at 
the site as there are currently no formalised car parking areas. Once the new multi-
purpose facility is constructed, it would be ideal to establish formalised car parking 
areas, including spaces for disabled parking, emergency vehicles and delivery vehicles.   

• Pedestrian safe area – there is concern by user groups that there is not a pedestrian 
safe zone where people (including children) can move about without cars.  The ideal 
location for a pedestrian safe zone is usually next to the new multi-purpose facility 
(especially the kiosk area) and next to a play space. 

• Paths – there is a strong desire by the community, as evidenced in the Colbinabbin 
Place Based Plan engagement, for safe shared paths to connect the school and the 
township to the Recreation Reserve.  This will enable people to safely use active 
transport to travel between locations, rather than relying on motor vehicles as much.  It 
will also provide a recreational pathway for people to use for fitness and enjoyment.  
Visitors to the silo may also be encouraged to ‘stretch their legs’ and take a walk or 
cycle up to the recreation reserve.  

• Ticket box – the ticket box at the entrance to the grounds is past its useful life and 
needs to be replaced with a new ticket box.   

• Traffic flow – improved traffic flow around the sports oval needs to be considered as, 
along with directional signage. 
 

Proposed actions • Formalise car parking around the proposed new multi-purpose facility and create 
parking spaces for people with disabilities, emergency vehicles and deliveries. 

• Create a pedestrian-safe zone near the new multi-purpose facility so that adults and 
children can move around safely in an area not used by cars. 

• Develop safe shared walking / cycling paths that connect the school and township to 
the Recreation Reserve and vice versa, utilising the train bridge as part of this 
development. 

• Redevelop the entrance to the reserve by:  
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• widening and sealing the entrance road into the Recreation Reserve so that it is 
suitable for emergency vehicles and two way traffic 

• replacing the existing ticket box with a new ticket box to improve operations and 
comfort of volunteers 

• aligning internal roadways for best traffic flow 

• installing directional signage. 
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Playground 
 

    
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Combination unit with slides and climbing structures – designed for children under 10 
years of age 

• Softfall 

• Fence. 
 

User groups and usage • General community – used when sport or training is held at the reserve and for informal 
play on other days. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Location – the play space is located too far from key activity areas. A more suitable 
location needs to be found near the new multi-purpose facility. 

• Equipment – the play equipment is likely to be nearing the end of its useful life.  The 
existing equipment offers limited play value.  When playground renewal occurs, 
consideration could be given to nature-based play opportunities, as well as some more 
traditional play features such as swings and climbing structures.  The play space at the 
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Recreation Reserve needs to be different to the one located next to the Memorial Hall 
in Colbinabbin so that two different types of play opportunities are available to local 
children and visitors. 

• Fence – the current play space is fenced.  Ideally local level play spaces incorporate a 
barrier of some form (fence, rocks or vegetation) where the play space is located next 
to potential danger such as a roadway or waterway but will not be completely fenced. 

• Shade – the existing play space has no shade.  The new play space site needs to 
incorporate shade, ideally through the use of a shade sail. 

• There are no seats or picnic tables at the existing play space.  These features need to 
be included in the new location.   
  

Proposed actions • Upgrade the play space at the Recreation Reserve to incorporate nature-based play, 
some traditional elements, seats, picnic tables, accessible paths and a shade sail.  
Provide some form of barrier to prevent children from running onto the road. The play 
space should be located close to the proposed new multi-purpose facility. 
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Landscaping / site amenities / signage 
 

 
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Sparse tree plantings. 

• Water bubbler near the pavilion / swimming pool. 
 

User groups and usage • N/A. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Aesthetics – the site has limited tree planting and could be made more attractive 
through additional plantings or landscaping with rocks and ground covers in specific 
locations.  It is crucial that any plantings are low maintenance and indigenous to the 
Colbinabbin area so that they have the best chance of survival. 

• Shade – there is limited shade on site.  Additional trees could provide much needed 
shade. 

• Seats – there are limited seats around the site.  Local community members are keen to 
see seats with backs and some arm rests installed around the sports oval and at key 
locations such as the play space and in the swimming pool grounds. This type of seat is 
more comfortable and easier for people (particularly older adults or those with mobility 
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issues) to get up from.  There needs to be some locations set aside so that people in 
wheelchairs can comfortably watch sport at the recreation reserve.  

• BBQs / picnic facilities – community members report that there are people who use the 
recreation reserve on a daily basis to eat their lunch, as well as the occasional 
caravanner who uses the site overnight.  To improve facilities for the general 
community and visitors to the area, the installation of a BBQ and some picnic tables 
with a shelter would be beneficial, particularly near the relocate play space. 

• Directional signage – there is limited signage directing people to the Recreation 
Reserve and identifying the opportunities that are available there.  People passing 
through Colbinabbin for the first time are unlikely to know that there is a pool and a 
playground at the site, for example.  

• Interpretive signage – the Committee of Management is keen to acknowledge and 
celebrate the cultural heritage of traditional owners of the land, through the installation 
of interpretive signage.  
 

Proposed actions • Plant additional low-maintenance indigenous trees, shrubs and ground covers in key 
locations around the reserve to improve the amenity of the site, provide more shade 
and provide habitat for fauna.  Ensure plantings adhere to Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) principles to ensure users feel safe. 

• Install additional seats around the oval, at the play space and in the swimming pool 
grounds, with backs and arm rests on some and create a suitable location for people in 
wheelchairs to safely view sporting events.. 

• Install a BBQ, some picnic tables that are accessible for people in wheelchairs and a 
shelter near the playground. 

• Install signage on the main road to direct people to the Recreation Reserve and to let 
them know what is available at the site. 

• Install interpretive signage at the Recreation Reserve to acknowledge and celebrate the 
cultural heritage of traditional owners of the land. 
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Other 
 

Features and supporting 
infrastructure 

• Currently no additional features. 

User groups and usage • N/A. 
 

Issues and opportunities • Informal recreation opportunities – there is growth in informal recreation activities 
nationally.  Some suggestions from the community include the installation of outdoor 
fitness equipment at the recreation reserve. 

• Income generation – numerous recreation reserves around the state obtain additional 
income via a rental fee paid by telecommunication companies to provide a mobile 
phone tower on site.  This type of option should be explored by the Recreation Reserve 
Committee of Management.  Another possibility is rental received from hosting a bottle 
recycle facility on site.  
 

Proposed actions • Install outdoor fitness equipment in the current play space site.  

• Explore income generating activities such as rental received from hosting a bottle 
recycling facility on site. 
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9. ACTION PLAN 

 
The following actions have been identified for the Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, based on needs identified by user groups and 
other potential users of the site via:  
 

• Community engagement undertaken through the recent Colbinabbin Place Based Plan 

• Feedback from clubs / organisations 

• Feedback from a user group workshop 

• Assessment of trends, participation data and  

• Assessment of strategic policy directions and guidelines related to sport and recreation facilities at a Federal, State and 

Local Government level. 

The cost indications provided in this section of the plan are indicative only and are to be confirmed through further planning and by 
a Quantity Surveyor.  They don’t include project costs such as architects or service upgrades that may be required. The majority of 
these actions will require external funds to assist with implementation and development. 
 
Priority and indicative costing key: 
 

Quick win Short term Medium term Long term 

Within 12 months 1-3 years 4-7 years 8 years + 

Indicative costing    

$0-$50k = $ $50k-$100k = $$ $100k-$500k = $$$ $500k+ = $$$$ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

Sports Oval 1. Install nets behind the football goal 
posts at each end of the ground to 
prevent the football (and potentially 
cricket balls) from hitting spectators 
and cars. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 
 

Quick win $$ 

 2. Construct new coach’s boxes that 
are larger in size than the existing 
boxes. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 
 

Quick win $ 

 3. Upgrade the run up, wickets and 
carpet in the cricket practice nets.  
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club 
 

Medium $ 

 4. Install a Public Address (PA) system 
at the oval to communicate with 
players, spectators and the general 
community during events or 
emergencies. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

 

Long $ 

 5. Replace the existing lights on the • Colbinabbin Town Long $$$ 

Attachment 8.4.3.2

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 84



 

Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve Master Plan                                                      Pg 53 

Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

sports oval with LED lights to enable 
better viewing for participants and 
spectators during night games and 
training. 
 

Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club  
 

 6. Purchase a larger scoreboard that is 
capable of showing movies for 
community members. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club 
 

Long $$ 

Multi-purpose 
facility 

7. Undertake detailed designs for a 
new multi-purpose facility. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club 

• Colbinabbin Bowls Club 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 

Quick win $ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

 

 8. Construct a new multi-purpose 
facility at Colbinabbin Recreation 
Reserve featuring: 
 

• Unisex change rooms 

• Unisex umpire change rooms 

• Trainer / medical room 

• Accessible toilets 

• Baby change / feeding 
facilities 

• Kitchenette / kitchen 

• Social space with bar 

• Office 

• Storage 

• A community gym 
(potentially).  

• Multi-purpose room/s suitable 
for Maternal and Child Health 
Service, telehealth 
appointments and hot desks 

• Large deck / verandah area 
for spectator viewing with fans 
and heating and potentially 
pull-down blinds to support 
year-round use for night 
functions. 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Cricket Club 

Short $$$$ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

 

 9. Demolish the existing football / 
cricket pavilion (once the new multi-
purpose facility has been 
constructed) and install amenities 
facilities for use by swimming pool 
patrons and other reserve users. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 
 

Short $$$ 

Netball Courts 10. Install electronic scoreboards for 
netball. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 
 

Quick $$ 

 11. Explore the option of expanding the 
tennis court footprint to 
accommodate larger multi-purpose 
courts that are also suitable for 
netball and potentially basketball.  
This development includes an 
upgrade to the playing surface, multi-
sport line marking, new netball goal 
posts, new tennis posts, new tennis 
nets, new lights, new umpire chairs 
and a half basketball court or a 
basketball ring and backboard in the 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Football 
Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 
 

Medium $$$ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

netball court area. The footprint 
required to accommodate multi-
purpose courts is 36.10 metres in 
length and 40.25 wide plus additional 
space for spectator shelters and 
seating outside this area on the 
sides. 
 

Tennis Courts 12. Install a shade structure and seating 
on the southern tennis courts. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 
 

Quick $ 

 As per the netball action above: 
Explore the option of expanding the 
tennis court footprint to 
accommodate larger multi-purpose 
courts that are also suitable for 
netball and potentially basketball.  
This development includes an 
upgrade to the playing surface, multi-
sport line marking, new netball goal 
posts, new tennis posts, new tennis 
nets, new lights, new umpire chairs 
and a half basketball court or a 
basketball ring and backboard in the 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 
 

Medium $$$ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

netball court area. The footprint 
required to accommodate multi-
purpose courts is 36.10 metres in 
length and 40.25 wide plus additional 
space for spectator shelters and 
seating outside this area on the 
sides. 
 

Lawn Bowls Green 13. Undertake bowling green rink 
renovation on the north-east corner 
to level the playing surface. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Bowls Club 
 

Short $ 

 14. Install new shade structures at the 
north end of the bowling green to 
provide shelter from the sun for 
players. 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Colbinabbin Bowls Club 
 

Short $ 

Bowls / Netball / 
Tennis Pavilion 

15. Demolish the bowls / netball / tennis 
pavilion prior to construction of the 
new multi-purpose facilty. 
 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Bowls Club 

• Colbinabbin Football 

Short $ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

Netball Club 

• Colbinabbin Tennis Club 
 

Swimming Pool 16. Purchase a pool blanket and explore 
solar heating as a means to provide 
warmer water for swimming pool 
users and to potentially extend the 
season. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

Quick win $$ 

Kindergarten 17. Develop an early year’s facility at 
Colbinabbin Recreation Reserve, 
subject to the outcome of the (yet to 
be completed) feasibility study. 
Relocation of the Colbinabbin 
Primary School to the site may also 
be a possibility, subject to approval 
from State and Local Government. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Colbinabbin Kindergarten 

• Department of Education 
and Training 

 

Long $$$$ 

Entrance, 
roadways, parking, 
paths 

18. Formalise car parking around the 
proposed new multi-purpose facility 
and create parking spaces for people 
with disabilities, emergency vehicles 
and deliveries. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 
 

Short $ 

 19. Create a pedestrian-safe zone near 
the proposed new multi-purpose 
facility so that adults and children 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 

Short $ 
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Facility Works Responsibility / Potential 
Partners 

Priority Indicative 
Costing 

can move around safely in an area 
not used by cars. 

 

Management 

 20. Develop safe shared walking / 
cycling paths that connect the school 
and township to the Recreation 
Reserve and vice versa, using the 
train bridge as part of this 
development. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 
 

Short $$$ 

 21. Redevelop the entrance to the 
reserve by:  
 

• widening and sealing the 
entrance road into the 
Recreation Reserve so that it 
is suitable for emergency 
vehicles and two way traffic 

• replacing the existing ticket 
box with a new ticket box to 
improve operations and 
comfort of volunteers 

• aligning internal roadways for 
best traffic flow 

• installing directional signage. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management  
 

Short $$$ 

Playground 22. Upgrade the play space at the • Colbinabbin Town Medium $$ 
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Partners 
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Costing 

Recreation Reserve to incorporate 
nature-based play, some traditional 
elements, seats, picnic tables, 
accessible paths and a shade sail.  
Provide some form of barrier to 
prevent children from running onto 
the road. The play space should be 
located close to the proposed new 
multi-purpose facility. 

 

Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

 23. Plant additional low-maintenance 
indigenous trees, shrubs and ground 
covers in key locations around the 
reserve to improve the amenity of 
the site, provide more shade and 
provide habitat for fauna.  Ensure 
plantings adhere to Crime 
Prevention Through Environmental 
Design (CPTED) principles to ensure 
users feel safe. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Landcare 
 

Medium $ 

Landscaping / 
Amenities / 
Signage 

24. Install additional seats around the 
oval, at the play space and in the 
swimming pool grounds with backs 
and arm rests on some, and create a 
suitable location for people in 
wheelchairs to safely view sporting 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Men’s Shed 

Quick win $$ 
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Partners 
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Costing 

events. 
 

 

 25. Install signage on the main road to 
direct people to the Recreation 
Reserve and to let them know what 
is available at the site. 

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• VicRoads 
 

Quick win $ 

 26. Install a BBQ, some picnic tables 
that are accessible for people in 
wheelchairs and a shelter near the 
playground. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 
 

Medium $$$ 

 27. Install interpretive signage at the 
Recreation Reserve to acknowledge 
and celebrate the cultural heritage of 
traditional owners of the land. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 

• Taungurung Land and 
Waters Council Aboriginal 
Corporation 
 

Medium $ 

Informal recreation 28. Install outdoor fitness equipment in 
the current play space site.  

 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 

Long $$ 
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Management 

• Campaspe Shire Council 
 

Income generation 
opportunities 

29. Explore income generating activities 
such as rental received from hosting 
a bottle recycling facility on site. 
 

• Colbinabbin Town 
Recreation Reserve 
Committee of 
Management 
 

Ongoing Nil 
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10. SITE PLANS 
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1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7, 8, 15 

9 

10 

11 
12 

13 

16 

14 

17 

18, 19 

20 
21 

26 

23 

24 

25 

27 

22 

28 

29  

 

Refer to numbers in 

the action plan for 

more details of 

proposed works. 

New multi-

purpose 
facility 

Amenities 

facilities 

Netball courts 

New roadway 

New pathway 

1. Install football goal post nets 

2. Install new coaches boxes 

3. Upgrade cricket nets 

4. Install PA system 

5. Replace oval lights 

6. Install new larger scoreboard 

7. Design multi-purpose facility 

8. Construct multi-purpose facility 

9. Demolish football pavilion and 

install amenities facilities 

10. Install electronic netball 

scoreboard 

11. Expand tennis courts for netball 

and basketball 

12. Install shade structure on tennis 

court 

13. Renovate north east corner of 

bowling green 

14. Install new shade structure on 

bowling green 

15. Demolish bowls / netball / tennis 

pavilion  

16. Purchase pool blanket and 

explore solar heating  

17. Develop early years facility and 

possibly relocate school  

18. Formalise car parking 

19. Develop pedestrian safe zone 

20. Construct shared walking / 

cycling paths 

21. Redevelop reserve entrance, new 

ticket box and widen entry road 

22. Upgrade play space 

23. Plant trees 

24. Install more seats around site 

25. Install directional signage on 

main road 

26. Install BBQ / picnic area 

27. Install interpretive signage 

28. Install outdoor fitness equipment 

29. Explore income generating 

activities. 

26 
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11. APPENDIX 

Cultural Heritage Management Plan Assessment 
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Netball Victoria Change Facility Guidelines 
 

Player amenities • Min 2 areas, min 14m² each 

• Unisex facility – min 1 shower, 2WC’s and 2 

handbasins in each area 

  
Player change rooms • Min 2 rooms, min 20m² each room. 

  
First aid room • 1 room, min 10m² 

  
Umpires change rooms and 

amenities 
• Min 2 change rooms, min 5m² each (1WC and 1 

handbasin in each) 

• Min 1 changeroom: min 5m² each (1 shower) 

  
Umpire duty room • 1 room, min 10m² 
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AFL Local Facility Guidelines 
 

 
Under the AFL Guidelines, some of these spaces are optional, e.g. massage room, doctor’s room and gymnasium. 
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Tongala  
Place Based Plan
With consultation from the Tongala and district community
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Executive Summary

Introduction

The Tongala Place Based Plan is 
a community-led plan designed to 

strengthen the sense of identity, reflect 
the community’s ambition, and develop 

clear objectives to guide Tongala’s 
future.
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Executive Summary

Campaspe Shire Council engaged Projectura in March 2022 to prepare the Tongala Place Based Plan. Council established 
the Place Based Plan Governance Committee to work alongside Projectura to guide the development of the Plan. The 
community-led development of the Tongala Place Based Plan occurred between March 2022 and March 2023.

The Plan has been developed with the Tongala and district community to ensure that it is relevant, sensitive to local 
aspirations and priorities, and achievable. 

Stage 1
Initiate the project and gather information through a community review. 

Stage 2
Establish a shared understanding of the local environment.  
The output from this stage was the issues and opportunities paper. 

Stage 3
Over 580 people (or 15.4% of the Tongala district population) 
contributed to the Plan’s development during June 2022. 
The purpose of the engagement was to ensure that the 
community’s desires framed the vision, objectives, 
and action plan. The community contributed 
their thoughts and opinions through various 
methods, including virtually, on paper, and in 
conversation.

Stage 4
The community deliberated over the broad 
engagement findings and provided a 
refined direction for the Plan. Projectura 
drafted the Plan and worked with the 
community to test and refine it.

Stage 5
Projectura collated and responded 
to feedback from the community and 
prepared the final Tongala Place Based 
Plan.

Developing the Plan
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Executive Summary

Strengths
Sense of community

Community connections

Local people and spirit

Location

Sports and recreation

The Vision
In 2032, Tongala district is:

A modern and progressive rural community

Defined by productive business and agricultural land

Unified by its strong and inclusive community spirit

Thriving because of our diverse people and businesses

A place of excellence

Challenges
Facility closure

Jobs and employment

Ageing infrastructure

Housing supply, diversity, resilience, and 
affordability

Youth disengagement

Limited public transport
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Executive Summary

Residents want to retain the town’s friendliness, strengthen the excellent sporting facilities and improve the local economy. 
From these insights, clear objectives were developed to define the community’s ambition and to guide decision-making 
and actions to support its implementation.

The following objectives build the framework for achieving the Tongala vision and developing and prioritising projects and 
activities.

Objective Aspirations

1. Our diverse 
community

In 2032, the people of Tongala district:

•	 Welcome everybody
•	 Embrace and celebrate diversity
•	 Feel safe, respected, and comfortable
•	 Engage in bettering our resident’s wellbeing
•	 Plan for all ages, abilities, and cohorts
•	 Are dynamic and vibrant
•	 Love their friends and family

2. Places for living In 2032, the places of Tongala district:

•	 Are well planned, utilised and maintained
•	 Cater to the interests and needs of our people
•	 Are safe, inclusive, and accessible
•	 Reflect the community’s character and lifestyle
•	 Attractive and enjoyable
•	 Promote active living and community connectivity

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

In 2032, the economy of Tongala district:

•	 Is sustainable with prosperous tourism and business sector
•	 Showcases a diversity of business and industry with a focus on agriculture and manufacturing
•	 Provides ample employment opportunities
•	 Meets the needs of the community and visitors
•	 Has opportunities available for everybody
•	 Is supported by a vibrant town centre

Objectives
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Quick wins
Within six months.

1 Promote Tongala
Establish a township promotional working group (lead community group to be identified through consultation). 
Focus on consolidating promotional platforms and build on the existing Tongala brand. The working group 
will continue to update the website and expand to showcase all Tongala district’s offerings across various 
promotional channels.

2 Community leader gathering
Establish six-monthly gatherings of community and business leaders, Council and other government agencies, 
and stakeholders to discuss opportunities to advance and achieve the Tongala vision.

3 More events and activities, particularly multicultural events
Continue to deliver a dynamic and vibrant events calendar that aims to bring residents together, welcome and 
learn about the culture of new residents, have more for young people to do, and attract visitors to the district.

4 Improve council maintenance on facilities and infrastructure
Council to provide a level of maintenance for community facilities that aligns with community expectations.

5 A local dog park
Establish a fenced free-run dog park in a central location in the Tongala township.

6 Weekend retail trade
Create an atmosphere for weekend trading in Tongala township. Encourage businesses to open for weekend 
trade, promote the town’s cultural assets, nurture weekend events, and deliver campaigns to attract people to 
town during the weekend.

Projects - Quick Wins

Executive Summary
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Medium term
Six months to three years.

7 Youth mentoring and leadership
Development and delivery of a youth mentorship and leadership program focused on partnering local businesses 
with people aged 12 to 25 years to provide real-life skills, partnerships and local opportunities.

8 Indigenous recognition
Acknowledge the traditional owners of the Tongala district through inclusion, education, connection and signage.

9 A club for everyone
The community will seek opportunities to form groups that unify people with common interests, foster diversity 
and advocate for inclusion.

10 Tongala Township Facility Plan (TTFP)
Council will work with the Tongala Facility Plan Committee to plan for the long-term future of Tongala’s facilities 
and infrastructure to support the ambitions outlined in the Tongala Place Based Plan. 

Community facility priorities include determining the future use of all existing facilities, retaining Tongala Pool; 
constructing a district play space, a splash park, and mountain/BMX bike trails; extending the skate park; and 
upgrades at the Tongala ovals.

11 Improve mobility, inclusion and access in all public areas
Conduct a pedestrian and mobility planning exercise to identify accessibility improvements in Tongala township 
and implement improvements as per the Plan.

12 Masterplan
To support the township achieve its vision and objectives, a Master Plan of Tongala town centre will be 
developed to bring together the elements of the CBD. 

13 Deliver training and upskilling courses
Deliver subsidised training opportunities in Tongala. Partner with local employers and education organisations 
and encourage young people to attend/participate.

14 Boosting business
Encourage property owners to improve their property facades. Encourage property owners to offer their 
buildings rent free or low-cost to artists, creative projects, start-up businesses and community initiatives. Pop-up 
shops will be installed in vacant shop fronts on Mangan Street to revitalise and bring the main street to life. 

Executive Summary

Projects - Medium Term
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Long term
Four to ten years.

15 Utilise the Nestle site
Work with the property owner to encourage a determination of the future use of the Nestle factory. Encourage the 
consideration of a new industry or facility redevelopment for another use.

16 Facilities for visitors
Plan and install facilities in Tongala township to improve RV friendliness and encourage and support tourists 
and visitors. Improvements include better campgrounds, RV-accommodating spaces, a dedicated site for free 
camping, dump points for RVs, and public toilets.

17 Places for young people
The community will work together to identify an existing space for a youth hub that supports young people aged 
12 to 25 years. Extracurricular activities and programs will be delivered from this space.

18 Housing for all
Improve housing supply, diversity, quality, and affordability within Tongala. Priorities include:

•	 Identify suitable available land for housing within the Tongala township, and work with landowners to prepare 
and release available housing land to market.

•	 Encourage short-term rental operators to make their properties available for long-term rental.
•	 Build affordable, quality key worker housing.
•	 Continue to ensure that facilities and infrastructure supports the developments.

19 Transport
Advocate to improve public and community transport for Tongala residents. Improvements include bus routes 
between Tongala and Echuca, service times for young people, community transport for vulnerable residents, and 
better secondary school bus services.

Governance and Evaluation
The Tongala Place Based Plan Governance Committee will oversee the implementation of the Plan.

The Plan will be reviewed annually to determine the status of progress. This will be provided to Council to assist in 
community planning, budget development and community needs assessment. 

A formal review and evaluation of the Plan will be undertaken every four years, in line with the Council term.

Executive Summary

Projects - Long Term
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1. 
Introduction
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The Tongala Place Based Plan is a community-led plan designed to strengthen the sense of place, reflect the community’s 
ambition, and develop clear objectives to guide Tongala’s future.

Place Based Planning
In response to the changing Tongala community, Place Based Planning was used to plan for the community by directly 
engaging with community members and focusing on the nuances and character of the district.

Place Based Planning is an approach to guiding community development and planning. It’s a way to shape the future by 
concentrating on the look and feel of places, their form, and their character, instead of conventional land use.

A Place Based Plan is developed through a process of making places better. It involves looking at, listening to, and 
engaging with community members who live, work and play in a particular location (from a street to an entire town) to 
understand their needs and aspirations.

Working in partnership, the Council and community identify physical and social assets unique to a locality and capitalise 
on these to create distinctive and sustainable places.

Aim
The aim of this project was to engage with a broad cross-section of the community to develop and finalise the Tongala 
Place Based Plan.

Methodology and Schedule

Governance
Campaspe Shire Council engaged Projectura in March 2022 to prepare the Tongala Place Based Plan. A Place Based 
Plan Governance Committee was established to work alongside Council’s project team and Projectura to guide the 
development of the Tongala Place Based Plan. 

1. Introduction

Project Overview

March - April April - May May - July August 2022 - 
January 2023 February - March

1. Information 
gathering
•	 Inception
•	 Information 

gathering
•	 Engagement 

planning

2. Issues and 
opportunities
•	 Workshop
•	 Prepare and 

present Issues 
and Opportunities 
Paper

3. Broad 
engagement
•	 Community 

engagement
•	 Analysis and 

reporting

4. Draft Tongala 
Place Based Plan
•	 Deliberative 

engagement 
workshops

•	 Prepare and 
present Draft 
Tongala Place 
Plan

•	 Test plan

5. Final Tongala 
Place Based Plan
•	 Consider and 

respond to 
submissions

•	 Prepare final Draft 
Tongala Place 
Based Plan

Community input Community input Community input2022

2023
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Participation
Over 580 people from Tongala participated in the Place Based Plan broad engagement from 1 June to 30 June 2022. 

Table 1.	� Participation summary

Total participation Population (2021) % of population engaged

586
Tongala township 1,973 29.7

Tongala district 3,807 15.4

The community contributed their thoughts and opinions through various methods, including virtually, on paper, and in 
conversation.

Number of people who attended pop-up sessions: 	� 135

Number of survey responses:	� 446

Number of telephone interviews completed: 	� 5

What we asked
1.	 What makes your community a great place to live?
2.	 What is the one best thing about where you live?
3.	 What do you think are the main challenges facing 

your community?
4.	 What have you seen in another area/shire that 

would work well in your community?
5.	 What is one thing you would like to see 

achieved in your community in the next 
ten years?

6.	 What services or projects do you 
think Council should be prioritising or 
lobbying other levels of government?

Findings
The findings from the engagement are 
interspersed in this document. Further 
details can be found in Appendix 2, and 
full details are in the Engagement Report.

Community Engagement

1. Introduction
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Location
Tongala is in North Central Victoria Goulburn Valley region, within 
the Campaspe Shire Council local government area. Situated 
between Kyabram and Echuca, Tongala is centrally located 
between the regional centres of Shepparton and Echuca.

Tongala has a population of 3,807, a land area of 476km2.

Local Aboriginal history 
Tongala is rested on Yorta Yorta land. The name ‘Tongala’ is 
derived from the word ‘Dungala’, the local Aboriginal word 
for Murray River. Famous Aboriginal football and subsequent 
community leader Sir Doug Nicholls started his football career at 
Tongala. 

The community recognises the significant Aboriginal history in the 
area and is keen on its acknowledgment. Residents aspire for the 
town to make efforts to embrace and celebrate Tongala’s Aboriginal 
history.

Lifestyle
Tongala is only a two hour drive from Melbourne and near Kyabram and Echuca. 
Access to essentials such as doctors, chemist, primary health services, and primary 
schooling are available in Tongala. Extended services, including health services and secondary 
education, are available in surrounding localities. 

Renowned for its terrific climate, Tongala is known to have more sunny days than Queensland. Tongala’s climate is 
relatively stable, with an average maximum yearly temperature of 21.7 degrees (Elders). The average annual rainfall is 444.6 
millimetres.

In recent times, the township has seen significant growth, with new families relocating to live in Tongala. 

Landscape Identity
Tongala has an average elevation of 101 meters and is bordered to the north by the Goulburn and Murray Rivers. Renowned 
for its rurality, the area is distinguished by its links to dairy, mixed farming, and agriculture. Despite the closure of the 
Nestle factory, the agricultural industry brings employment diversity and opportunities to residents and forms a part of its 
landscape identity.

Built Identity
Tongala features an expanse of pastoral land with a distribution of agricultural industries. The Tongala township is situated 
away from major highways, offering its residents a quiet lifestyle.

Tongala has a mix of infrastructure and services that support the community, including two centrally located primary 
schools, two childcare centres, the aged care centre, the post office, and a selection of shops. The water tower was 
designed by Sir John Monash.

Residents highly value the community’s infrastructure in the area. The Tongala district is well represented in all forms of 
sport, at both adult and junior levels, and has a rich history in sports such as AFL, netball, cricket, and tennis. A range of 
sports and aquatic facilities support sporting clubs and walking tracks throughout the township that support recreational 
activity. Places that support community groups include Tongala’s Men’s Shed, Tongala Shire Hall, and Tongala Library.

Tongala has three churches; St James’ Anglican Church, Uniting Church (recently closed), St Patrick’s Catholic Church and 
Embrace Church Tongala.

Community

2. About Tongala District
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Community Activity
Tongala has a strong community spirit, and residents are community oriented. Despite a recent decrease in volunteerism, 
Australian Bureau of Statistic Census data shows that the Tongala district still has higher volunteering levels than 
Campaspe and Victoria.

The Tongala district boasts a variety of community groups, including the RSL and Lions Club, the world’s first Men’s Shed, 
Aged Care Auxiliaries, Tongala Community Activities Centre, and the Tongala Development Group. A vast volunteer base 
organises many of the sporting and community functions that happen in the Tongala district. Tongala’s vibrant Town 
Square was opened to mark the 50th anniversary of its Lions Club. 

The community has active football, netball, tennis, bowling, swimming, and cricket clubs.

Arts, Culture, and Events 
Tongala has developed strong art and cultural scene and is renowned for its Hay Bale Trail and its mark on the Campaspe 
Art Trail and Northern Victoria Regional Driving Map. The township displays over fifty murals, mostly located along the 
main street, depicting the history of Tongala and local flora and fauna. The township is known as the ‘Mural Capital of 
Campaspe’.

The community takes pride in expressing its identity and community spirit. The National Armoured Corps Avenue of 
Honour and National Cavalry Memorial pay tribute to those who served in the Vietnam War, along with an Australian Light 
Horse Memorial.

A range of events have been developed and flourish in Tongala, such as the annual Christmas Carols, Tongala Eats and 
Beats, the Tongala Community Garage Sale, the Tongala Beersheba Car and Bike Show, the Tongala Street Art Classes, 
and the Tongala Football Netball Club Fun Run.

Recently, the community has embraced the painting of hay bales as a whole-of-town interactive installation event. 
Beginning with the single illustration of children’s characters Bluey and Bingo in 2020, locals and tourists alike have 
enjoyed the expansion to regular themed events. The Tongala Development Group manages these events.

Employment and Business 
Tongala is home to some of the most rapidly expanding businesses within Campaspe Shire. Backbone industries in the 
Tongala district include HW Greenham & Sons, SLTEC Fertilizers, CopRice and McColl’s Transport. 

Nestle had a strong presence in the township until its closure in 2019. Recent announcements confirm the Nestle site has 
been sold, currently seeking a tenant. The Nestle closure has impacted the demographic and economic structure of the 
Tongala district. The growth of other businesses will alleviate these effects. 

Business expansions at HW Greenham & Sons have seen changes to the demographics of Tongala. Workers from Korea, 
the Solomon Islands, Papua New Guinea, and the Philippines have settled in the township due to the employment 
opportunities created.

Even with manufacturing and food production, Tongala is an irrigation district devoted to dairying, beef cattle, sheep, and 
cereal crops. However, water management is still a vital issue for the farming community. 

Agriculture, followed by manufacturing, is the highest employment industry in Tongala.

People are also employed in the district at the residential aged care, child care, primary schools, and Council depot.

Services Within the Township 
Residents of Tongala are well serviced thanks to small local businesses. These include the chemist, petrol station, 
mechanics, supermarket, post office, community bank, café and bakery, caravan park, pub, two primary schools, childcare 
and kindergarten centres, the aged care facility, a community house and primary healthcare facility managed by Kyabram 
Health. Campaspe Shire Council facilities include a Customer Service Centre and a library. Council’s Roads Depot is in the 
Tongala township, with over fifty Council staff employed there.

2. About Tongala District
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Key Statistics 

Top industries of employment***:

2. About Tongala District

* The Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas (SEIFA) ranks areas in Australia according to relative socio-economic advantage and disadvantage in terms of 
people’s access to material and social resources and their ability to participate in society.

** Tongala in the 36th percentile of the index, meaning 64% of Australia’s suburbs are more socio-economically advantaged. Tongala’s SEIFA score is higher 
than nearby Rochester (938.4), Echuca (968.6) and broader Campaspe Shire (967). Nearby towns with a SEIFA score higher than Tongala include Echuca 
West (991.7) and Moama (1,011.5).

*** Using ANZIC codes.

1 
Agriculture, Forestry 

and Fishing

Total population: 3,807 
(Tongala district), 1,973 

(Tongala township)

Average household size: 2.54 people

Median age: 41 years

Dwellings: 1,568

SEIFA index*: 984.6** 
(Tongala township 2016)

2 
Manufacturing

3 
Health Care and 

Social Assistance

4 
Retail trade

5 
Construction
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3 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island 
people

8 born overseas

4 speaking languages other than 
English at home

24 with an individual income less 
than $400 per week

6 earned an individual income of 
more than $2,000 per week

70 did unpaid domestic work

24 did no unpaid domestic work

29 provided unpaid care to children

92 live in a separate house

4 live in medium and high density housing

4 live in caravans or cabins

24 living by themselves 

69 living in families

35 completed year 12

58 did not complete year 12

67 who drove to work 

6 who walked to work 

11 worked at home

19 have no internet at home

6 have a disability

13 care for someone with a disability

59 are in the labour force.  
Of these:

56 working full time 
39 working part time 

4 unemployed and looking for work 
18 who volunteer

38 fully owned their home

36 were purchasing their home

18 were renting

Page 15Draft Place Based Plan  |  Tongala

If Tongala district consisted of 100 people, there would be: 

People

2. About Tongala District

24 
aged under  

18 years

47 
aged between 18 

and 59 years

29  
aged over 60 

years51 
Males

49 
Females

Note: Not all participants responded to every question

Source: Profile.id. Economy.id. ABS Census 2021 and 2016.
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The district grew considerably after the first World War when many returning soldiers settled in the area under the Soldier 
Settlement Scheme.

1841	� Edward M. Curr named Tongala.
1882	� Tongala township, initially on the Goulburn River, moved to where Tongala 

stands today.
1888	� A railway line and train station opened in the Tongala township, consolidating 

the site as a township.
1893	� Parts of the Shire of Echuca and Waranga Shire formed part of the Shire of 

Deakin and the Tongala town.
1905	� The Waranga Basin reservoir on the Goulburn River was completed, and land for 

irrigation districts were purchased.
1909	� St. Patricks Catholic Church opened.
1910	� Kyvalley Tennis Club was founded.
1912	� Tongala township was gazetted as a town. Tongala Irrigation District and State 

Rivers and Water Supply Commission were created.
1913	� St James Anglican Church opened.
1914	� Tongala water tower was designed by Sir John Monash, and 

constructed.
1916	� Tongala described by Victorian Municipal Gazetteer as an 

agricultural town.
1920	� After the First World War, further irrigation channels were 

established, and soldiers took up farming around Tongala.
1925	� The Tongala Bush Nursing Memorial Hospital opened to 

commemorate fallen soldiers in the First World War.
1926	� A post office and postmaster’s quarters were built. Kyvalley Hall 

established and managed by Trustees. Today is managed by the 
volunteer Kyvalley Progress Association Inc.

1940	� Decision made to establish Tongala Fire Brigade as part of the 
North Eastern Fire District from 1941.

1946	� Regional schools consolidated in Tongala.
1953	 The redeveloped Tongala swimming pool is officially opened.
1970	� Nestle acquires butter and cheese factory, the Northern Dairy 

Co. and plant for evaporated milk.
1971	� New offices were built for the Shire of Deakin in Tongala.
1974	� Lions Club Milk and Honey Festival held.
1978	� First Tongala Tent Town, Victoria’s biggest art and craft festival.
1980	� The swimming pool complex at Kyvalley Primary School was 

officially opened by Dr L. Shears, Director of Education. The 
land was later purchased by the former Shire of Deakin and 
bestowed to the community to operate.

1982	� Burn the Dunny Festival held (received worldwide publicity).
1982	� Tongala Community Leisure Centre opened at the Recreation 

Reserve.
83/84	� Tongala Football Club wins the senior Goulburn Valley League 

premiership.
1987	� Centenary of the Kyvalley Primary School.

History

2. About Tongala District
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History
1987	� Toolamba to Echuca railway celebration. Station removed and 

replaced with a replica.
1993	� HW Greenham & Sons Pty Ltd plant established.
1993	� Shire of Deakin Centenary celebration.
1993	� Golden Cow Dairy Education Centre opened (created as a Shire of 

Deakin memorial).
1993	� Major flood in the region.
1994	� Under statewide amalgamations, the Shire of Deakin became part 

of the Shire of Campaspe.
1998	� First Men’s Shed was established as ‘The Dick McGowan Men’s 

Shed’ at the Tongala Aged Care Complex.
2001	� Town murals opened.
2001	� Classics on the Goulburn with Victorian Symphony Orchestra held 

(2001 and 2002).
2003	� Australian Light Horse Memorial was unveiled by Maurice Watson.
2004	� National Armoured Corps Avenue of Honour was unveiled by the 

Governor General of Australia Major General Michael Jeffrey ACC.
2011	� National Cavalry Memorial Vietnam 1965-1972 opened.
2014	 Golden Cow Dairy Education Centre closes down. 
2018	� Tongala Beersheba Car and Bike Show established. 
2019	� Nestle announces intention to close Tongala factory.
2020	� Tongala Hay Bale Trail events start.
2021	� Tongala Eats and Beats established. 
2022	� Uniting Church of Tongala closes.
2022	� Tongala Town Square was created to mark the 50th anniversary of 

Tongala Lion’s Club.

2. About Tongala District
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The Tongala district has many strengths, including: 

Sense of Community
People in the Tongala district are community-minded, friendly, and supportive. Local shops are enjoyed by the community 
and used as regular meeting places. There is a sense of safety and family in the town. Multiple clubs and groups support 
shared interests, including sports, history, and the arts. 

Community Connections
There are strong friendships and relationships within the community and a sense of familiarity for many community 
members. Many people have lifelong ties to the area.

Local People and Spirit
Residents are determined and engaged with the community’s activity. Volunteerism in the town has supported the 
sustainability of organised clubs, facilities, events, and activation. 

Location
Tongala offers residents a peaceful and quiet place far from major highways but centrally located between major regional 
centres and services. Tongala’s township offers necessities for its residents and visitors. The district’s location gives people 
an authentic rural atmosphere that supports a relaxed lifestyle.

Sports and Recreation
The community attaches pride to its strong sporting culture with a diversity of sporting clubs available to its residents. 
Volunteer groups actively support the sports clubs. Tongala district has multi-use facilities to support its sports and 
recreational values, including walking tracks for casual enjoyment.

Strengths

2. About Tongala District

Little town  
with a big heart

Rental  
affordability

Sport that  
is inclusive

Country  
living with 

convenience

Strong  
volunteer  

base

Quiet  
hobby farm  

lifestyle
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The community identified several local challenges so that, through this Plan, we can positively respond to change.

Facility Closure
People in the Tongala district community are concerned about the risk of reduced community assets, particularly the 
community pool. Some residents reported that pool usage in recent years has lessened, but there is a high concern that 
the closure of the community pool will impact the community.

Jobs and Employment
Residents are generally concerned about labour shortages in the community and the effects this might have on the 
community. With the closure of the Nestle factory, there is a risk of a decrease in job availabilities in manufacturing. With 
nearly half of the community working in agriculture and manufacturing, there is worry about the diversity of career options 
available.

Ageing Infrastructure
There is an identified need for infrastructure to keep up with the pace of growth of the Tongala 
area. Residents are concerned about the current and future conditions of the Tongala 
stadium, public toilet facilities along the main street in Tongala, and general 
community assets. There is also concern that heritage overlays on buildings 
within the Tongala township prevent necessary infrastructure upgrades 
from occurring. The community are concerned about the conditions 
of current infrastructure when compared to facilities in other 
localities in the shire.

Housing Supply, Diversity, Resilience, 
and Affordability
With the community’s aspiration to support community 
growth, there is a concern that the housing supply 
and affordability will not keep up. With widespread 
property value increases, rental availability is 
becoming limited, and using shop fronts in Tongala 
township for residential means may hinder business 
growth. The Tongala community have identified 
a need for a greater land supply for housing 
developments to support current residents and 
workers of major industries in the local area.

Youth Engagement
Decreased youth engagement, activity in the 
community, and a lack of activities targeted to young 
people were a concern. With a decrease in the interest 
in participating in sporting clubs and volunteering, 
residents are worried about the impacts of the succession of 
community clubs. 

Limited Public Transport
The Tongala community are concerned about the impact of limited 
public transport on connectedness to surrounding towns.

Challenges

2. About Tongala District
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Housing
Improving availability and affordability of housing will make 
it easier for people to move to, and live in, the Tongala 
district. Tongala district is home to many family households 
(68.8%). 73.5% of dwellings are fully owned or mortgaged, 
and many residents live in caravans and cabins (3.8%) 
compared to the state average (0.9%). Further work is 
required to identify options for dedicating residential zones 
to affordable housing options.

Boosting Jobs and Employment
Nearly half of the community is employed in agriculture 
(22%) and manufacturing (15.7%). There is a growing 
migrant workforce in Tongala. Concerns over the 
closure of the Nestle site were high, and some residents 
expressed concern about a lack of training and upskilling 
opportunities in the local area.

Revitalising the Economy
Attract a new industry, such as manufacturing to diversify 
the economy to combat the decline in dairy farm 
operations. Residents would like to see the Nestle site 
redeveloped, and unoccupied shop fronts in Tongala’s 
Mangan Street revitalised.

Opportunities and incentives for businesses to occupy 
empty shops in Mangan Street were a strong priority for 
the community. Opportunities could include temporary 
shop pop-ups and short-term leases. The development of 
a shopping precinct would require further consultation to 
determine the community’s and visitors’ business needs. 
The street development could boost the community’s social 
wellbeing and strengthen the economy through tourism.

Addressing Ageing Infrastructure for 
Sports and Recreation
The community values its sports and recreation 
opportunities. Many people expressed desire to redevelop 
the Tongala pool. The development of a Township Facility 
Plan will further investigate community expectations, 
various infrastructure conditions and operational costs to 
meet industry standards.

The sporting culture in the Tongala district is strong, 
and the maintenance of its facilities is a high priority. 
Opportunities for the recreation reserve upgrades include a 
grandstand, oval lighting and change rooms for women.

Works are underway to complete remedial works at the 
Tongala Tennis Clubrooms. The first stage (design) has 
been completed, with the second stage (construction) to be 
completed by June 2023.

A Vision for Tongala’s Township Master 
Plan 
Open spaces provide the community with social, health, 
wellbeing, environmental and economic benefits. The 
community’s feedback concentrated on redeveloping 
existing open spaces to accommodate all ages, abilities 
and needs. Ideas included developing a free-run dog park, 
a sensory and nature playground, a sculpture/public art 
park, and building facilities at playgrounds, such as toilets, 
shelter, and seating. Connecting existing spaces with 
combined walking and cycling tracks was also a popular 
opportunity presented by the community. To support the 
township to achieve the vision objectives, a Township 
Master Plan will be developed to bring together the 
elements of the CBD.

Continuously Improving and Planning
Regular communication and collaboration between the 
Council and community groups to explore opportunities 
could be beneficial.

Population Demographics
There is strong community support to retain its young 
people. The closest secondary schools are in Kyabram, 
followed by Echuca and Rochester. Reliable transport to 
nearby secondary schools and vocational education sites 
could be beneficial.

Aged-based activities and programs could benefit younger 
cohorts. These could be mentorship programs, community-
run events or, as one respondent suggested, a Youth Action 
Group.

Developing Unique Experiences
Tongala has the opporunitiy to reinforce its position in the 
local and regional tourism market by evolving its assets and 
activities to brand Tongala as a unique experience. This will 
boost economic and social outcomes for the community 
and support the vision of the town. 

Opportunities
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3. 
Tongala District 

Ambition
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Vision
In 2032, Tongala district is:

A modern and progressive rural community

Defined by productive business and agricultural land

Unified by its strong and inclusive community spirit

Thriving because of our diverse people and businesses

A place of excellence

Objectives
Residents want to retain the town’s friendliness, consolidate the 

excellent sporting facilities, and improve the local economy. From these 
insights, clear objectives were developed to define the community’s 

ambition and to guide decision-making and actions to support its 
implementation.

The following objectives build the framework for achieving the Tongala 
vision and developing and prioritising projects and activities.

1. Our diverse community

2. Places for living

3. Economy, activation, and growth

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Aspirations
In 2032, the people of Tongala district:

•	 Welcome everybody
•	 Embrace and celebrate diversity
•	 Feel safe, respected, and comfortable
•	 Engage in bettering our resident’s wellbeing
•	 Plan for all ages, abilities, and cohorts
•	 Are dynamic and vibrant
•	 Love their friends and family

Priorities
More Events and Activations
Tongala is well-known by residents as being vibrant 
and active, with a lively calendar of events. More 
community activities offer an excellent opportunity to 
increase local and visitor engagement. The Tongala 
community will work together to deliver regular 
events and activities that promote social connection, 
inclusion, and entertainment.

Promoting Tongala
The community will consolidate its promotions 
on various platforms that showcase events and 
activations, contributing to a Tongala brand. Further 
advancement of the Tongala community website will 
increase exposure outside the area. The community will 
continue to update the website and expand to showcase all 
Tongala offers across various promotional channels.

A Club for Everyone
The community will seek opportunities to form community groups that 
unify people with common interests, foster diversity and advocate for inclusion. 
Prioritised groups include a Youth Action Group and groups that reflect the community’s 
diversity, such as a multicultural group. The community will actively promote existing clubs to encourage participation.

Tongala-Council Meetings
Continued collaboration between community members and Council is essential to build rapport and trust. The community 
will work with Campaspe Shire Council to establish a channel for regular communication and opportunities for community 
members to partake in town planning activities.

Funding Workshops with Council
Community groups will gather community leaders and stakeholders (including Council) twice yearly to discuss 
opportunities to seek funding and stimulate activity in the community.

1. Our Diverse Community

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Aspirations
In 2032, the places of Tongala district:

•	 Are well planned, utilised and maintained
•	 Cater to the interests and needs of our people
•	 Are safe, inclusive, and accessible
•	 Reflect the community’s character and lifestyle
•	 Attractive and enjoyable
•	 Promote active living and community connectivity

Priorities
Tongala Township Facility Plan
In partnership with the Tongala Township Facility Plan Committee, Council will plan for the future of Tongala’s assets that 
support the objectives outlined in the Tongala Place Based Plan. The Committee will review operational costs and current 
conditions of facilities to plan to retain the community’s most sustainable assets. 

The Plan will prioritise multi-use facilities, ensure facilities are inclusive and accessible, and increase community 
participation in sports, recreation and community life.

Community facility priorities include determining the future use of all existing facilities, retaining Tongala Pool; constructing 
a district play space, a splash park, and mountain/BMX bike trails; extending the skate park; and upgrades at Tongala 
ovals.

Multi-use Sports Facilities
Continuous monitoring and reporting of the condition of facilities is key to supporting Tongala’s sporting culture. The 
community will monitor and maintain existing amenities and facilities so that everybody can access various sporting and 
recreation opportunities. 

Expand Sport and Recreation Opportunities
The sporting culture in Tongala is valued and having more options will increase community participation. The community 
will seek opportunities to expand the current sporting and recreation opportunities for the community that are inclusive 
and accessible for all.

District Play Space
A project to upgrade the playgrounds at Potts Village Green and Lions Park and Tongala skatepark presents an 
opportunity for universal recreation for the community. This will include consideration for facilities like shelter, seating, 
toilets, and BBQ areas. Plans could include connecting existing parks and reserves with a network of cycling-walking trails 
and the development of a sensory of nature park and walk. Connecting places could extend between towns in the district 
to encourage cycle tourism.

A Local Dog Park
Establish a fenced free-run dog park in a central location within Tongala township.

2. Places For Living

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Aspirations
In 2032, the economy of Tongala district:

•	 Is sustainable with prosperous tourism and business sector
•	 Showcases a diversity of business and industry with a focus on agriculture and manufacturing
•	 Provides ample employment opportunities
•	 Meets the needs of the community and visitors
•	 Has opportunities available for everybody
•	 Is supported by a vibrant town centre

Priorities
Weekend Retail Trade
The Tongala community will support local businesses to open for weekend trade to encourage tourism and economic 
growth.

Boosting Business
The community will encourage property owners to offer their buildings rent free or low-cost to artists, creative projects, 
start-up businesses and community initiatives. Pop-up shops will be installed in vacant shop fronts on Mangan Street. 
Business activation in Mangan Street will increase attention to Tongala’s arts and historical attractions.

Future Use of Nestle Site
Work with the property owner to encourage a determination of the future use of the Nestle factory. The old factory could 
be redeveloped for another relevant agricultural or manufacturing industry, or a new use could be imagined. Alternatively, 
the infrastructure could be used for multiple purposes, depending on community needs and interest from industry.

Facilities for Visitors
Improvements to campgrounds will encourage and support a higher number of tourists and visitors that will pass through 
the district. Facilities to improve or introduce include RV-accommodating spaces, a dedicated site for free camping, dump 
points for RVs, and public toilets.

Transport
Increasing the services available to young people will help to retain a substantial youth population. The community will 
aspire to secure reliable services to assist young people in attending secondary school and other education sites not 
within the Tongala township or district.

Housing for all
Housing across Tongala is limited, and housing prices have risen significantly. Campaspe Shire Council will work with the 
Tongala community and relevant stakeholders to identify areas of the district to improve residential development that is 
affordable and accessible. The residential zone expansion will coincide with the district’s economic growth and reduce 
housing inequalities.

3. Economy, Activation, and Growth

3. Tongala District Ambition
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The following projects and activities were prioritised by the community to achieve their vision.

Project name Objective Partners Resourcing

EFFORT - E (Low effort) EE (Mid effort) EEE (High effort)

COST - $ (Under $999), $$ ($1,000-9,999), $$$ ($10,000-49,999), $$$$ ($50,000-499,999), $$$$$ ($500,0001 +) 

Quick wins - Actions to be achieved in under six months.
A quick win is an improvement that is visible, has immediate benefit, and can be delivered in the short term. The quick 
win needs to be something stakeholders agree to and works towards the combined vision for the community.

1 Promote Tongala
Establish a promotional arm of the Tongala 
Development Group. Consolidate promotional 
platforms and build on the existing Tongala 
brand. The community will continue to update 
the website and expand to showcase all Tongala 
offers across various promotional channels.

1. Our diverse 
community

To be Identified E$

2 Community leader gathering
Establish six-monthly gatherings of community 
and business leaders, Council and other 
government agencies, and stakeholders to 
discuss opportunities to advance and achieve the 
Tongala vision.

1. Our diverse 
community

To be Identified E$

3 More events and activities, particularly 
multicultural events 
Continue to deliver a dynamic and vibrant events 
calendar that aims to bring residents together, 
welcome and learn about the culture of new 
residents, give more for young people to do, and 
attract visitors to the district.

1. Our diverse 
community

To be Identified EEE$$

4 Improve Council maintenance on facilities and 
infrastructure
Council to conduct levels of service activities 
to align community desires with maintenance 
service levels.

2. Places for living To be Identified EE$$$

5 A local dog park
Establish a fenced free-run dog park in a central 
location in the Tongala township.

2. Places for living To be Identified EE$$$$

6 Weekend retail trade
Create an atmosphere for weekend trading in 
Tongala township. Encourage businesses to open 
for weekend trade, promote the town’s cultural 
assets, nurture weekend events, and deliver 
campaigns to attract people to town during the 
weekend.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EEE$$

Action Plan - Quick Wins

3. Tongala District Ambition

Attachment 8.4.4.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 129



Page 27Draft Place Based Plan  |  Tongala

3. Tongala District Ambition

Project name Objective Partners Resourcing

EFFORT - E (Low effort) EE (Mid effort) EEE (High effort)

COST - $ (Under $999), $$ ($1,000-9,999), $$$ ($10,000-49,999), $$$$ ($50,000-499,999), $$$$$ ($500,0001 +) 

Medium term - Actions to be achieved in six months to three years.
These actions mobilise the community and develop the confidence to invest further in the community. Partnerships with 
key organisations, government and community groups will be required to deliver these projects.

7 Youth mentoring and leadership
Development and delivery of a youth mentorship and leadership 
program focused on partnering local businesses with people aged 12 to 
25 years to provide real-life skills, partnerships and local opportunities.

1. Our 
diverse 
community

To be Identified EE$$

8 Indigenous recognition
Acknowledge the traditional owners of Tongala through inclusion, 
education, connection and signage.

1. Our 
diverse 
community

To be Identified EEE$$$$

9 A club for everyone
The community will seek opportunities to form groups that unify people 
with common interests, foster diversity and advocate for inclusion.

1. Our 
diverse 
community

To be Identified E$

10 Tongala Township Facility Plan (TTFP)
Council will work with the Tongala Facility Plan Committee to plan for 
the long-term future of Tongala’s facilities and infrastructure to support 
the ambitions outlined in the Tongala Place Based Plan. 

Community facility priorities include determining the future use of all 
existing facilities, retaining Tongala Pool; constructing a district play 
space, a splash park, and mountain/BMX bike trails; extending the 
skate park; and upgrades at Tongala ovals.

2. Places for 
living

To be Identified EEE$$$$$

11 Improve mobility and access in all public areas
Conduct a pedestrian and mobility planning exercise to identify 
accessibility improvements in Tongala township, and implement 
improvements as per the Plan.

2. Places for 
living

To be Identified EE$$$$$

Action Plan - Medium Term

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Project name Objective Partners Resourcing

EFFORT - E (Low effort) EE (Mid effort) EEE (High effort)

COST - $ (Under $999), $$ ($1,000-9,999), $$$ ($10,000-49,999), $$$$ ($50,000-499,999), $$$$$ ($500,0001 +) 

Long term - Actions to be achieved in four to ten years.
These actions provide opportunities for investment and lead to real change, long lasting impact and community 
strengthening. Partnerships with key organisations, government and community groups will be required.

12 Township Master Plan
To support the township achieve its vision and 
objectives, a Master Plan of Tongala town centre 
will be developed to bring together the elements 
of the CBD. This includes war memorials, 
open spaces, streetscape, public amenities, 
monuments, infrastructure, technology and 
tourism attractions current and future. This is to 
support and promote Tongala’s point of difference. 

2. Places for living To be Identified EE$$$$

Action Plan - Medium Term

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Project name Objective Partners Resourcing

13 Deliver training and upskilling courses
Deliver subsidised training opportunities in Tongala. 
Partner with local employers and education 
organisations and encourage young people to 
attend/participate.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified E$$$

14 Boosting business
Support property owners to improve their property 
facades. Encourage property owners to offer their 
buildings rent free or low-cost to artists, creative 
projects, start-up businesses and community 
initiatives. Pop-up shops will be installed in vacant 
shop fronts on Mangan Street to revitalise and bring 
the main street to life.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EE$$$$

Action Plan - Medium (cnt)

3. Tongala District Ambition
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Project name Objective Partners Resourcing

15 Utilise the Nestle site
Work with the property owner to encourage a 
determination of the future use of the Nestle factory. 
Encourage the consideration of a new industry or 
facility redevelopment for another use.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EEE$

16 Facilities for visitors
Plan and install facilities in Tongala township to 
improve RV friendliness and encourage and support 
tourists and visitors. 

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EE$$$$

17 Places for young people
The community will work together to identify 
an existing space for a youth hub that supports 
young people aged 12 to 25 years. Extracurricular 
activities and programs will be delivered from this 
space.

2. Places for living To be Identified EE$$$$

18 Housing for all
Improve housing supply, diversity, quality, and 
affordability within Tongala. Priorities include:

•	 Identify suitable available land for housing 
within the Tongala township, and work with 
land owners to prepare and release available 
housing land to market.

•	 Encourage short-term rental operators to 
make their properties available for long-term 
rental.

•	 Build affordable, quality key worker housing. 
•	 Continue to ensure that facilities and 

infrastructure supports the developments.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EEE$$$$$

19 Transport
Advocate for further funding towards public 
and community transport for Tongala residents. 
Funding priorities include bus route expansion, 
particularly between Tongala and Echuca, service 
times suitable for young people, community 
transport for vulnerable residents, and accessible 
secondary school bus services.

3. Economy, 
activation, and 
growth

To be Identified EEE$$

Action Plan - Long Term

3. Tongala District Ambition
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This Plan will be implemented and continuously evaluated by the community.

The successful implementation and evaluation of this Plan relies on:

•	 Appropriate levels of resourcing
•	 Ongoing commitment from various stakeholders to work in partnership to advance Tongala’s ambition.

Governance
Council established the Place Based Plan Governance Committee to oversee the implementation of the Tongala Place 
Based Plan.

In line with the previous processes, Council will oversee an EOI process for all 
community members to self-nominate their interest

Evaluation of applications will be based on the following principles:

•	 They have strong community links
•	 Communication skills (online and verbal)
•	 Diversity of background
•	 Key interest in the projects identified in the 

Place Based Plan.

Implementation
The Place Based Plan Governance 
Committee will develop an annual 
delivery plan. The annual delivery plan 
will set out the projects and activities 
for implementation, the timelines for 
the actions to be conducted and any 
budgetary considerations for these 
actions.

Evaluation
The Tongala Place Based Plan will 
be reviewed annually to determine 
progress status. This will be provided 
to Council to assist in community 
planning, budget development and 
community needs assessment. 

A formal review and evaluation of 
the Tongala Place Based Plan will be 
undertaken every four years, in line with the 
Council term.

Implementation

3. Tongala District Ambition
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State
The Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2019-2023 uses an evidence-informed and coordinated approach to improve 
health and wellbeing by engaging communities and maximising opportunities for health protection, health promotion and 
preventative healthcare. Priorities with focus areas include tackling climate change and its impact on health; increasing 
healthy eating; increasing active living; and reducing tobacco-related harm. The Plan identifies three strategic actions for 
each of the four focus areas.

Local
In the Campaspe Shire Council Plan 2021-2025, Council identifies community needs and local issues to be addressed 
over the four years of the elected Council. The Plan outlines five areas of focus including developing the local economy; 
ensuring critical places are fit-for-future use; working with communities; advocacy for long-term solutions; and partnering 
with service providers.

Campaspe Tomorrow is a strategic plan developed in direct response to community input. The community’s ten-year 
vision is: ‘Our places are vibrant and sustainable; our people are strong and supportive’. The vision will guide future 
strategic and operational plans. Six key priorities were developed including a sense of community; our places; activity for 
all; opportunity for all; healthy environments; and engaged and participative people. 

Campaspe’s Environment Strategy 2018-2022 aims to protect the Shire’s environment through delivery of programs 
and services to support a healthy and connected community. Conservation, climate change adaptation and mitigation, 
community engagement and partnerships, and Council’s responsibilities were identified.

Campaspe’s Economic Development Strategy 2014-2019 guides Council’s implementation of economic development 
priorities. The Strategy also informs day-to-day Council tasks aimed at promoting the Shire, attracting investment, and 
supporting business and industry growth.

Campaspe Shire plays an important role in facilitating the growth and development of children. The Campaspe Shire 
Municipal Early Years Plan 2017-2021 involves four themes: ‘the best possible start’; ‘high quality, sustainable services 
and infrastructure’; ‘support vulnerable children’; and ‘family friendly places’.

The Places of Assembly/Council Facilities policy informs decisions on planning, provision, and management of places 
of assembly and community facilities across the shire. Seven principles are outlined to be applied for future planning. The 
policy also categorises facilities into a hierarchy based on capacity and level of amenity: ‘local’, ‘township’ and ‘district’.

The Road Management Plan establishes a management system for the management and inspection of municipal roads 
and road related infrastructure, as well as identification and repair of defects. The key elements of the Plan include: a 
system of management; a public road register; powers and duties of road authorities; civil liability; protection against 
damage; and processes for inspection, maintenance, and repair.

Campaspe Open Space Strategy 2022-2032 is a long-term planning document guiding Council decisions about 
use, development, and management of open spaces across the municipality. Recommendations are provided for each 
township.

Campaspe Shire Council adopted the Active Transport Strategy 2019 to dramatically increase the number of people 
walking and cycling. The strategy also aims to make getting to school by walking or cycling more attractive, and to create 
walking and cycling towns, and connected and liveable developments.

Campaspe’s Access and Inclusion Strategy 2020-2026 to effect change for community members who face barriers 
and to increase healthy, inclusive living. This strategy broadened the scope of Communities of Priority to nine cohorts to 
respond to the changing nature of communities.

Produced in 2021, Creative Campaspe is a ten-year strategy with three priority areas: ‘support the artistic and cultural 
endeavours of communities within Campaspe’; ‘ongoing sustainable management of Council’s arts and cultural assets’; 
and ‘development of a public art management framework for Campaspe’.

The Event Strategy 2019-2024 is a five-year plan to guide the Council’s support for events. The strategy builds off 
the objectives set out in the Council Plan including: strong and engaged communities; resilient economy; healthy 
environment; balanced services and infrastructure; and responsible management.

Appendix 1.  
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Engagement
The engagement aimed to:

•	 Gather a broad and deep understanding of Tongala’s local environment
•	 Develop a community vision and principles to guide decision making
•	 Analyse opportunities and develop actionable projects
•	 Test and receive feedback on the Plan

Over 600 people contributed to the future of the Tongala district by participating in a range of community engagement 
activities.

An initial workshop was held in April 2022 to identify issues and opportunities for the project. Broad community 
engagement activities followed over the month of June 2022. Then, during August and September 2022 two deliberative 
engagement workshops were held with community and Council representatives to test and refine the progress made on 
the Plan. The draft Tongala Place Based Plan was tested with the community, and 49 people participated in sessions and 
provided feedback to refine and finalise the Plan.

Appendix 2.  
Community Engagement Details
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The Engagement Report outlines the engagement participation and findings.

The table below outlines the community engagement activities.

Method Date Summary
Participation

(Number of 
people)

Stage 2: Issues and opportunities

Workshop 27 Apr 2022 Workshop to introduce the project and discuss issues 
and opportunities.

30

Stage 3: Broad engagement

Survey 1-26 Jun 2022 Survey was available online through Council's website, 
via QR codes on flyers and posters, and in hard copy.

446

Primary school sessions 3 Jun 2022 Two 1.5 hour workshops with Grade 3 and 4 students. 
One workshop each with students from Tongala Primary 
School, and St Patrick's Catholic School.

37

Street pop up 3 and 4 Jun 2022 Two street pop ups. One in front of the IGA supermarket, 
on Mangan St Tongala on 3 June, and one outside the 
Tongala Post Office, Mangan St, Tongala on 4 June.

78

Pop up 4 Jun 2022 Pop up engagement with residents and visitors to the 
Tongala FNC v Congupna match at Tongala.

20

Telephone interviews 22 – 27 Jun 2022 Targeted phone interviews with industry leaders in the 
Tongala.

5

Deliberative engagement 
workshops

29 Aug 2022 and 
5 Sep 2022

Two 3 hour workshops to deliberate on the community 
engagement findings, test them, and refine for inclusion 
in the Draft Place Based Plan.

49

Stage 4: Draft Tongala Place Based Plan

Community feedback 
survey 

13 February to 
24 March 2023

Feedback survey circulated through out the community 
to gauge community sentiment on the plan. 

15 surveys 
completed 

TBC Public submissions following exhibition of the Draft 
Tongala Place Based Plan.

TBA

Promotion of Survey 3 March 2023 Pop up session promoting plan and survey at the IGA in 
Tongala area. 

60

18 March 2023 Pop up session promoting plan and survey at the Tongala 
square community day.

100

March 2023 DL brochures with QR codes directing Tongala residents 
to the plan and survey distributed through Australia Post 
PO Boxes.

300 DL 
Brochures 
circulated

Feb March 2023 Hard copy survey available at the Tongala Community 
House (TCAC) and the Campaspe Shire Council Service 
Centre.

N/A

Feb- March 
2023

Press release sent to Tongala Times.

Multiple posts via council’s Facebook and Linkedin 
profiles.

Promoted through Council’s half page advertisement in 
the Riverine Herald.

N/A

20 March 2023 Final community session facilitated to promote plan 
and engage community members to participate in the 
delivery of projects.

10

Tabled to Council April – June 2023 Plan to be tabled to Council for formal review. N/A
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Acknowledgement  
of Country
The Shire of Campaspe is the traditional lands 
of the Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung and Yorta 
Yorta Peoples.

We respect and acknowledge their unique 
Aboriginal cultural heritage and pay our 
respect to their ancestors, descendants and 
emerging leaders as the Traditional Owners of 
this Country.

We acknowledge their living culture and their 
unique role in the life of this region.
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Mayor’s Introduction
Together with my fellow Campaspe Shire Councillors, 
I am pleased to release the proposed Budget for 
2023/2024.

Every year the budget process becomes more complex 
with rising costs, the reality of operating under rate-
capping and additional requirements from Federal and 
State governments. This year Councillors and council 
staff have prepared the budget in an environment of 
great uncertainty. Not only has there been uncertainty 
surrounding the length and severity of the COVID-19 
pandemic, but more significantly for our Shire are 
the impacts from the October 2022 Floods and other 
storm events. Dealing with extreme weather events 
is something we must plan for, and with that comes 
expenditure on recovery and rebuild efforts. 

We know that residents and businesses have had 
an extremely challenging period, and Council is 
committed to ensuring that people are supported to 
resume their livelihoods through a range of programs 
and services.  We have also witnessed a stark rise 
in the cost of materials, and staff and contractors 
have been more difficult to source. This increases the 
difficulty of undertaking works, but we continue to plan 
for this in all costings of future projects.

Our budget planning for 2023/2024 continues to 
reflect Council’s commitment to operate in a financially 
sustainable and responsible way. Whilst we are 
planning to incur a deficit budget for the next few 
years as we work to improve areas that you have told 
us are important, a firm focus will be on reviewing 
services for value and efficiencies and redirecting our 
energies to focus on those areas that our community 
values the most. 

Over the last year, Council has consulted with our 
community on a range of topics, including the 
progression of several place-based plans that are in 
development or nearing completion. This draft budget 
has been shaped by the thoughts and ideas shared 
during Council’s engagement as well as the many 
conversations that have occurred in response to the 
devastating impacts of the October 2022 Floods.

It’s also in response to the most recent Customer 
Satisfaction Survey, respondents indicating that future 
flood mitigation and rebuilding roads and transport 
infrastructure as their highest priorities.  Other 
top priorities highlighted for the year ahead were 
improved communication, governance, advertising and 
marketing of our shire, cleanliness and maintenance of 
our towns and open spaces, and beautification of our 
town entrances. 

We are also highly focused on continuing to increase 
our advocacy for State and Federal government 
support and the investment the community needs to 
build a stronger future for Campaspe.
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In addition to the capital works required in response 
to the floods, this Draft Annual Budget includes a 
significant capital works allocation of $27.4 million to 
deliver essential infrastructure including:

•	 Community and recreation enhancements – 
including the Echuca East Redevelopment – Bike 
skills area and the final stage of the Waranga Rail 
Trail – $1.7 million  

•	 Road improvements, footpath replacement and 
repairs and kerbside replacements, including new 
plant and equipment – $15.2 million

•	 Echuca Aerodrome upgrade $3.2 million
•	 Playgrounds, parks and gardens and recreational 

facilities - $1.1 million

Other capital works includes: 

•	 Completion of stormwater pumps in Kyabram and 
Rochester - $0.1 million

•	 Construction of Breen Avenue, Kyabram, shared 
use path - $0.4 million 

•	 Upgrade of the skip bin loading bays at the 
Colbinabbin, Lockington and Toolleen Resource 
Recovery Centres - $0.7 million

•	 Increasing the budget allocation to a number 
of tree management programs, to ensure best 
practice and to mitigate potential risks associated 
with trees in public places.

Council’s focus for the next year will also be on 
delivering projects and services that continue to 
meet the needs of our community as identified in the 
Council Plan 2021-2025. The proposed budget of $92.1 
million will be delivered in the third year of that plan, 
and the budget includes several new and continuing 
initiatives.

Introducing new resource allocations to deliver the 
following strategies, plans and masterplans including: 

•	 An Economic Development and Tourism Strategy
•	 A Cultural Diversity Strategy
•	 A Customer Service Strategy
•	 The Kyabram, Colbinabbin and Tongala Township 

Masterplans
•	 An emissions plan to assist in the implementation 

of Council’s Environmental Strategy
•	 Library Services Strategy
•	 Additional grant opportunities for community 

houses and an increase in funding to Department 
of Energy, Environment and Climate Action 
(DEECA) halls and Campaspe Libraries.

We also need to ensure our technology is fit for 
purpose and over the next few years we will be 
investing in a range of improvements.

Making decisions on rates and service charges is 
never easy, and Councillors have spent much time 
discussing, and thinking on, what is appropriate for our 
community and what is financially sustainable for the 
organisation. 

While Council has proposed an increase to average 
rates income of 3.5%, the actual increase for 
each ratepayer will vary, based on the amount of 
their individual property valuation. The Victorian 
Government values all properties annually, resulting in 
a redistribution of rates payable, based on the change 
to a property’s value. 

The proposed budget has been developed through a 
rigorous process of consultation and review by staff 
and Councillors, and I want to thank everyone who 
made a submission during our budget consultation in 
late 2022. We appreciate your time and I’m pleased 
that we were able to put funds towards so many 
things that will make both big and little, but important 
differences to residents in our shire.  

I encourage you to read this document to understand 
the significant investment in capital works and the 
programs and services we will deliver in the financial 
year ahead. 

You can also have a say on the priorities in the budget 
by making a submission. Submissions can be made via 
an online form, available on Council’s website at  
www.campaspe.vic.gov.au or by mail or email. 
Submissions open on 9 May and close on the end of 
business 31 May.

Please send submissions to the below addresses for 
email and mail.

Email to:	 cs@campaspe.vic.gov.au

Mail to:	� PO Box 35,  
Echuca VIC 3564

Cr Rob Amos 
Mayor
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Financial 
Management 
Principles
Introduction
These principles were adopted by Council within the 
Finance Plan on 20 October 2021 to guide decision 
making when considering the budget, service funding 
and the financial sustainability of council balanced 
with community needs.

Principles
•	 Revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments 

and financial transactions are managed in 
accordance with Council’s financial policies and 
strategic plans.

•	 Management of the following financial risks:

	- The financial viability of the Council.
	- The management of current and future liabilities 

of the Council.

•	 Financial policies and strategic plans are designed 
to provide financial stability and predictability to 
the community. 

•	 Council maintains accounts and records that 
explain its financial operations and financial 
position.

•	 Council effectively and efficiently uses its 
resources to deliver the best outcomes for the 
community whilst ensuring ongoing future financial 
sustainability.

•	 Council maintains an operating surplus over a four-
year period (current year and three forward years).*

•	 Council meets current service levels prior to the 
allocation of resources for new or expanded service 
levels or one-off operating projects.

•	 Council will consider the use of borrowings to 
fund significant capital projects when there is a 
demonstrated benefit to future generations and 
council has the capacity to service the debt.

•	 Council will seek a balance between service 
delivery and a cost recovery model having regard 
to capacity to pay.

•	 Council will consider the financial resources 
required for the implementation of the endorsed 
Council Plan and other strategic plans of council.

•	 Before approving new or upgrade capital projects 
or the acquisition of new assets, council will 
consider its asset renewal obligations.

•	 Before approving the acquisition of new assets, 
council will have regard to the financial and 
social impacts along with service needs of the 
community.

•	 Council will not seek a rate cap variation while it 
maintains a sustainable financial position.

* Council recognises that the 2023-24 budget does 
not meet this principle and we will continue to review 
services for efficiencies to bring the budget back to an 
operating surplus.DRAFT
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Executive Summary
In the following graphs the legend terms mean the following:

A - Actual result

F - Forecast result

B - Budget result

1. Operating result

The expected operating result for the 2023-24 year is a deficit of $4.9 million, which is an increase of $2.8 million 
from the deficit position forecast for 2022-23. The increase is the result of additional expenditure being budgeted 
2023-24.

2. Adjusted underlying result

The adjusted underlying deficit calculation removes grant income received for capital purposes and one-off 
income items such as the sale of assets. The adjusted underlying result is budgeted to be a deficit of $7.7 million 
in the 2023-24 year, with deficits also forecast in the future three years. We will continue to review services for 
efficiencies in consultation with the community.
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3. Sources 
of Income

50%	 Rates income

7%	 Garbage charge

1%	 Statutory Fees and Fines

16%	 Grants Commissions

2%	 Other recurrent grants

3%	 Non-recurrent grants

18%	 User fees

3%	 Interest

The above graph shows all sources of income for the 2023-24 budget as a percentage of total income.
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4. Change in rates and charges

The revenue to be raised by rates in 2023-24 is $42.7 million, this includes $150,000 generated from 
supplementary rates. This is an increase of $1.2 million from 2022-23, which will contribute towards maintaining 
service levels and meeting the cost of external influences affecting the budget. 

The $1.2 million increase in rates to be raised is due to increased property valuations together with supplementary 
rates being generated as the result of development and changes to properties. A change to a property will 
change the value of the property used to calculate rates. These changes trigger a supplementary valuation 
and a change to the rates charged to the property. There is a considerable development occurring across the 
municipality which has increased revenue raised in supplementary rates.

5. Financial sustainability

The Budget for the years 2023-2027 has been developed to assist Council in adopting a budget within a longer 
term prudent financial framework. The key objective of the plan is financial sustainability in the medium to long 
term, while still achieving the Council’s strategic objectives as specified in the Council Plan. The measure of 
financial sustainability, which looks at adjusted underlying result compared to total income shows an operating 
deficit in the 2023-24 year and ongoing deficits in the following forecast years.

While Council is currently in a good financial position, to ensure ongoing financial sustainability, Council will 
continue to review the services for efficiencies as part of its Service Planning program.
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6. Cash and investments

Cash and investments are expected to decrease by $13.4 million during the year to $74.0 million as at the 30 June 
2024. The reduction will fund the budget deficit of $4.9 million and the balance will fund carried forward capital 
works from prior years. The cash and investments are expected to reduce over future years as capital works are 
completed and Council renews assets that are required to deliver services.

7. Capital works

The capital works program for the 2023-24 year is expected to be $27.4 million. 

Of the $27.4 million of capital funding required, $4.1 million will come from external grants, $13.7 million from 
Council cash and $9.7 million from Council reserves. 
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8. Borrowings

The borrowings in 2023-24 will decrease compared to rate revenue as loans are paid down. Additional 
borrowings were undertaken in the two prior years for the redevelopment of Gunbower Lions Park and the 
Echuca East Community Precinct. No additional borrowings are budgeted for 2023-24 and if no borrowings are 
considered in the three forward years all loans will be paid out by 2026-27.
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9. Initiatives funded
Below is a list of new initiatives funded in the 2023-24 
Budget.

Flourishing local economy
We will

•	 Commence the renewal and upgrade project at the 
Echuca Aerodrome.

•	 Undertake construction works at the Victoria 
Park Boat Ramp, including new retaining wall and 
accessible ramp.

•	 Continue to implement upgrades to the Echuca 
Holiday Park identified through the master plan. 

•	 Deliver an Echuca and District Livestock Exchange 
Strategy that will define the priorities and strategic 
objectives of the service for the future.

•	 Implement the Echuca West Precinct Structure 
Plan to encourage development of additional 
residential housing in Echuca.

•	 Develop and implement the actions from the 
Economic Development and Tourism Strategy.

Well planned places
We will

•	 Complete the Toolleen Axedale Road widening 
project.

•	 Continue stage two of the Rushworth Streetscape 
renewal project.

•	 Complete storm water pump renewals at sites in 
Kyabram and Rochester.

•	 Complete irrigation renewal projects in parks and 
gardens within Kyabram, Rochester and Echuca. 

•	 Complete the Rushworth (Waranga) Rail Trail.
•	 Finalise the Echuca Aquatic reserve designs and 

pursue funding opportunities.
•	 Finalise the Victoria Park Multi-purpose building 

design and pursue funding opportunities.
•	 Work with recreation reserve committees of 

management to identify sustainable infrastructure 
plans.

•	 Complete the construction of Breen Ave Shared 
User Path (Kyabram).

•	 Undertake a review of the shared path network 
across the shire.

•	 Deliver our road resheeting and resealing 
programs.

•	 Undertake a residential land review for the Shire.
•	 Continue to review and update wayfinding signs 

across the shire.

Resilient protected and healthy natural environment
We will

•	 Complete upgrades to skip bin loading bays at the 
Colbinabbin, Lockington and Toolleen Resource 
Recovery Centres.

•	 Incorporate sustainable water and energy use 
initiatives into the Victoria Park Multi-purpose 
building design.

•	 Complete the Integrated Water Management 
project at the Echuca Aquatic Reserve drainage 
basin.

•	 Develop an action plan for the implementation of 
the Urban Forest Strategy.

•	 Carry out sampling and testing on closed landfills 
to understand the environmental risks and identify 
remediation actions if required.

•	 Develop an Environmental Sustainability Design 
framework for Council projects. 

•	 Development of an emissions reduction plan 
to assist in the implementation of Councils 
Environmental Strategy which has a net zero target 
for emissions.

•	 Fire and weed management plan for Victoria Park 
(bush area).
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Growing quality of life
We will

•	 Implement actions in accordance with the 
Domestic Wastewater Management Plan to 
minimise the impacts of domestic wastewater on 
human health, the natural environment and local 
amenity.

•	 Develop an emissions reduction plan to assist in 
the delivery of Councils Environment Strategy.

•	 Deliver a Library Services Strategy that will define 
the priorities and strategic objectives of the service.

•	 Deliver stage 2 of the Rochester Early Learning 
centre redevelopment to meet childcare demand in 
the Rochester district.

•	 Develop a multi-year action plan for the Municipal 
Early Years Plan 2023-25.

•	 Work in partnership with the Department of 
Education to review the Kindergarten Infrastructure 
and Services Plan, which will define kindergarten 
infrastructure demand across the municipality.

•	 Implement actions arising from audits on the 
cultural safety of Council’s Maternal and Child 
Health and Centre Based Care services.

•	 Establish an Outdoor pool calendar of events in 
collaboration with local community groups. 

•	 We will work with community groups to increase 
activities at stadiums, including provision of Council 
run programs for community participation.

•	 Complete the renewal and upgrade of the 
Rushworth Service Centre and Library.

•	 Implement the Arbovirus program throughout the 
active season (typically November to March).

•	 Develop a Cultural Diversity Strategy.
•	 Continue to develop Place Based Plans for 

communities.
•	 Develop township facilities plans for Kyabram, 

Tongala and Colbinabbin.
•	 Increase the contribution made to Department of 

Energy, Environment and Climate Action (DEECA) 
halls to $2,000 per hall.

•	 Increase in the Grant Program for Community 
Houses

•	 Additional library resources, both books and digital 
resources.

•	 Continue to provide free access to outdoor pools in 
2023-24.

Organisational support
We will

•	 commence the delivery of an upgraded Request 
Management system.

•	 review and update the 10-year Finance Plan.
•	 Implement communications media monitoring - to 

allow electronic monitoring of all media, including 
social media.

•	 Continued updating of Information 
Communications Technology security solutions.

•	 Continue to update key technology systems to 
improve customer interactions, for both external 
and internal customers.

•	 Purchase new plant and equipment, made up of the 
following, to maintenance of roads and public open 
spaces:

	- One grader
	- Five utes
	- Two truck and dog trailers
	- Tractor and roller
	- Prime mover and water cart
	- Fuel cart
	- Excavator and trailer
	- Four trucks (8 & 12 tonne)
	- Stump grinder and chipper
	- Weed spraying equipment.

DRAFT

Attachment 8.5.1.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 150



Page 12 

Budget Influences
This section sets out the key budget influences arising 
from the internal and external environment within 
which Council operates.

External Influences
The four years represented within the Budget are 
2023-24 through to 2026-27. In preparing the 2023-24 
budget, a number of external influences have been 
taken into consideration. These are outlined below:

•	 Location – The Shire of Campaspe is located in 
north central Victoria, approximately 180 kilometres 
north of Melbourne. It includes the communities 
of Echuca, Kyabram, Rochester, Lockington, 
Gunbower, Rushworth, Stanhope and Tongala 
as well as many smaller communities outside of 
these main townships. The municipality is located 
in the heart of one of the richest and most diverse 
agriculture and food processing areas in Victoria. 
Its climate, history, cultural heritage, natural 
assets and location in relation to major urban 
centres provide the municipality with extensive 
opportunities. The municipality encompasses a 
total land area of over 4,500 square kilometres.

•	 Superannuation – Council has an ongoing 
obligation to fund any investment shortfalls in the 
Defined Benefits Scheme. The last call on local 
government was in the 2012-13 financial year when 
Council was required to pay $4.77 million to top 
up its share of the Defined Benefits Scheme. The 
amount and timing of any liability is dependent on 
the global investment market. 

•	 Superannuation Guarantee – The superannuation 
guarantee will increase 0.5% every year until it 
reaches 12.0%. The 12.0% will be reached on 1 July 
2025.

•	 Financial Assistance Grants – The largest source 
of government funding to Council is through the 
annual Victorian Grants Commission allocation. The 
overall state allocation is determined by the Federal 
Financial Assistance Grant.

•	 Capital Grant Funding – Capital grant 
opportunities arise continually. The budget has 
been based on confirmed grants. Any subsequent 
grants would be captured during the quarterly 
forecast process. 

•	 Cost shifting - This occurs when Local 
Government provides a service to the community 
on behalf of the Victorian and Federal Government. 
Over time, the funds received by local governments 
do not increase in line with real cost increases, 
such as school crossing and library services, 
resulting in a further reliance on rate revenue to 
meet service delivery expectations.

•	 Rate Capping – The Victorian State Government 
continues with a cap on rate increases. The cap for 
2023-24 has been set at 3.50%.

•	 Supplementary Rates – Supplementary rates 
are additional rates received after the budget is 
adopted each year, for the part of the year when 
a property value increases in value (eg. due to 
improvements made or change in land class), or 
new residences become assessable. Importantly, 
supplementary rates recognises that new residents 
require services on the day they move into the 
municipality and Council is committed to providing 
these. Supplementary rates income is based on 
historical and forecast data and is set at anticipated 
levels. 

•	 Waste Disposal Costs – The Environment 
Protection Agency (EPA) regulation has a sustained 
impact on Council with regards to compliance with 
existing and past landfills sites. Waste disposal 
costs are also impacted by industry changes such 
as increasing EPA landfill levies and negotiation of 
contracts e.g. recycling sorting and acceptance. 
These costs are reflected in the Waste Charge. 

•	 Coronavirus (COVID-19) – COVID-19 pandemic 
has presented significant challenges over the past 
two years, with impacts on businesses, households 
and the economy worldwide. As we move to a new 
phase of the pandemic, consideration has been 
given to ongoing impacts that may linger, such as 
supply of materials and availability of workforce.

•	 Flood – In October 2022 one of the biggest floods 
on record affected a large area of the State. Many 
of council’s roads, drainage, and community assets, 
i.e. parks, playgrounds, buildings and swimming 
pools etc, sustained damage. Repairs to these 
assets will take time and may impact on councils’ 
ability to deliver services and normal maintenance 
programs. 
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Internal Influences
As well as external influences, there are several 
internal influences which are expected to impact the 
2023-24 Budget. These include:

•	 Adjusted Underlying Result – An indicator of the 
sustainable operating result required to enable 
Council to continue to provide core services and 
meet its objectives. Financial performance is 
expected to deteriorate over the period, continued 
operating losses means reliance on council’s cash 
reserves or increased debt to maintain services.

•	 Cash – Council holds cash to fund capital works, 
cash reserves allocated for specific purposes and 
to meet operational needs. Cash must be managed 
to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet 
Councils’ obligations as and when they come due. 

•	 Working Capital – The proportion of current 
liabilities represented by current assets. Working 
capital forecast trend is to remain steady at an 
acceptable level.

•	 Service Planning – Reviewing services to ensure 
that they meet the community needs is an ongoing 
process. Balancing the needs of the community 
within the constraints of the funds available is 
an ongoing challenge for Council. Council has to 
have a robust process for service planning and 
review to ensure all services continue to provide 
value for money and are in line with community 
expectations.
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Budget 2023-24  

Budget Influences 

This section sets out the key budget influences arising from the internal and external environment within 

which Council operates. 

 

External Influences 

 

The four years represented within the Budget are 2023-24 through to 2026-27. In preparing the 2023-24 

budget, a number of external influences have been taken into consideration. These are outlined below: 

• Location – The Shire of Campaspe is located in north central Victoria, approximately 180 kilometres 

north of Melbourne. It includes the communities of Echuca, Kyabram, Rochester, Lockington, 

Gunbower, Rushworth, Stanhope and Tongala as well as many smaller communities outside of 

these main townships. The municipality is located in the heart of one of the richest and most diverse 

agriculture and food processing areas in Victoria. Its climate, history, cultural heritage, natural 

assets and location in relation to major urban centres provide the municipality with extensive 

opportunities. The municipality encompasses a total land area of over 4,500 square kilometres. 

 

• Superannuation – Council has an ongoing obligation to fund any investment shortfalls in the 

Defined Benefits Scheme. The last call on local government was in the 2012-13 financial year when 

Council was required to pay $4.77 million to top up its share of the Defined Benefits Scheme. The 

amount and timing of any liability is dependent on the global investment market.  

 

• Superannuation Guarantee – The superannuation guarantee will increase 0.5% every year until it 

reaches 12.0%. The 12.0% will be reached on 1 July 2025. 

 

• Financial Assistance Grants – The largest source of government funding to Council is through the 

annual Victorian Grants Commission allocation. The overall state allocation is determined by the 

Federal Financial Assistance Grant. 

 

• Capital Grant Funding – Capital grant opportunities arise continually. The budget has been based 

on confirmed grants. Any subsequent grants would be captured during the quarterly forecast 

process.  

 

• Cost shifting - This occurs when Local Government provides a service to the community on behalf 

of the Victorian and Federal Government. Over time, the funds received by local governments do 

not increase in line with real cost increases, such as school crossing and library services, resulting 

in a further reliance on rate revenue to meet service delivery expectations. 

 

• Rate Capping – The Victorian State Government continues with a cap on rate increases. The cap 

for 2023-24 has been set at 3.50%. 

 

• Supplementary Rates – Supplementary rates are additional rates received after the budget is 

adopted each year, for the part of the year when a property value increases in value (eg. due to 

improvements made or change in land class), or new residences become assessable. Importantly, 

supplementary rates recognises that new residents require services on the day they move into the 

municipality and Council is committed to providing these. Supplementary rates income is based on 

historical and forecast data and is set at anticipated levels.  

 

• Waste Disposal Costs – The Environment Protection Agency (EPA) regulation has a sustained 

impact on Council with regards to compliance with existing and past landfills sites. Waste disposal 
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Budget 2023-24  

costs are also impacted by industry changes such as increasing EPA landfill levies and negotiation 

of contracts e.g. recycling sorting and acceptance. These costs are reflected in the Waste Charge.  

 

• Coronavirus (COVID-19) – COVID-19 pandemic has presented significant challenges over the past 

two years, with impacts on businesses, households and the economy worldwide. As we move to a 

new phase of the pandemic, consideration has been given to ongoing impacts that may linger, such 

as supply of materials and availability of workforce. 

 

• Flood – In October 2022 one of the biggest floods on record affected a large area of the State. 

Many of council’s roads, drainage, and community assets, i.e. parks, playgrounds, buildings and 

swimming pools etc, sustained damage. Repairs to these assets will take time and may impact on 

councils’ ability to deliver services and normal maintenance programs.  

Internal Influences 

 

As well as external influences, there are several internal influences which are expected to impact the 2023-

24 Budget. These include: 

 

• Adjusted Underlying Result – An indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable 

Council to continue to provide core services and meet its objectives. Financial performance is 

expected to deteriorate over the period, continued operating losses means reliance on council's 

cash reserves or increased debt to maintain services. 

 

• Cash – Council holds cash to fund capital works, cash reserves allocated for specific purposes and 

to meet operational needs. Cash must be managed to ensure that sufficient cash is available to 

meet Councils’ obligations as and when they come due.  

 

• Working Capital – The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working 

capital forecast trend is to remain steady at an acceptable level. 

 

• Service Planning – Reviewing services to ensure that they meet the community needs is an 

ongoing process. Balancing the needs of the community within the constraints of the funds 

available is an ongoing challenge for Council. Council has to have a robust process for service 

planning and review to ensure all services continue to provide value for money and are in line with 

community expectations. 
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Economic Assumptions 

The assumptions for the 2023-24 budget have been updated based on current knowledge of economic 

drivers that impacting the revenue and expenses of Council. The below chart also includes the drivers used 

in the two prior year budgets for comparison. 

 

Escalation Factors % 
movement 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

CPI 0.07% 2.91% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

Growth 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Rates and charges 1.50% 1.75% 3.50% 2.75% 2.50% 2.00% 

Statutory fees and fines 1.00% 1.00% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 

User fees 1.00% 2.91% 2.00% 2.00% 1.50% 1.50% 

Grants - Operating 1.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 1.50% 1.50% 

Grants - Capital 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Other income 1.00% 1.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 2.50% 

Employee costs 1.50% 2.00% 2.50% 2.50% 2.00% 2.00% 

Materials and services 0.07% 2.91% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

Depreciation & Amortisation 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Other expenses 1.00% 2.91% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Utilities 4.00% 1.45% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 
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1. Link to the Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework 

This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within an overall 
planning and reporting framework. This framework guides Council in identifying community needs and 
aspirations over the long term (Campaspe Tomorrow), medium term (Council Plan) and short term (Budget) 
and then holding itself accountable (Annual Report). 

1.1 Legislative planning and accountability framework 

The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council 
requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the 
planning and accountability framework that applies to local government in Victoria. At each stage of the 
integrated planning and reporting framework there are opportunities for community and stakeholder input. 
This is important to ensure transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers. 

Source: Department of Jobs Precincts and Regions 

The timing of each component of the integrated planning framework is critical to the successful achievement 
of the planned outcomes. The Council Plan is required to be completed by 30 October following a general 
election. 

* MPHWP – Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 

   MSS – Municipal Strategic Statement 

   LGPRF – Local Government Performance Reporting Framework 
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1.1.2 Key planning considerations 

Service Level Planning 

 
Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, local 
roads, food safety and statutory planning—most council services are not legally mandated, including 
some services closely associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and sporting facilities. 
 
Further, over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. Therefore, councils need to 
have robust processes for service planning and review to ensure all services continue to provide value for 
money and are in line with community expectations. In doing so, councils should engage with 
communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance service provision against other 
responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works. 
 
Community consultation needs to be in line with Council’s adopted Community Engagement Policy and 
Public Transparency Policy. 
 
Council continues to review its services and has been working with communities in the development of 
Place Based Plans. 

 

1.2 Community Vision 

Our Vision 
Our places are vibrant and sustainable, our people are strong and supportive. 
 

Principles 
 
We are custodians and stewards, responsible for passing on a shire that meets the needs of generations 
beyond our own. Therefore, our work to create the Campaspe of the future is guided by the following 
principles: 
 

Inclusion  
 

Respect Sustainability 

Everybody is included and has 
something to contribute to the 
community. Nobody is left 
behind. Everybody should have 
an equal chance in life. 
 

Respectful relationships are the 
norm between individuals and 
within communities. We respect 
the diversity in our community, 
and in particular, we respect the 
contribution of our older 
residents, our young people, 
and those with Aboriginal 
cultural heritage. 

This is at the heart of everything 
we do. Sustainability is a key 
factor in planning for future land 
use, advocating for additional 
educational facilities, approving 
a development, or making 
decisions around how we use 
our infrastructure. 
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1.3 Council Plan 

Council delivers 141 activities under 25 service areas. Each contributes to the achievement of one or 
more of the five Strategic Objectives as set out in the Council Plan 2021-25. The following diagram shows 
the four themes and associated strategic objectives as described in the Council Plan.  
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Our Promise to our communities 
 
We are committed to working with community as partners and developing a culture that approaches 
issues cooperatively. This means listening carefully to our communities, engaging with each, and 
negotiating the best use of our assets and resources in our communities’ interests. To do this we know 
the following are important, and we will work hard to build on, and improve, how we work. 
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2. Services and service performance indicators 

Everyday we deliver services to our community. These services enable our community to be healthy, 
connected, prosperous and resilient.  
 
This section describes the services and initiatives to be funded in the 2023-24 year which contribute to 
achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan. It outlines a number of major initiatives, 
initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations. Council is 
required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators 
in the Budget and report against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability. 
The relationship between these accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the 
Annual Report is shown below. 

 
 
Performance indicators address the strategic objectives and are outlined on the following pages relating 
the objectives to the services and initiatives. 

  

DRAFT

Attachment 8.5.1.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 161



 

   Page 21 

Budget 2023-24  

2.1 Flourishing local economy 

Our priorities – Council Plan 2021-2025 

Campaspe’s economic drivers are numerous: agriculture, food production, manufacturing, health care and 
tourism. Many factors within Council’s control contribute directly to these and others, such as roads and 
land allocation, and many areas we indirectly support are also important, such as freight links and 
education. Our aim over this term is to re-establish a sound basis for investment in Campaspe and, to do 
this, we will build a program of advocacy that helps attract funding for local infrastructure, boosts vocational 
education, employs our people, especially younger people, and supports all major sectors of our economy. 

Strategic direction 

Flourishing and diverse local economies. 

Strategic objective  

 A resilient long-term economy attractive to local and external investors. 
 
 Stimulated economic activity that provides local jobs. 
 
Services 

Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  

  Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

Economic 
Development 

Rev 11,046 7,319 6,630 6,915 7,018 7,123  

Exp 13,285 8,492 8,867 9,027 9,239 9,456  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(2,239) (1,173) (2,237) (2,112) (2,221) (2,333)  

Description of 
services provided 

To contribute to a strong, diverse, and innovative local economy.  

 

Major initiatives 

We will 

▪ Commence the renewal and upgrade project at the Echuca Aerodrome. 

▪ We will undertake construction works at the Victoria Park Boat Ramp, including new retaining wall and 
accessible ramp. 

Other initiatives 

▪ Continue to implement upgrades to the Echuca Holiday Park identified through the master plan.  

▪ Deliver an Echuca and District Livestock Exchange Strategy that will define the priorities and strategic 
objectives of the service for the future. 

▪ Implement the Echuca West Precinct Structure Plan to encourage development of additional residential 
housing in Echuca. 

▪ Develop and implement the actions from the Economic Development and Tourism Strategy. 
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Service performance outcome indicators  

Service Performance Measure Economic Result 

Business 
Development 

Value of non-residential building approvals 2021-22 
^ $65.88 million 

Business 
Development 

Value of residential building approvals 2021-22 ^ 
$59.49 million 

 

^ Performance measures are sourced from Remplan Economic Profile and do not form part of the indicators 
reported under the Local Government Performance Reporting Framework.  
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2.2 Well planned places 

Our priorities - Council Plan 2021-2025 

Council has significant responsibilities to make Campaspe a great place, and these are focused on ensuring 
we have the land we need for the future, and that we’re well connected, within and outside the Shire. This 
means that Council, over this term, will invigorate and progress development of significant sites, such as 
the Bridge to Bridge locality, and identify future such sites. In addition, we will pay attention to ensuring 
we’ve got enough land available for living, working and industry. And, we’ll focus on the underlying 
infrastructure like drains and stormwater, and the aboveground open spaces that our communities rely 
upon. All whilst protecting our natural environment for future generations and planning with the changing 
climate in mind. Roads are a vital part of our Shire, and 50% of our budget will continue to be spent on 
them. But increasingly, we rely on digital communications also, so our advocacy efforts will be redoubled 
here.  

Strategic direction 

Land use for the future.  

Strategic objective 

 Attractive and useable sites of importance. 

 Land and underlying infrastructure suitable for growing populations. 

 Quality, attractive recreational spaces. 

Strategic direction 

Well connected within and outside. 

Strategic objective 

 Improved walkability and cyclability within townships. 

 Ability to travel safely and easily by road and rail. 

Digital connectedness maximising mobility, economic productivity, health care access and education 
participation. 
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Services 

Service area   2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27   

    Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections   

    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000   

Recreation 
Rev 278 215 257 262 266 270   

Exp 4,112 3,226 3,377 3,534 3,614 3,695   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(3,834) (3,010) (3,120) (3,272) (3,348) (3,425)   

Description of 
services provided 

To provide spaces and facilities to support recreation and community events that 
support community, social and health benefits. 

  

  

Aquatics 
Rev 965 1,015 1,215 1,239 1,257 1,276   

Exp 3,158 3,525 4,578 4,722 4,833 4,947   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(2,193) (2,511) (3,363) (3,483) (3,576) (3,671)   

Description of 
services provided 

To provide facilities that support swimming and aquatic water play   

  

Emergency 
Management 

Rev 18 57 60 60 60 60   

Exp 270 133 504 517 528 539   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(251) (76) (444) (457) (468) (479)   

Description of 
services provided 

To strengthen local capacity and capability and build community resilience in 
compliance with legislative responsibilities. 

  

  

Flood Recovery 
Rev 

                   
-  

1,503 
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
  

Exp 
                   

-  
2,254 

                 
-  

                 
-  

                 
-  

                 
-  

  

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

                   
-  

(751) 
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
  

Description of 
services provided 

To provide support to the community to assist in recovery from the October 2022 
flood. Council will continue to undertake flood recovery activities in 2023-24 and 
beyond but the costs have not been included in this budget and funding will be 
derived from various sources, which include State and Federal Government as well 
insurance. 

  

  

Engineering 
Rev 53 127 122 124 126 128   

Exp 441 598 637 517 529 540   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(388) (471) (516) (393) (403) (413)   

Description of 
services provided 

To ensure that Council's infrastructure is designed, constructed and maintained to 
provide a fit for purpose network for people across the Shire of Campaspe. 

  

  

Parks and 
Gardens 
Maintenance 

Rev 
                  

8  
                

8  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
  

Exp 5,372 5,333 6,638 2,703 2,760 2,819   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(5,365) (5,324) (6,638) (2,703) (2,760) (2,819)   

Description of 
services provided 

To provide safe and attractive public open spaces that support a range of recreation 
opportunities for community, social and environmental benefit. 
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Service area   2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27   

    Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections   

    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000   

  

Project 
Management 

Rev 
                   

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
  

Exp 809 670 697 721 737 753   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(809) (670) (697) (721) (737) (753)   

Description of 
services provided 

To ensure the efficient, timely and cost effective delivery of Council's Works 
Program. 

  

  

  

Road Services 
Rev 2,498 197 30 31 31 32   

Exp 33,565 23,239 25,844 25,539 26,084 26,641   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(31,066) (23,042) (25,814) (25,509) (26,053) (26,609)   

Description of 
services provided 

To ensure the operational and statutory functions of road and drainage infrastructure 
are in compliance with legislative responsibilities. 

  

  

Building and 
Planning 

Rev 766 673 629 639 648 658   

Exp 1,112 1,149 1,283 1,319 1,347 1,376   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(346) (475) (654) (680) (699) (718)   

Description of 
services provided 

To provided for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use and development of 
land across the Shire of Campaspe in compliance with legislative responsibilities. 

  

  

Strategic Asset 
Management 

Rev 
                   

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
                 

-  
  

Exp 746 812 1,040 1,066 1,089 1,114   

  
Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(746) (812) (1,040) (1,066) (1,089) (1,114)   

Description of 
services provided 

To provide strategic direction on the management of Council's assets to support the 
ongoing delivery of Council's services. 

  

 

Major initiatives 

We will 

▪ Complete the Toolleen Axedale Road widening project. 

▪ Continue stage two of the Rushworth Streetscape renewal project. 

Other initiatives 

▪ Complete storm water pump renewals at sites in Kyabram and Rochester. 

▪ Complete irrigation renewal projects in parks and gardens within Kyabram, Rochester and Echuca.  
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▪ Complete the Rushworth (Waranga) Rail Trail. 

▪ Finalise the Echuca Aquatic reserve designs and pursue funding opportunities. 

▪ Finalise the Victoria Park Multi-purpose building design and pursue funding opportunities. 

▪ Work with recreation reserve committees of management to identify sustainable infrastructure plans. 

▪ Complete the construction of Breen Ave Shared User Path (Kyabram). 

▪ Undertake a review of the shared path network across the shire. 

▪ Deliver our road resheeting and resealing programs. 

▪ Undertake a residential land review for the Shire. 

▪ Continue to provide free access to outdoor pools in 2023-24. 

 

Service performance outcome indicators 

Service Performance Measure 2021-22 Result 

Aquatics Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
(Number of visits to aquatic facilities per head of municipal 
population) 
(Computation: Number of visits to aquatic facilities / 
Population) 

3.31 

Planning and Building Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT 
(Percentage of planning application decisions subject to 
review by VCAT and that were not set aside) 

62.50% 

Works Satisfaction with sealed local roads 
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council 
has performed on the condition of sealed local roads) 

41.00 
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2.3 Resilient protected and healthy natural environment 

Our priorities - Council Plan 2021-2025 

Council has several responsibilities to ensure a resilient natural environment now, and for future 
generations especially in light of changing climate. Chief amongst these is to lead — and deliver — an 
environmentally and economically sustainable waste service. Our aim is to ultimately become a circular 
economy, so it’s important that we work with our communities to use less that ultimately becomes landfill. 
In addition, we will look carefully at our own practices, especially in water and energy use, and find ways to 
create less negative impact. We will continue to play an integral role in managing native vegetation and 
pest plants on roadsides and supporting the goal of ‘no net loss to biodiversity as a result of the removal, 
destruction or lopping of native vegetation’. We will support farmers and landowners to care for their land, 
to enable agricultural productivity into the future. Finally, we will act as steward for the land we manage, 
and as partners and advocates with other land managers so that we and future generations can have the 
best use and enjoyment of our Campaspe environment. 

Strategic direction 

Resilient Protected and healthy natural environment. 

Strategic objective  

 Well managed resources for a sustainable future. 

 Sustainable water and energy use. 

 Protected natural environment. 

Services 

  

Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  

  Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

Environment and 
Conservation  

Rev 89 84 90 90 91 91  

Exp 395 232 596 618 632 646  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(306) (148) (506) (527) (541) (555)  

Description of services 
provided 

To protect, enhance and conserve native flora and fauna through community 
education and programs. 

 

  

Environmental Health 

Rev 390 348 361 368 373 379  

Exp 933 951 1,019 1,049 1,072 1,095  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(543) (604) (658) (681) (699) (716)  

Description of services 
provided 

To protect and enhance the health and wellbeing of residents and visitors through 
the delivery of public health programs and services in compliance with legislative 
responsibilities. 
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Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  

  Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

  

Waste Collection and 
Management 

Rev 6,761 7,076 7,497 7,695 7,877 8,029  

Exp 6,583 7,698 7,857 8,093 8,292 8,497  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

179 (622) (360) 398 416 468  

Description of services 
provided 

To provide services for the removal of waste and the collection of recycling.  

 

Major initiatives 

We will 

▪ Complete upgrades to skip bin loading bays at the Colbinabbin, Lockington and Toolleen Resource 
Recovery Centres. 

▪ Incorporate sustainable water and energy use initiatives into the Victoria Park Multi-purpose building 
design. 

Other initiatives 

▪ Complete the Integrated Water Management project at the Echuca Aquatic Reserve drainage basin. 

▪ Develop an action plan for the implementation of the Urban Forest Strategy. 

▪ Carry out sampling and testing on closed landfills to understand the environmental risks and identify 
remediation actions if required. 

▪ Develop an Environmental Sustainability Design framework for Council projects.  

▪ Implement actions in accordance with the Domestic Wastewater Management Plan to minimise the 
impacts of domestic wastewater on human health, the natural environment and local amenity. 

▪ Develop and emissions reduction plan to assist in the delivery of Councils Environmental strategy. 

 

Service performance outcome indicators 

Service Performance Measure 2021-22 Result 

Waste Collection and 
Management 

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill 
(Percentage of garbage, recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins that is diverted from landfill) 

48.76% 

Environmental Health Critical and major non-compliance outcome notifications 
(Percentage of critical and major non-compliance outcome 
notifications that are followed up by council) 
(Computation: [Number of critical noncompliance outcome 
notifications and major noncompliance outcome notifications 
about a food premises followed up / Number of critical 
noncompliance outcome notifications and major 
noncompliance outcome notifications about food premises] 
x100) 

85.00% DRAFT
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2.4 Growing quality of life 

Our priorities - Council Plan 2021-2025 

Strong economies, resilient natural environments, and great places don’t automatically lead to a higher 
quality of life. But we will ensure that communities have a voice in how Council spends its limited budgets 
in each community’s interests, in a fair way. We will review services and make prudent decisions about 
improving those the community wants the most and divest ourselves of some that others can perform just 
as well or better than we can. Finally, we will work with our numerous Communities of Priority (identified in 
Council’s Access and Inclusion Plan) to ensure that Campaspe is a place that welcomes, and provides 
opportunities, for all. 

Strategic direction 

Growing quality of life. 

Strategic objective  

Communities have a say on local infrastructure and attractions that stimulate engagement and 
activity. 

 Effective and efficient services are available locally. 

 Children, young people and families are healthy and well. 

 Communities are inclusive, connected, culturally diverse and safe. 

Services 

 

Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  

  Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

  

Children's 
Services 

Rev 3,596 3,673 4,190 4,273 4,336 4,400  

Exp 4,714 4,780 5,183 5,333 5,447 5,562  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(1,118) (1,107) (993) (1,061) (1,111) (1,163)  

Description of 
services provided 

To provide families with access to a range of services that support the foundations for optimal 
growth and development of children in partnership with families 

  

Community 
Development 

Rev 129 154 97 98 98 99  

Exp 2,529 2,192 2,384 2,539 2,595 2,652  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(2,400) (2,037) (2,287) (2,442) (2,497) (2,553)  

Description of 
services provided 

To strengthen the understanding of community views and aspirations to inform decision 
making. 
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Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  

  Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

  

Library 

Rev 523 466 457 466 473 480  

Exp 1,898 1,897 2,026 2,081 2,128 2,177  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(1,375) (1,431) (1,569) (1,615) (1,655) (1,697)  

Description of 
services provided 

To provide space, activities and items that support access to information and knowledge. 

  

Regulatory 
Compliance 

Rev 2,241 2,579 2,570 2,618 2,657 2,697  

Exp 3,062 2,906 3,362 3,449 3,525 3,602  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(820) (327) (792) (831) (868) (905)  

Description of 
services provided 

To protect the safety and amenity of the built and natural environment and public infrastructure 
for the use and enjoyment of community members and visitors in compliance with legislative 
responsibilities. 

 

Major initiatives 

We will 

▪ Deliver a Library Services Strategy that will define the priorities and strategic objectives of the service. 

▪ Deliver stage 2 of the Rochester Early Learning centre redevelopment to meet childcare demand in the 
Rochester district. 

Other initiatives 

▪ Develop a multi-year action plan for the Municipal Early Years Plan 2023-25. 

▪ Work in partnership with the Department of Education to review the Kindergarten Infrastructure and 
Services Plan, which will define kindergarten infrastructure demand across the municipality. 

▪ Implement actions arising from audits on the cultural safety of Council’s Maternal and Child Health and 
Centre Based Care services. 

▪ Establish an Outdoor pool calendar of events in collaboration with local community groups.  

▪ Work with community groups to increase activities at stadiums, including provision of Council run 
programs for community participation. 

▪ Complete the renewal and upgrade of the Rushworth Service Centre and Library. 

▪ Implement the Arbovirus program throughout the active season (typically November to March). 

▪ Develop a Cultural Diversity Plan. 
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▪ Continue to develop Place Based Plans for communities. 

▪ Develop township facilities plans for Kyabram, Tongala and Colbinabbin. 

▪ Increase the contribution made to Department of Energy, Environment and Climate Action (DEECA) 
halls to $2,000 per hall. 

▪ Increase in the Grant Program for Community Houses 

▪ Additional library resources, both books and digital resources. 

▪ Continue to provide free access to outdoor pools in 2023-24. 

 

Service performance outcome indicators 

Service Performance Measure 2021-22 Result 

Library Active Library Borrowers in Municipality 
(Percentage of the municipal population that are active 
library members) 
(Computation: [The sum of the number of active library 
borrowers in the last 3 financial year / the sum of the 
population in the last 3 financial years] x100.) 

12.33% 

Children’s Services Participation in the Maternal Child Health (MCH) Service 
(Percentage of children enrolled who participate in the MCH 
service) 
(Computation: [Number of children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the financial year) / Number of 
children enrolled in the MCH] x 100). 

69.11% 

Children’s Services Participation in Maternal Child Health (MCH) Service 
(Percentage of Aboriginal children enrolled who participate 
in the MCH service) 
(Computation: [Number of Aboriginal children who attend 
the MCH service at least once (in the financial year) / 
Number of Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH] x 100). 
 

78.23% 

Regulatory Compliance Animal Management Prosecutions  
(Number of successful animal management prosecutions) 

0.00 

Governance Satisfaction with council decisions 
(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with how council 
has performed in making decisions in the interests of the 
community) 

43.00 
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2.5 Organisational support 

Council requires organisational support functions to ensure that our community focused services can 
continue to be provided in an effective and efficient manner. It ensures responsible management of 
resources, technology support, regulatory reporting and fiscal controls. 

Services 

Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  
 

 Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

Financial Services Rev 355 73 68 236 240 245  

Exp 2,839 1,639 1,919 1,971 2,011 2,052  
 

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(2,484) (1,565) (1,851) (1,736) (1,771) (1,807)  

Description of 
services provided 

To ensure Council's revenue and expenditure is managed and controlled in a 
responsible manner to support the delivery of Council services and enable Council to 
plan for its long term financial sustainability. 

 

  

Governance Rev 29 4 1 1 1 1  

Exp 1,170 1,432 2,552 2,178 2,228 2,280  
 

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(1,141) (1,428) (2,551) (2,177) (2,227) (2,278)  

Description of 
services provided 

To provide support and advice to councillors and the organisation to ensure 
compliance with legislative responsibilities. 

 

  

Human Resources Rev -   -   -   -   -   -   

Exp 674 566 721 743 756 770  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(674) (566) (721) (743) (756) (770)  

Description of 
services provided 

To partner with all parts of the organisation to provide support, tools and advice to 
create and facilitate a healthy and sustainable workforce. 

 

  

Information 
Management 
(Records) 

Rev -   -   -   -   -   -   

Exp 136 149 198 204 208 211  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(136) (149) (198) (204) (208) (211)  

Description of 
services provided To ensure creation, capture and maintenance, retrieval and protection of records and 

information in compliance with legislative responsibilities. 
 

  

Information 
Communication 
Technology 

Rev 2  -    -   -   -   -   

Exp 1,071 1,076 1,932 1,967 2,009 2,053  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(1,070) (1,076) (1,932) (1,967) (2,009) (2,053)  

Description of 
services provided 

To facilitate the effective delivery of Council services and enhance community 
interaction with Council 
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Service area  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27  
 

 Actuals 
Forecast 

Budget 
Budget Projections  

 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

  

Organisational 
Strategy and 
Performance 

Rev 430   18   24   -   -   -   

Exp 3,769 4,531 2,710 2,703 2,760 2,819  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(3,340) (4,513) (2,686) (2,703) (2,760) (2,819)  

Description of 
services provided To ensure Council's energy is focused and that Council and Officers are working 

towards the same goals through overseeing development of key organisation-wide 
strategic directions, plans and monitoring performance. 

 

  

Plant and Fleet 
Management 

Rev 2,863   -   506   -   -   -   

Exp 1,846 177 1,519 266 259 252  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

1,017 (177) (1,014) (266) (259) (252)  

Description of 
services provided 

To plan for and effectively manage Council's plant and fleet to support the ongoing 
delivery of Council's services. 

 

  

Property Management Rev 1,628 690 416 427 438 448  

Exp 3,691 3,221 3,199 3,303 3,380 3,459  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(2,063) (2,531) (2,782) (2,875) (2,941) (3,011)  

Description of 
services provided 

To plan for and effectively manage and maximise the use of land managed by 
Council to support the ongoing delivery of Council's services. 

 

  

Customer 
Communications 

Rev 16   -   -   -   -   -    

Exp 1,351 1,561 1,546 1,595 1,627 1,660  

Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

(1,335) (1,561) (1,546) (1,595) (1,627) (1,660)  

Description of 
services provided 

To connect the community with Council.  

 

Major initiatives 

We will 

• Commence the delivery of an upgraded Request Management system. 

• Purchase new plant and equipment, made up of the following, to maintain roads and public open 
spaces: 

▪ One grader 

▪ Five utes 
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▪ Two truck and dog trailers 

▪ Tractor and roller 

▪ Prime mover and water cart 

▪ Fuel cart 

▪ Excavator and trailer 

▪ Four trucks (8 & 12 tonne) 

▪ Stump grinder and chipper 

▪ Weed spraying equipment. 

Other initiatives 

• Implement communications media monitoring - to allow electronic monitoring of all media, including 
social media. 

• Continued updating of Information Communications Technology security solutions. 

• Continue to update key technology systems to improve customer interactions, for both external and 
internal customers. 

• We will review and update the 10-year Finance Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT

Attachment 8.5.1.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 175



 

   Page 35 

Budget 2023-24  

2.6 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result 

The following tables provide the net cost of delivering services and strategies identified under Our 
Priorities in the Council Plan 2021-2025, and the general funding sources that contribute to those 
services and strategies. 

 

Strategic Objectives 

    Net Cost 

Revenue Expenditure Subsidy 

$’000 $’000 $’000 

Flourishing local economy 6,630 8,867 (2,237) 

Well planned places 2,312 44,596 (42,284) 

Resilient protected and healthy natural 
environment 

7,947 9,472 (1,524) 

Growing quality of life 7,315 12,955 (5,640) 

Organisational support 1,015 16,296 (15,281) 

Total 25,219 92,186 (66,967) 

       

Expenses added in:       

Other       

Deficit before funding sources     (66,967) 

Funding sources added in:       

Rates and charges     42,672 

Grants Commission     14,513 

Interest Income     2,030 

Capital grants     2,623 

Other     202 

Total funding sources      62,039 

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year (4,928) 
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2.7    Council Expenditure allocation per $100 

 
 
The above chart provides an indication of how Council allocates its net expenditure across the main 
services that it delivers. It shows how much is allocated to each service area for every $100 that Council 
spends. 
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3. Financial statements 

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human 
Resources. The budget information for the year 2023/24 has been supplemented with projections to 
2026/27. 

 
This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 
 
Comprehensive Income Statement 
Balance Sheet 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Statement of Capital Works 
Statement of Human Resources 
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Comprehensive Income Statement                

For the four years ending 30 
June 2027                 

    Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast Budget Projections 

    2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

  Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

                  
Revenue from ordinary 
activities                 

Rates income 5.1.1  39,825   40,961   41,475   42,672   44,131   45,297   46,236  

Garbage charge 5.1.1  5,954   6,245   5,944   6,447   6,339   6,434   6,530  

Statutory fees and fines 5.1.3  1,861   1,465   1,330   1,270   1,289   1,308   1,328  

Grants commission 5.1.2  16,516   13,225   10,308   14,513   12,395   12,518   12,644  

Other recurrent grants 5.1.2  2,580   1,518   3,222   1,604   4,038   4,157   4,277  

Recurrent capital grants 5.1.2  6,482   2,623   598   2,623   2,623   2,623   2,623  

Non-recurrent capital grants 5.1.2  1,724   -   2,048   -   -   -   -  

User fees 5.1.4  14,610   15,108   14,185   15,598   13,338   13,538   13,741  

Contributions - monetary    511   -   10   -   -   -   -  

Contributions - non monetary    961   -   620   -   -   -   -  

Interest and other income 5.1.5  1,102   1,078   2,256   2,423   2,495   2,570   2,635  

Total revenues    92,126   82,222   81,997   87,149   86,648   88,446   90,013  

                  
Expenses from ordinary 
activities                 

Employee benefits 5.1.6  29,361   31,035   29,937   34,600   35,163   35,866   36,583  

Materials and services 5.1.7  26,095   26,307   27,328   27,403   27,053   27,773   28,271  

Depreciation 5.1.9  20,626   20,959   22,013   23,214   23,258   23,723   24,198  

Depreciation leased assets    471   71   71   78   80   81   83  

Finance costs    88   146   168   133   111   38   11  
Finance Costs - lease 
liabilities    18   -   15   16   27   25   21  

Bad and doubtful debts    188   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Other expenses 5.1.8  4,176   5,182   4,922   6,741   5,884   6,031   6,182  

Total expenses    81,023   83,701   84,454   92,186   91,576   93,538   95,348  

                  
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 

  

(5,104)  650   356   110  (190) (190) (190) 
                  
Total comprehensive 
result    5,999  (829) (2,100) (4,928) (5,118) (5,282) (5,525) 
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Balance Sheet                 

For the four years ending 30 June 2027         

    Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast Budget Projections 

    2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

  Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

                  

Current assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents    10,289   1,022   4,779   4,384   4,178   4,893   5,276  

Trade and other receivables    4,068   3,607   4,915   5,191   5,338   5,481   5,603  

Inventories    728   942   913   900   931   953   970  

Financial assets    59,020   53,940   59,883   50,506   41,850   39,326   34,998  

Other assets    2,416   870   1,212   1,157   1,186   1,209   1,230  

Non-current assets 
classified as held for sale    -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Total current assets 6.2  76,521   60,381   71,701   62,138   53,483   51,862   48,077  

                

Non-current assets                 

Trade and other receivables    16   27   31   32   33   34   35  

Right of use assets    309   1,377   238   1,160   1,580   1,799   1,916  

Financial assets    28,000   17,590   23,137   19,514   16,170   15,194   13,522  

Property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment   

 
773,637   736,208   776,494   780,771  

 
785,838  

 
781,503  

 
779,979  

Intangible assets    3,919   3,721   3,919   3,919   3,919   3,919   3,919  

Total non-current assets 6.2 
 

805,881   758,923   803,819   805,397  
 

807,541  
 

802,450  
 

799,371  

Total assets   
 

882,402   819,304   875,520   867,534  
 

861,024  
 

854,312  
 

847,448  

                  

Current liabilities                 

Trade and other payables    8,036   6,822   7,769   7,655   7,935   8,144   8,300  

Trust funds and deposits    2,227   2,716   2,216   2,216   2,216   2,216   2,216  

Unearned Income    6,135   1,408   3,507   1,715   1,722   1,728   1,734  

Provisions    5,923   5,924   5,746   5,560   5,375   5,191   5,006  

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  6.1  1,430   1,418   3,185   1,660   1,219   1,112   -  

Lease Liabilities    205   1,079   180   333   606   501   393  

Total current liabilities 6.3  23,956   19,367   22,603   19,138   19,073   18,891   17,650  
                  

Non-current liabilities                 

Trust funds and deposits    18   18   29   29   29   29   29  

Provisions    1,818   1,757   1,755   1,691   1,626   1,570   1,515  

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings  6.1  5,090   7,279   2,407   2,331   1,112   -   -  

Lease Liabilities    116   1,242   41   589   545   465   423  

Total non-current liabilities 6.3  7,042   10,296   4,233   4,640   3,312   2,064   1,967  

Total liabilities    30,998   29,663   26,836   23,778   22,385   20,956   19,616  

Net assets   
 

851,404   789,640   848,684   843,756  
 

838,638  
 

833,357  
 

827,832  
                  

Equity                 

Accumulated surplus   
 

324,051   332,168   329,308   319,532  
 

314,413  
 

309,132  
 

303,607  

Asset revaluation reserves   
 

497,947   440,200   497,947   497,947  
 

497,947  
 

497,947  
 

497,947  

Other reserves    29,406   17,272   21,429   26,278   26,278   26,278   26,278  

Total equity 6.4 
 

851,404   789,640   848,684   843,756  
 

838,638  
 

833,357  
 

827,832  
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Budget 2023-24  

Statement of Changes in Equity         

For the four years ending 30 June 2026         

  
  

Total 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
Other 

Reserves 

    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2021-22 Actual           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 787,658 322,217 440,200 25,241 

Comprehensive result 5,999 5,999 - - 

Net asset revaluation increment 
(decrement) 

57,747 - 57,747 - 

Transfer to reserves 
               

-    
(9,821) - 9,821 

Transfer from reserves - 5,656 - (5,656) 

Balance at end of the financial year 851,404 324,051 497,947 29,406 

            

2022-23 Budget           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 790,470 325,879 439,350 25,241 

Comprehensive result (829) (829) - - 

Transfer to reserves 
                 

-  
(2,581) 

                    
-  

2,581 

Transfer from reserves 
                 

-  
10,550 

                    
-  

(10,550) 

Balance at end of the financial year 789,640 333,018 439,350 17,272 

            

2022-23 Budget Forecast           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 851,404 324,051 497,947 29,406 

Comprehensive result (2,100) (2,100) - - 

Recognition of assets from prior year (620) (620) - - 

Balance at end of the financial year 848,684 329,308 497,947 21,429 

            

2023-24 Budget           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 848,684 329,308 497,947 21,429 

Comprehensive result (4,928) (4,928) - - 

Transfer to reserves 
               

-    
4,750 - (4,750) 

Transfer from reserves 
               

-    
(9,599) - 9,599 

Balance at end of the financial year 843,756 319,531 497,947 26,278 

            

2024-25 Projection           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 843,756 319,531 497,947 26,278 

Comprehensive result (5,118) (5,118) - - 

Balance at end of the financial year 838,638 314,413 497,947 26,278 

            

2025-26 Projection   
        

Balance at beginning of the financial year 838,638 314,413 497,947 26,278 

Comprehensive result (5,282) (5,282) - - 

Balance at end of the financial year 833,356 309,131 497,947 26,278 

            

2026-27 Projection           

Balance at beginning of the financial year 833,356 309,131 497,947 26,278 

Comprehensive result (5,525) (5,525) - - 

Balance at end of the financial year 827,831 303,606 497,947 26,278 
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Budget 2023-24  

Statement of Cash Flow                

For the four years ending 30 June 2027           

  Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast Budget Projections 

  2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Cash flows from operating 
activities               

Rates and charges  46,199   47,135   47,311   49,037   50,404   51,670   52,716  

Statutory fees and fines  1,934   1,465   2,665   1,270   1,289   1,308   1,328  

User fees and other fines 
(inclusive of GST)  15,385   15,108   14,185   15,598   13,338   13,538   13,741  
Operating grants (inclusive of 
GST)  19,096   14,733   13,275   16,180   16,441   16,681   16,927  
Capital grants (inclusive of 
GST)  9,686   1,770   274   766   2,623   2,623   2,623  

Interest received  548   700   1,488   2,030   2,091   2,154   2,207  

Net GST (payment)/refund  1,589   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Contributions - monetary  511     10          

Other receipts  438   294  (183)  248   305   318   340  

Proceeds/(repayment) of trusts 
and deposits (488)  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Payments to suppliers 
(inclusive of GST) (25,087) (26,209) (27,753) (27,550) (26,865) (27,635) (28,178) 

Payments to employees (29,113) (31,235) (30,137) (34,800) (35,363) (36,066) (36,783) 

Short-term, low value and 
variable lease payments (145)  -   -   -   -   -   -  

Other payments (4,612) (5,182) (4,922) (6,741) (5,884) (6,031) (6,182) 
Net cash from operating 
activities  35,941   18,578   16,214   16,037   18,378   18,560   18,739  

                

Cash flows from investing 
activities               
Payments for property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

(25,529) (41,359) (24,513) (27,382) (28,215) (19,278) (22,563) 

Proceeds from sale of property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

 3,221   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Proceeds / (payments) for 
investments (20,489)  20,000   4,000   13,000   12,000   3,500   6,000  
Net cash from investing 
activities (42,797) (21,359) (20,513) (14,382) (16,215) (15,778) (16,563) 

                

Finance costs (88) (146) (168) (133) (111) (38) (11) 

Interest paid - lease liability (18)  -  (15) (16) (27) (25) (21) 

Repayment of borrowings (1,073) (1,384) (927) (1,602) (1,660) (1,219) (1,112) 

Proceeds from borrowings  4,262   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Repayment of lease 
liabilities (477)  -  (100) (299) (571) (785) (650) 
Net cash from financing 
activities  2,606  (1,530) (1,211) (2,050) (2,369) (2,067) (1,793) 

                

Net increase/(decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents 

(4,250) (4,312) (5,510) (395) (205)  714   383  

Cash and cash equivalents at 
start of period 

 14,539   5,334   10,289   4,779   4,384   4,178   4,893  

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period 

 10,289   1,022   4,779   4,384   4,178   4,893   5,276  
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Budget 2023-24  

Budgeted Statement of Capital Works             

For the four years ending 30 June 2027             

  Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast Budget Projections 

  
2021-

22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

                

Capital works area               

Property               

Land  -   4,923   -   -   -   -   -  

Land improvements  -   -   492   -   2,000   -   -  

Total land  -   4,923   492   -   2,000   -   -  

Buildings  1,329   6,750   7,237   4,261   1,911   2,205   2,339  

Heritage buildings  238   -   -   47   -   -   -  

Total buildings  1,567   6,750   7,237   4,307   1,911   2,205   2,339  

Total property  1,567   11,673   7,729   4,307   3,911   2,205   2,339  

             
Plant and equipment            
Heritage plant and equipment  690   -   -   -   -   -   -  
Plant, machinery and 
equipment  2,353   3,887   1,892   6,566   2,492   1,930   1,059  

Computers and 
telecommunications  54   -   -   50   -   -   -  

Total plant and equipment  3,097   3,887   1,892   6,616   2,492   1,930   1,059  

            
Infrastructure            
Roads  9,861   9,833   7,041   6,691   10,152   8,465   9,316  

Bridges  627   2,763   1,186   859   1,720   1,404   1,238  

Footpaths and cycleways  1,269   3,862   2,951   1,659   3,098   1,378   1,080  

Drainage  2,415   2,274   2,677   1,928   2,791   2,516   5,455  

Recreational, leisure and 
community facilities  6,151   1,780   409   1,044   2,770   1,039   1,165  

Waste management  55   373   175   901   435   -   -  

Parks, open space and 
streetscapes  -   107   103   200   119   127   134  

Aerodromes  -   4,700   -   3,177   -   -   -  

Other infrastructure  455   107   350   -   25   -   550  

Total infrastructure  20,833   25,800   14,892   16,459   21,110   14,929   18,938  

             

Total capital works  25,497   41,359   24,513   27,382   27,513   19,064   22,336  

Represented by:            
New  1,602   10,265   6,381   2,023   4,368   550   951  

Renewal  17,382   20,297   11,619   21,199   17,990   16,609   19,161  

Expansion/upgrade  6,513   10,798   6,513   4,160   5,155   1,905   2,224  

Total capital works  25,497   41,359   24,513   27,382   27,513   19,064   22,336  

Funding sources represented 
by       

  

   
Grants   16,330  -   4,145   2,623   2,623   2,623  

Council cash   25,029  -   23,237   24,890   16,441   19,713  
Total capital works 
expenditure   41,359  -   27,382   27,513   19,064   22,336  
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Budget 2023-24  

Statement of Human Resources           

For the four years ending 30 June 2027           

  Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Projections 

  2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

  $’000 $000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Staff expenditure               

Employee costs - operating 32,285 29,911 28,789 33,294 33,824 34,494 35,177 

Employee costs - capital 1,117 1,124 1,148 1,306 1,339 1,372 1,406 

Total staff expenditure  29,361 31,035 29,937 34,600 35,163 35,866 36,583 

                

Staff numbers FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Employees 322.80 335.60 335.60 354.28 354.28 354.28 354.28 

Total staff numbers 322.80 335.60 335.60 354.28 354.28 354.28 354.28 

 

Full time equivalents (FTE’s) have been reviewed in preparing the budget and reflect all costs included in 
the budget, this includes the full FTE of all positions within the current establishment, whether the position 
is currently filled or not, as well as FTE worked by casuals and budgeted leave backfill for positions.   

 A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of 
council is included below: 

Division 

    Comprises     

  Budget Permanent     

  2023-24 
Full 

Time 
Part time Casual Temporary 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Office of CEO    943  943 - - - 

Corporate   5,353  4,517 836 - - 

Communities    10,772  5,373 2,739 2,660 - 

Sustainability    4,188  3,840 348 - - 

Emergency Management     404  343 61 - - 

Infrastructure    10,907  10,454 261 192 - 

Total permanent staff expenditure    32,567  25,470 4,245 2,852 - 

Other expenditure    727          

Capitalised labour costs    1,306          

Total expenditure    34,600          

 

 A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) council staff in relation to the above expenditure is 
included below.  

Division     Comprises 

    Budget Permanent Casual Temporary 

    2023-24 
Full 

Time 
Part time     

Office of CEO    6.00  6.00 - - - 
Corporate    42.35  35.00 7.35 - - 
Communities    109.22  52.00 29.04 28.18 - 
Sustainability    37.62  34.00 3.62 - - 

Emergency Management     2.68  2.00 0.68 - - 
Infrastructure    148.41  144.00 2.63 1.78 - 

Total permanent staff expenditure    346.28  273.00 43.32 29.96 - 
Capitalised labour costs    8.00          

Total staff    354.28          
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Budget 2023-24  

Summary of Planned Human Resource 
Expenditure 

        

For the four years ending 30 June 
2025 

           

             

    Budget Projections 

    2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

Department   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Office of CEO        

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female   830 847 864 881 

Male   113 115 118 120 

Permanent - Part time        

Female   - - - - 

Male   - - - - 

Total Office of CEO     943 962 981 1,001 

Corporate          

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female    3,218  3,282 3,315 3,348 
Male    1,299  1,325 1,338 1,352 
Permanent - Part time        

Female   690 704 711 718 
Male   146 149 152 155 

Total Corporate     5,353 5,460 5,516 5,573 

Communities          

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female   4,612 4,704 4,751 4,799 
Male   761 776 784 792 
Permanent - Part time        

Female   2,633 2,686 2,713 2,740 
Male   106 108 109 110 

Total Communities     8,112 8,274 8,357 8,441 

Emergency Management          

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female   - - - - 
Male   343 350 357 364 
Permanent - Part time        

Female   61 62 63 65 
Male   - - - - 

Total /Emergency Management      404 412 420 429 

Sustainability          

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female   1,666 1,683 1,699 1,723 
Male   2,174 2,196 2,218 2,262 
Permanent - Part time        

Female   348 351 355 362 
Male   - - - - 

Total Sustainability     4,188 4,230 4,272 4,348 

Infrastructure          

Permanent - Fulltime        

Female   2,582 2,608 2,634 2,660 
Male   8,710 8,647 8,834 9,022 
Permanent - Part time        

Female   82 83 84 84 
Male   173 175 176 178 

Total Infrastructure     11,547 11,512 11,728 11,945 

Other employee related expenses     2,747 2,993 3,260 3,503 

Total operating staff expenditure     30,547 30,851 31,274 31,735 

Total Capitalised Labour expenditure     1,306 1,319 1,332 1,346 

Total staff expenditure     34,600 35,163 35,866 36,583 

Summary of Planned Human Resource Full Time 
Equivalent       

For the four years ending 30 June 2025          
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Budget 2023-24  

  Budget Projections 

  2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

Department FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Office of CEO      

Permanent - Fulltime      

   Female  5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 

   Male  1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Permanent  - Part time      

   Female  0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 

   Male  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total Office of CEO 6.80 6.80 6.80 6.80 

Corporate      

Permanent - Fulltime   
   

   Female  21.00 21.00 21.00 21.00 

   Male  11.00 11.00 11.00 11.00 

Permanent  - Part time      

   Female  6.22 6.22 6.22 6.22 

   Male  1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 

Total Corporate 39.82 39.82 39.82 39.82 

Communities      

Permanent - Fulltime      

   Female  45.00 45.00 45.00 45.00 

   Male  7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 

Permanent  - Part time      

   Female  28.09 28.09 28.09 28.09 

   Male  0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 

Total Communities 81.03 81.03 81.03 81.03 

Sustainability      

Permanent - Fulltime      

   Female  14.00 14.00 14.00 14.00 

   Male  19.00 19.00 19.00 19.00 

Permanent  - Part time      

   Female  3.62 3.62 3.62 3.62 

   Male  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total Sustainability 36.62 36.62 36.62 36.62 

Infrastructure      

Permanent - Fulltime      

   Female  27.00 27.00 27.00 27.00 

   Male  111.00 111.00 111.00 111.00 

Permanent  - Part time      

   Female  0.84 0.84 0.84 0.84 

   Male  1.78 1.78 1.78 1.78 

Total Infrastructure 140.62 140.62 140.62 140.62 

Casual and other staff 41.39 41.39 41.39 41.39 

Total operating staff 304.89 304.89 304.89 304.89 

Capitalised Labour 8.00 8.00 8.00 8.00 

Total staff 354.28 354.28 354.28 354.28 
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   Budget 2023- 24 
 

4a Target performance indicators - Financial 

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators 
provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives. 

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual 
Report. 

  

  

  Actual Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget 
Target Target Projections Trend 

Indicator 
Measure 

Notes 2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 +/o/- 

Operating position                   
Adjusted underlying 
result 

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 
underlying revenue 

1 (4.23%) (4.34%) (6.83%) (8.93%) (9.21%) (9.21%) (9.32%) - 

Liquidity                     

Working Capital Current assets / current liabilities 2 319.42% 311.76% 317.21% 324.68% 280.40% 274.53% 272.40% - 

Unrestricted cash Unrestricted cash / current liabilities 2 215.27% 233.24% 218.78% 213.81% 177.98% 177.97% 175.72% - 

Obligations                     

Loans and borrowings Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 
revenue 

3 14.24% 18.42% 11.79% 8.12% 4.62% 2.15% 0.00% + 

Loans and borrowings Interest and principal repayments on loans and 
borrowings / rate revenue 

3 2.54% (3.24%) 2.31% 3.53% 3.51% 2.43% 2.13% + 

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 3 11.12% 15.87% 6.49% 6.78% 4.90% 2.99% 2.79% + 

Asset renewal Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset 
depreciation 

4 115.85% 148.36% 82.37% 109.24% 105.00% 105.00% 105.00% o 

Stability                     

Rates concentration Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 5 55.53% 59.30% 60.24% 58.11% 60.07% 60.28% 60.38% o 

Rates effort Rate revenue / property values (CIV) 6 0.50% 0.43% 0.58% 0.44% 0.43% 0.43% 0.42% o 

Efficiency                     

Expenditure level Total expenditure / no. of assessments 7 $4,025 $3,896 $3,986 $4,320 $4,304 $4,396 $4,481 + 

Revenue Level Residential rate revenue / no. of residential 
assessments 

8 $1,865 $1,922 $1,966 $2,002 $2,070 $2,124 $2,168 o DRAFT
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   Budget 2023- 24 

 

 

4b Target performance indicators - Services 

The following tables highlight Council’s current and projected performance across a selection of targeted service and financial performance indicators. 
These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s intentions and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s 
objectives. 
 
The targeted performance indicators below are the prescribed performance indicators contained in Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2020. Results against these indicators and targets will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual 
Report. 
 

 Indicator 

Measure 

N
o

te
s
 

Actual Budget Forecast Target Target Projections Trend 

2021-22 2022-23 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 +/o/- 

Governance  

 
         

Satisfaction with 
community 
consultation and 
engagement  

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 
the consultation and engagement efforts of 
Council 

9 42 NA 45 50 51 52 53 + 

Roads 

 
         

Sealed local roads 
below the intervention 
level  

Number of kms of sealed local roads below 
the renewal intervention level set by Council / 
Kms of sealed local roads 

10 97.41% NA 95.00% 98.00% 98.00% 98.00% 98.00% o 

Statutory planning 

 
         

Planning applications 
decided within the 
relevant required time  

Number of planning application decisions 
made within the relevant required time / 
Number of decisions made 

11 97.76% NA 90.00% 90.00% 90.00% 90.00% 90.00% o 

Waste management 

 
         

Kerbside collection 
waste diverted from 
landfill  

Weight of recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins / Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins 

12 48.76% NA 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% o 
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Key to forecast trend: 

+  Forecast’s improvement in council's financial performance/financial position indicator. 

o  Forecasts that council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady. 

 -  Forecast’s deterioration in council's financial performance/financial position indicator. 

Notes to indicators: 

1. Adjusted underlying result – An indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable council to continue to provide core services and meet 
its objectives. Financial performance is expected to deteriorate over the period, continued operating losses means reliance on council's cash reserves 
or increased debt to maintain services. 

2. Working capital and Unrestricted cash – The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working capital forecast trend is to decline 
in the forecast period due to additional borrowings increasing current liabilities. 

3. Debt compared to rates - Trend indicates council's reducing reliance on debt against its annual rate revenue through redemption of long-term debt.  

4. Asset renewal - This percentage indicates the extent of council's renewal of assets against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in 
value of its existing capital assets). A percentage greater than 100 indicates council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 
100 means its assets are deteriorating faster than they are being renewed and future capital expenditure will be required to renew assets. 

5. Rates concentration - Reflects extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of council's ongoing services. Trend indicates that council’s reliance on 
rate revenue will remain steady compared to other sources of revenue. This is due to the constraints of rate capping. 

6. Rates effort - Reflects the level of rates as a percentage of property values. Trend indicates that council’s that this will remain steady in future years. 

7. Expenditure levels – Reflects the level of total expenditure per property assessment. Trend indicates this will increase in future years. 

8. Revenue levels – Reflects the average level of rates to be raised per property assessment. Trend indicates this will remain steady in future years 
due to rate capping constraints. 
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9. Satisfaction with community consultation and engagement – Reflects the level of community satisfaction with how council engages with the 
community. Council has set targets to improve this measure. 

 

10. Sealed local roads below the intervention level – Reflects the quantity of roads that council maintains at the required levels.  

 
11. Planning applications decided within the relevant required time – Reflects the time taken to make a decision on planning applications. The availability 

of qualified planners is predicted to impact negatively on this indicator in the future. 

 
12. Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill – Reflects the percentage of waste that is diverted from landfill. Council has set a target to reduce the 

amount of waste that goes to landfill by increasing education programs.  
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5. Notes to financial statements 

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. Council needs 
to assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these components. 

5.1  Comprehensive income statement 

5.1.1 Rates and charges 

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget. 

As per the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan which is a four 
year plan for how Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, programs and services and capital 
works commitments over a four-year period. 

In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for 
future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the financial planning process. The Fair 
Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2023/24 
the FGRS cap has been set at 3.50%. The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is 
calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and charges. 

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other 
sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community. 

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the 
average general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 3.50% in line with the rate cap. 

This will raise total rates and charges for 2023/24 to $49.119 million. 

5.1.1 (a)  The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as 
follows: 

  

Budget 
Forecast 

Budget 
Change 

2022-23 2023-24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

General rates* 37,136 38,368 1,233 3.32% 
Municipal charge* 4,140 4,154 14 0.35% 
Waste management charge 5,944 6,447 503 8.46% 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 200 150 (50) (25.00%) 

Interest on rates and charges                      -                           -    0 0.00% 

Total rates and charges              47,419                  49,119                  1,700    

 

*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the Fair Go Rates System. 
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5.1.1 (b)  The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under Section 158 of the Act for each type or 
class of land compared with the previous financial year. 

Type or class of land 

2022-23 2023-24 

Change cents/$CIV* cents/$CIV* 

General land      0.0033174         0.0029377  (0.00038) 

Farm land      0.0029857         0.0026439  (0.00034) 

Commercial land      0.0038482         0.0034077  (0.00044) 

Industrial land      0.0038482         0.0034077  (0.00044) 

Cultural and recreation      0.0016587         0.0014688  (0.00019) 

 
5.1.1 (c)  The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, 

and the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial 
year. 

Type or class of land 

Budget Annualised 
rates 

Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24   

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 
General land             21,677                21,928              21,984  0.26% 
Farm land               9,481                  9,521              10,830  13.75% 
Commercial land               3,598                  3,679                 3,742  1.73% 
Industrial land               1,770                  1,804                 1,812  0.49% 
Cultural and recreation                      -                           -    0.00% 
Municipal charge               4,124                  4,154                 4,154  0.00% 

Total amount to be raised by general rates             40,650                41,084              42,522  3.50% 

 

5.1.1 (d)  The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of 
assessments compared with the previous financial year. 

Type or class of land 

2022-23 2023-24 Change 

Number Number Number % 

General land             15,893                16,009  116 0.73% 

Farm land               3,773                  3,765  (8) (0.21%) 

Commercial land               1,145                  1,142  (3) (0.26%) 

Industrial land                  505                      541  36 7.13% 

Cultural and recreation                     34                        34  0 0.00% 

Total number of assessments             21,350                21,491  141   

 

5.1.1 (e)  The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV). 

5.1.1 (f)  The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land 
compared with the previous financial year. 

Type or class of land 
2022-23 2023-24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

General land       6,534,314          7,483,469            949,155  14.53% 

Farm land       3,175,530          4,096,068            920,538  28.99% 

Commercial land          935,058          1,098,198            163,140  17.45% 

Industrial land          459,899              531,879              71,980  15.65% 

Cultural and recreation             23,694                27,485                 3,791  16.00% 

Total value of land     11,128,495        13,237,099         2,108,604    
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5.1.1 (g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year. 

 Type of Charge 

Per Rateable 
Property 

Per Rateable 
Property Change 

2022-23 2023-24 

$ $ $ % 

Municipal              200                  200                         -    0.00% 

5.1.1 (h)  The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous 
financial year. 

 

5.1.1 (i)  The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of 
the Act compared with the previous financial year. 

 

 Type of Charge 
2022-23 2023-24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Municipal                4,124  4,154                     30  0.73% 

 Type of Charge 
2022-23 2023-24 Change 

 $   $   $  % 
Residential - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - without 
food and garden bin 

         238.00                     243.00  5.00 2.10% 

Residential - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - with 
food and garden bin 

         167.00                     170.00  3.00 1.80% 

Rural - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - food and 
garden bin not available 

         202.00                     206.00  4.00 1.98% 

Residential - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - 
without food and garden bin 

         312.00                     318.00  6.00 1.92% 

Residential - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - with 
food and garden bin 

         235.00                     240.00  5.00 2.13% 

Rural - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - food and 
garden bin not available 

         264.00                     269.00  5.00 1.89% 

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (6 or 
more in the family) - without food and garden 
bin 

         528.00                     539.00  11.00 2.08% 

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (6 or 
more in the family) - with food and garden bin 

         426.00                     435.00  9.00 2.11% 

Rural - per year - 240 litre 1 bin - food and 
garden bin not available 

         445.00                     454.00  9.00 2.02% 

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin 
(medical condition) - without food and garden 
bin 

         312.00                     318.00  6.00 1.92% 

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin 
(medical condition) - with food and garden 
bin 

         235.00                     240.00  5.00 2.13% 

* Commercial/Industrial - per year - 80 litre          261.80                     267.30  5.50 2.10% 

* Commercial/Industrial - per year - 140 litre          343.20                     349.80  6.60 1.92% 

* Commercial/Industrial - per year - 240 litre          580.80                     592.90  12.10 2.08% 

Recycling charge 140 litre            63.00                       64.00  1.00 1.59% 

Recycling charge 240 litre            63.00                       64.00  1.00 1.59% 

Recycling charge 360 litre            63.00                       64.00  1.00 1.59% 

* Commercial/Industrial recycling charge 240 
litre 

           69.30                       70.40  1.10 1.59% 

* Commercial/Industrial recycling charge 360 
litre 

           69.30                       70.40  1.10 1.59% 

Food and Garden organics 240 litre            56.00                       57.00  1.00 1.79% 

* Commercial/Industrial Food and Garden 
organics 240 litre 

           61.60                       62.70  1.10 1.79% 

 
* Inclusive of GST for commercial properties in accordance with legislation 
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5.1.1 (j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated 
total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year. 

 Type of Charge 
2022-23 2023-24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 
Garbage charge 80 ltr               1,043                  1,003  (40) (3.80%) 
Garbage charge 140 ltr               3,101                  3,286  185 5.97% 
Garbage charge 240 ltr                  401                      439  38 9.40% 
Garden Organics                  536                      557  21 3.90% 

Recycling charge               1,164                  1,162  (2) (0.16%) 

Total                6,245                  6,447  202   

 
 
5.1.1 (k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous 

financial year. 

 Type of Charge 

2022-23 2023-24 Change 
$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Rates             36,526                38,368  1,842 5.04% 

Municipal charge               4,124                  4,154  30 0.73% 

Waste service charges               6,245                  6,447  202 3.24% 

Supplementary rates & charges                  200                      150  (50) (25.00%) 

Interest on rates                  111                         -    (111) 0.00% 

Total Rates and charges             47,206                49,119  1,913   

 

5.1.1 (l)  Fair Go Rates System compliance 

Campaspe Shire Council is fully compliant with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System. 

    2022-23 2023-24 
Total Rates  $   39,950,899   $ 41,084,057  
Number of rateable properties               21,316              21,457  
Base Average Rates  $       1,874.22   $      1,914.72  
Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government) 1.75% 3.50% 

Capped Average Rate  $       1,907.02   $      1,981.73  

Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue  $   40,650,040   $ 42,521,999  

Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue  $   40,650,040   $ 42,522,413  

 

5.1.1 (m)  Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. 

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and 
charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by: 

▪ The making of supplementary valuations (2023-24: estimated $150,000 and 2022-23: $200,000). 

▪ The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals). 

▪ Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa. 

▪ Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa. 
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5.1.1 (n) Differential rates 

Rates to be levied 

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are: 

▪ A general rate of 0.0029377% (0.0029377) cents in the dollar of CIV) for all general land. 

▪ A general rate of 0.0026439% (0.0026439) cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farm land. 

▪ A general rate of 0.0034077% (0.0034077) cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable commercial and 
industrial land. 

▪ A general rate of 0.0014688% (0.0014688) cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable cultural and 
recreation land. 

Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Capital Improved Value of rateable land (categorised 
by the characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above. 

Council believes each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of council 
functions. Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land which are subject to 
each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate are set out below. 

The differential rate ratios are as follows: 

▪ General land (100% of the general rate in the dollar); 

▪ Farm land (90% of the general rate in the dollar); 

▪ Commercial land (116% of the general rate in the dollar); 

▪ Industrial land (116% of the general rate in the dollar); and 

▪ Cultural and recreation (50% of the general rate in the dollar). 

The objectives of the differentials above or below 100% are as follows: 

▪ Farm land – to provide an equitable rate for primary producers, to encourage land use consistent with 
farming activities, conservation of areas which are suited to a variety of agricultural pursuits. 

▪ Commercial and industrial land – to provide an equitable rate for commercial/industrial use 
assessments which reflects the higher earning capacity of these premises. 

▪ Cultural and recreational land – to provide an equitable rate for cultural and recreational land, as 
defined in the Cultural & Recreational Land Act 1963, to encourage land use for community benefit in 
the pursuit of cultural and recreational activity. 

Commercial/Industrial land 

Commercial/Industrial land is any land which is: 

▪ Occupied for the principal purpose of carrying out the manufacture or production of, or trade in, goods 
or services; or 

▪ Unoccupied but zoned commercial or industrial under the Campaspe Shire Council’s Planning 
Scheme. 
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The types and classes of rateable land within this differential rate are those having the relevant characteristics 
described above. 

The money raised by the differential rate will be applied to the items of expenditure described in the budget by 
Council. The level of the rate for land in this category is considered to provide for an appropriate contribution 
to Council’s budgeted expenditure, having regard to the characteristics of the land. 

The geographic location of the land within this differential rate is wherever it is located within the municipal 
district, without reference to ward boundaries. 

The use of the land within this differential rate, in the case of improved land, is any use of land permitted under 
the relevant planning scheme. 

The characteristics of planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination of vacant land which will be 
subject to the rate applicable to commercial/industrial land. The vacant land affected by this rate is that which 
is zoned commercial and/or industrial under the Campaspe Shire Council Planning Scheme. The classification 
of land which is improved will be determined by the occupation of that land and have reference to the planning 
scheme zoning. 

The types of buildings on the land within this differential rate are all buildings already constructed on the land 
or which will be constructed prior to the expiry of the 2023-24 financial year. 

General land 

General land is: 

▪ Any land which does not have the characteristics of farm land, commercial/industrial land or cultural and 
recreational land. 

The types and classes of rateable land within this differential rate are those having the relevant characteristics 
described above. 

The money raised by the differential rate will be applied to the items of expenditure described in the budget by 
council. The level of the rate for land in this category is considered to provide for an appropriate contribution 
to council’s budgeted expenditure, having regard to the characteristics of the land. 

The geographic location of the land within this differential rate is where it is located within the municipal district, 
without reference to ward boundaries. 

The use of the land within this differential rate, in the case of improved land, is any use of land permitted under 
the relevant planning scheme. 

The characteristics of planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination of vacant land which will be 
subject to the rate applicable to general land. The vacant land affected by this rate is that which is zoned 
residential under the Campaspe Shire Council Planning Scheme. The classification of land which is improved 
will be determined by the occupation of that land and have reference to the planning scheme zoning. 

The types of buildings on the land within this differential rate are all buildings already on the land or which will 
be constructed prior to the expiry of the 2023-24 financial year. 
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Farm land 

Farm land is any land, which is: 

▪ not less than two hectares in area; and 

▪ used primarily for grazing (including agistment), dairying, pig-farming, poultry-farming, fish-farming, tree-
farming, bee-keeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit-growing or the growing of crops of any kind or for any 
combination of those activities; and 

is used by a business: 

▪ that has significant and substantial commercial purpose or character; and 

▪ that seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land; and 

▪ that is making a profit from its activities on the land, or that has a reasonable prospect of making a profit 
from its activities on the land if it continues to operate in the way it is operating. 

The types and classes of rateable land within this differential rate are those having the relevant characteristics 
described above. 

The money raised by the differential rate will be applied to the items of expenditure described in the budget by 
council. The level of the rate for land in this category is considered to provide for an appropriate contribution 
to council’s budgeted expenditure, having regard to the characteristics of the land. 

The geographic location of the land within this differential rate is where it is located within the municipal district, 
without reference to ward boundaries. 

The use of the land within this differential rate, in the case of improved land, is any use of land permitted under 
the relevant planning scheme. 

The characteristics of planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination of vacant land which will be 
subject to the rate applicable to farm land. The vacant land affected by this rate is that which is zoned residential 
under the Campaspe Shire Council Planning Scheme. The classification of land which is improved will be 
determined by the occupation of that land and have reference to the planning scheme zoning. 

The types of buildings on the land within this differential rate are all buildings already on the land or which will 
be constructed prior to the expiry of the 2023-24 financial year. 

Cultural and Recreational Land 

In accordance with Council’s Rating Strategy, cultural and recreational lands will receive a waiver from the 
payment of municipal rates, except where: 

▪ The land is subject to a grazing lease, in which case it will attract the general rate (or farm rate if applicable). 

▪ The land is used for housing gaming machines, in which case the portion of premises used for housing 
gaming machines shall attract the commercial rate. 
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5.1.2 Grants 

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in council’s budget. 

Grants - operating  

  
Budget Budget Forecast Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

 Grants were received in respect of the following:       

Summary of grants         

Commonwealth funded grants            15,920                13,015              17,215  4,200 32.27% 
State funded grants              1,446                  3,161                1,524  (1,637) (51.78%) 

Total grants received            17,366                16,176              18,739  2,563 15.85% 

      

  
Budget 

Budget 
Forecast 

Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Operating Grants         

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government          

Financial Assistance Grants            13,225               10,308             14,513   4,205  40.79% 

Community Health                     5                        7                      5  (2) (32.66%) 

Children's Services                  67                         -                        -     -  100.00% 

Recurrent - State Government         
 

School crossing supervisors                   95                    126                  130   4  3.52% 

Libraries                 283                    313                  318   5  1.60% 

Maternal and child health                 732                    712                  674  (38) (5.36%) 

Children's Services                 140                    161                  140  (21) (13.04%) 

Community safety                   52                      62                    54  (8) (12.61%) 

Total recurrent grants 14,600 11,688 15,833 4,145 35.46% 

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth 
Government 

        

Children's Services                       76                    75  (1) (1.95%) 

Non-recurrent - State Government         
 

Libraries                  24                      12                    12   0  100.00% 

Community Development                      -                        23                      -    (23) (100.00%) 

Protection of Biodiversity and Habitat                      -                        75                    75   0  0.00% 

Public Order and Safety                  60                 1,560                    60  (1,500) (96.15%) 

Youth services                  60                    107                    62  (45) (42.25%) 

Total non-recurrent grants 144 1,853 283 (1,570) (84.71%) 

Total operating grants           14,744               13,541  16,116 2,575 19.02% 

 

Operating grants include all monies received from State and Federal sources for the purposes of funding the 
delivery of council’s services to ratepayers. Overall, the level of operating grants is projected to increase by 
19.02% or $2.5 million compared to 2022-23. This is due to 75% of the financial assistance grants for 2022-
23 being prepaid in 2021-22. The result is less grants being received in 2022-23 than budgeted. The full 
amount of grants is being budgeted to be received in 2023-24, no allowance has been made for a pre-payment 
to occur again in 2022-23. 
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Grants – capital 

  
Budget 

Budget 
Forecast 

Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Capital Grants       

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government          

Roads to recovery              2,623                  2,623                 2,623   -  0.00% 
Recurrent - State Government        -  0.00% 

Total recurrent grants              2,623                  2,623                 2,623   -  0.00% 

Non-recurrent - State Government         

Living Libraries                      -                         12                        -    (12) 0.00% 

Total non-recurrent grants                      -                         12                        -    (12) (100.00%) 

Total capital grants              2,623                  2,634                 2,623  (12) (0.44%) 

Total Grants            17,366                16,176               18,739  2,564 15.85% 

 

Capital grants include all monies received from State and Federal sources for the purposes of funding the 
capital works program. Overall the level of capital grants has decreased by 0.44% or $0.12 million compared 
to 2022-23. The reduction is due to a capital project grant being paid as the project is completed. The grant 
was budgeted in a prior year. 

5.1.3 Statutory fees and fine 

 

  

Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Infringements and costs 500 
                     

380  
                   

500  120 31.50% 

Town planning fees 770 
                     

843  
                   

579  (264) (31.36%) 

Building fees 98 
                       

10  
                     

98  88 875.20% 

Other Statutory Fees 97 
                       

96  
                     

94  (3) (2.91%) 

Total statutory fees and fines 
               

1,465  
                  

1,330  
                

1,270  (60) (4.51%) 

 

Statutory fees relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include animal 
registrations, Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 registrations and parking fines. Increases in statutory fees 
are made in accordance with legislative requirements. 

Statutory fees are budgeted to decrease by 4.51 % or $0.6 million compared to 2022-23. The decrease in town 
planning and building fees is expected due to development activity within the shire expected to slowdown in 
the immediate future. The increase in infringements from 2022-23 is due to infringements not being charged 
during the flood event of October 2022. Businesses were closed during the peak of the flood event for six 
weeks.  
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5.1.4 User fees 

 

User charges relate mainly to the recovery of service delivery costs through the charging of fees to users of 
council’s services. These include use of leisure, entertainment and other community facilities and the provision 
of human services such as childcare. In setting the budget, the key principle for determining the level of user 
charges has been to ensure that increases do not impact capacity to pay or and are in line with market levels.  

User charges are projected to increase by 9.96% or $1.4 million compared to 2022-23. The increase compared 
to 2022-23 is due to a number of services being closed during the October 2022 flood event, the forecast fee 
income from those services has reduced due to these closures. The 2023-24 budget has been set assuming 
no closures.   

A detailed listing of fees and charges is included in Appendix A.  

  

  

Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Recreation 202 214 252 38 17.52% 

Aquatics 1,507 1,014 1,215 201 19.80% 

Children's Services 2,981 2,727 3,302 575 21.07% 

Community Development 18 26 33 7 25.70% 

Economic Development 7,249 7,066 6,699 (367) (5.19%) 

Engineering 122 127 122 (5) (4.28%) 

Environment and Conservation 15 9 15 6 74.65% 

Environmental Health 295 270 302 32 11.80% 

Financial Services 122 124 120 (4) (3.37%) 

Governance 2 2 1 (0) (22.90%) 

Library 128 136 127 (9) (6.40%) 

Organisational Strategy 24 18 24 6 36.72% 

Plant and Fleet Management 2 0 506 506 0.00% 

Property Management (25) 8 7 (0) (6.18%) 

Regulatory Compliance 1,660 1,121 1,170 49 4.39% 

Road Services 80 38 30 (8) (21.27%) 

Planning and Building 46 673 629 (45) (6.62%) 

Waste Collection and Management 681 614 1,046 432 70.41% 

Total user fees 
             

15,108  
                

14,185  
              

15,598  1,413 9.96% 
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5.1.5 Other income 

  Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

  2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Interest 
700 

                  
1,488  

                
2,030  

542 36.45% 

Property rental and leases 
378 

                     
744  

                   
389  

(355) (47.76%) 

Sundry Income 
0 

                       
24  

                       
4  

(20) (83.55%) 

Total other income 
               

1,078  
                  

2,256  
                

2,423   166  7.38% 
 

Other income is projected to increase by 7.38% or $0.2 million compared to 2022-23. This is due to interest 
rates on investments increasing, this is expected to be maintained across the 2023-24 year. The increase in 
interest income is being partial offset by a decrease in rental income. This is due to a parcel of land being 
leased out as a resource recovery centre to deal with flood waste. This agreement is set to end by June 2022-
23. 

5.1.6 Employee cost 

  Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change   

  2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Wages and salaries            24,467                 22,230               27,258  (5,029) (22.62%) 

Casual staff                      -                     1,233                        -    1,233 100.00% 

Work Cover                  445                      297                    429  (132) (44.45%) 

Superannuation               2,992                   2,854                 3,492  (639) (22.38%) 

Annual leave and long service leave               3,029                   2,538                 3,318  (780) (30.72%) 

Redundancy                      -                        289                        -    289 100.00% 

Sick leave                  101                      496                    103  393 79.29% 

Total employee costs             31,035                29,937               34,600  4,664 15.58% 
 

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as wages and salaries and on-costs such as 
allowances, leave entitlements, employer superannuation, rostered days off, etc.  

Employee costs are forecast to increase by 15.58% or $4.6 million compared to 2022-23 forecast. The increase 
is impacted by savings in 2022-23 made on employee costs as the result of the staff vacancies. The budget is 
set assuming full employment throughout the year with no vacancies. 

In the 2022-23 year there has been a greater than expected vacancy rate and recruiting appropriate staff to fill 
vacancies has been problematic. This is an issue being experienced across many sectors of the economy. 
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Budget 2023-24 

5.1.7 Materials and services 

 

  

Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Consultants              1,250                 1,259               1,383  124 9.88% 

Contract Payments            10,278               11,238             11,126  (112) (1.00%) 

Information Technology              1,786                 1,774               2,090  316 17.82% 

Insurance              1,107                 1,007               1,519  512 50.89% 

Legal services                 213                    217                  216  (1) (0.60%) 

Repairs and Maintenance              3,149                 3,248               3,010  (237) (7.31%) 

Service level contributions                887                 1,021                  872  (149) (14.59%) 

Utility costs              1,763                 1,666               1,973  307 18.42% 

Vehicle fuel costs              1,195                 1,135               1,538  403 35.54% 

Other vehicle costs                 483                    443                  358  (85) (19.20%) 

Materials              4,198                 4,321               3,317  (1,004) (23.24%) 

Total materials and services            26,307               27,328             27,404  76 0.28% 
 

Materials and services include the purchases of consumables, payments to contractors for the provision of 
services and utility costs. Materials and services are budgeted to increase by 0.28% or $0.8 million compared 
to 2022-23. The slight increase is due to higher inflation impacting on the cost of all inputs used to deliver 
services to the community. 

  

DRAFT

Attachment 8.5.1.1

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 202



 

   
   
  Page 62 

 

Budget 2023-24 

5.1.8 Other expense 

  Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

  2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Advertising                 169                    137                    98  (38) (28.12%) 

Audit expenses                 103                    111                  110  (1) (0.75%) 

Bank fees                 167                    180                  176  (5) (2.56%) 

Commission             1,251                 1,116               1,248  132 11.82% 

Contributions and Community Grants                 507                    541                  739  199 36.72% 

Contribution to Campaspe Port Enterprise                 615                    600               2,000  1,400 0.00% 

Councillor allowances                 358                    357                 376  19 5.30% 

Councillor - other expenses                   43                      25                    43  18 72.46% 

Fire service levy                   95                      95                    97  2 1.73% 

Food Purchases                 109                      96                  120  24 24.50% 

Fringe benefits tax                 337                    228                  241  13 5.74% 

Marketing                 128                    133                  132  (1) (0.81%) 

Memberships to associations                 241                    262                  368  106 40.42% 

Operating lease rentals and equipment 
hire 

                425                    402                  400  (2) (0.46%) 

Postage and stationery                 352                    310                  311  1 0.37% 

Protective clothing                   89                      86                    96  10 11.02% 

Veterinary costs                 150                    174                  142  (32) (18.62%) 

Quarry royalties                   45                      68                    45  (23) (34.29%) 

Total other expenses              5,182                 4,922               6,740  1,819 36.95% 
 

Other expenses relate to a range of items including councillor allowances, contributions to community groups, 
community grants and advertising, insurances, food purchases for childcare and animals housed at the animal 
shelter, veterinary expenses and other miscellaneous expenditure items. Other expenses are forecast to 
increase by 36.95% or $1.8 million compared to 2022-23. The main item contributing to the increase is 
Council’s contribution to the Campaspe Port Enterprise of $2.00 million. 

5.1.9 Depreciation 

  Budget 
Budget 

Forecast 
Budget Change 

  2022-23 2022-23 2023-24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Property            4,221                 4,326               4,349  23 0.54% 

Plant & equipment              3,048                 2,822               3,800  977 34.63% 

Infrastructure            13,761              14,936             15,143  208 1.39% 

Total depreciation and amortisation            21,030              22,084             23,292  1,208 5.47% 
 

Depreciation is an accounting measure that attempts to allocate the value of an asset over its useful life. The 
deprecation charge is used as a proxy for the funds required to renew Council’s assets to maintain agreed 
service levels. The increase of $1.20 million is due to plant items being renewed and beginning to depreciate, 
these assets had been fully depreciated prior to being replaced. Infrastructure assets have increased in value 
which increases the depreciation charge for these assets.  

Additional new plant valued at $3.2 million is to be purchased for road maintenance and parks and gardens 
which will add $0.4 million to depreciation costs. The additional plant items will improve the services delivered 
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Budget 2023-24 

to the community in the areas of road maintenance and the maintenance of public open spaces, sporting 
facilities and town entrances. 

6. Balance sheet 

6.1 Statement of borrowings 

The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the regulations.  

  
2022-23 2023-24 

$’000 $’000 

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year             6,520                        5,593  

Amount borrowed                600                              -    
Amount projected to be redeemed (1,527) (1,602) 

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June             5,593                        3,991  

 

The final drawdown on borrowings for Gunbower Lions Park and the Echuca East Community Precinct have 
been finalised. These funds were approved in the 2020-21 budget and were fully drawn down in the 2022-23 
now that the projects are completed.  

No additional loans are being considered in the 2023-24 budget and if no further borrowings are considered in 
future years all current loans will be finalised by June 2027. 

6.2 Assets 

Current assets ($9.6 million decrease) and Non-current assets ($1.6 million increase). 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and investments such as cash held in the bank, petty cash and the 
value of investments in deposits or other highly liquid investments with short term maturities of three months 
or less. These balances are projected to decrease by $0.4 million during the year, this is dependent on cash 
required to pay for capital works as they are completed. 

Trade and other receivables are monies owed to council by ratepayers and others. The balance is expected 
to increase by $0.3 million over the budget period, this is due to the trend in rate revenue collection decreasing 
over the last budget period. 

Other assets include items such as prepayments for expenses that council has paid in advance of service 
delivery, inventories or stocks held for sale or consumption in council’s services and other revenues due to be 
received in the next 12 months.  

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment is the largest component of council’s worth and represents the 
value of all the land, buildings, roads, vehicles, equipment, etc. which has been built up by council over many 
years. The $4.3 million increase in this balance is attributable to the net result of capital works and the yearly 
revaluation of asset classes along with the purchase of additional plant and equipment. 

6.3 Liabilities 

Current liabilities ($3.5 million decrease) and Non-current liabilities ($3.0 million decrease) 

Trade and other payables are those to whom council owes money at 30 June. These liabilities are budgeted 
to increase by $0.1 million compared with 2022-23 levels. 

Provisions include accrued long service leave and annual leave owing to employees. These employee 
entitlements are expected to remain constant due to more active management of entitlements despite factoring 
in an increase for Enterprise Agreement outcomes. 
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Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are borrowings of council. Council is budgeting to repay loan principal 
of $1.6 million over the year and has not budgeted for additional borrowings in 2023-24. 

6.4 Equity 

Equity ($4.9 million decrease) 

Total equity always equals net assets and is made up of the following components: 

▪ Asset revaluation reserve which represents the difference between the previously recorded value of assets 
and their current valuations. 

▪ Other reserves that are funds that council wishes to separately identify as being set aside to meet a specific 
purpose in the future and to which there is no existing liability. These amounts are transferred from the 
accumulated surplus of the council to be separately disclosed. 

▪ Accumulated surplus which is the value of all net assets less reserves that have accumulated over time. 
The $4.9 million decrease in accumulated surplus results directly from the operational deficit budgeted for 
the 2023/24 year. 

 

6.5 Working capital 

Working capital ($6.1 million decrease) 

Working capital is the excess of current assets above current liabilities. This calculation recognises that 
although council has current assets, some of those assets are already committed to the future settlement of 
liabilities in the following 12 months and are therefore not available for discretionary spending. 

Some of council’s cash assets are restricted in that they are required by legislation to be held in reserve for 
specific purposes or are held to fund carry forward capital works from the previous financial year. 
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7. Capital Works Program 

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2023-24 year, classified by expenditure type and funding source. 
Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried forward from prior year. 

The list of carried forward projects included at 7.5 is based on the best available information at the time of setting the budget, this may differ from what occurs 
at year end.  

7.1 Summary 

  Budget 
Forecast 

Actual 
Budget Change   

  2022/23 2022/23 2023/24     

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Property 15,696 7,729 6,293 (9,403) 213.23% 

Plant and equipment  3,642 1,892 6,616 2,974 26.47% 

Infrastructure 22,021 14,892 14,473 (7,548) 7.60% 

Total 41,359           24,513  27,382 (13,977) 45.85% 

 

The below table is a summary of the funding sources and the type of capital works (new, renewal or upgrade) that is budgeted to be completed in the 2023- 
24 budget year.  

  
Project 

Cost 

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources 

  New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contrib. 
Council 

cash 
Borrowings Reserves 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Property 6,293             967           2,227           3,098                26                  -               3,219                     -             3,048  

Plant and equipment  6,616         3,239           3,377                  -                    -                    -                  300                     -             6,316  

Infrastructure 14,473         1,109         10,544           2,820           4,119                  -            10,119                     -                 236  

Total 27,382 5,316 16,148 5,918 4,145                  -  13,638                    -  9,599 DRAFT
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7.2   2023-24 Capital works program – renewal works 
Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

Renewal

Buildings & Structures

PR-100676 Echuca & District Livestock Exchange Column 

Rectif ication

$160,000 $160,000 $160,000 $160,000

PR-100796 Shire Building Renew als $1,428,500 $1,428,500 $1,428,500 $1,428,500

$1,588,500 $0 $1,588,500 $0 $0 $0 $1,588,500 $0

Footpaths & Cycleways

PR-100797 Shire Footpath Renew al Program $550,000 $550,000 $550,000 $550,000

$550,000 $0 $550,000 $0 $0 $0 $550,000 $0

Irrigation

PR-100815 Shire Parks and Playgrounds Irrigation Renew al $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000

$100,000 $0 $100,000 $0 $0 $0 $100,000 $0

Kerb & Channel

PR-100798 Shire Kerb & Channel Renew al Program $1,641,000 $1,641,000 $1,558,950 $82,050 $1,641,000

$1,641,000 $0 $1,558,950 $82,050 $0 $0 $1,641,000 $0

Open Space & Recreation Assets

PR-100788 Echuca South Recreation Reserve Surface 

Renew al Design

$68,000 $68,000 $68,000 $68,000

PR-100794 Shire Recreation Pump Renew als (Kyabram 

Northern Oval and Colbinabbin Tow n 

Recreation Reserve)

$62,500 $62,500 $62,500 $62,500

PR-100801 Shire Open Space Equipment Renew al $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000

$230,500 $0 $230,500 $0 $0 $0 $230,500 $0

Other Road Elements

PR-100800 Echuca RRC Hardstand Renew al $159,000 $159,000 $127,200 $31,800 $159,000

$159,000 $0 $127,200 $31,800 $0 $0 $0 $159,000

Plant & Equipment

PR-100629 Tongala & Rochester Depots Diesel Storage 

Tank Replacement

$250,000 $250,000 $250,000 $250,000

PR-100692 Shire Retirement of Disused Radio Tow ers $60,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000

Additional plant for Parks & Gardens and Road 

maintenance.

$3,239,000 $3,239,000 $3,239,000 $3,239,000

Plant & Equipment

PR-100807 Shire Plant Replacement Program $3,076,849 $3,076,849 $3,076,849 $3,076,849

$6,615,849 $3,239,000 $3,376,849 $0 $0 $0 $300,000 $6,315,849

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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7.2  2023-24 Capital works program – renewal works cont.  

 
  

Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

Roads

PR-100535 Echuca Aerodrome Construction $4,800,000 $3,176,666 $1,588,333 $1,588,333 $2,350,000 $826,666

PR-100710 Rushw orth High Street Renew al Stage 2 $2,040,000 $2,040,000 $1,632,000 $408,000 $2,040,000

PR-100795 Shire Road Resheeting Program  $2,540,000 $2,540,000 $2,540,000 $2,540,000

PR-100799 Shire Sealed Road Unsealed Shoulder Re-

sheeting Program 

$1,030,000 $1,030,000 $1,030,000 $1,030,000

PR-100822 Shire Sealed Road Resurfacing Program $1,040,000 $1,040,000 $1,040,000 $1,040,000

PR-100824 Echuca - Nish, Sturt & High Street Carpark 

Renew al Designs

$41,000 $41,000 $41,000 $41,000

$9,867,666 $0 $7,871,333 $1,996,333 $2,350,000 $0 $7,517,666 $0

Stormwater & Flood Control

PR-100769 Shire Rural Culvert Renew al Program $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000

PR-100808 Echuca Simmie Road Table Drain Renew al $76,500 $76,500 $76,500 $76,500

PR-100810 Shire Stormw ater Pump Renew al Program $110,000 $110,000 $88,000 $22,000 $110,000

$286,500 $0 $264,500 $22,000 $0 $0 $210,000 $76,500

Swimming Pools

PR-100694 Echuca EWMAC Sw imming Pool Shell Painting $160,000 $160,000 $160,000 $160,000

$160,000 $0 $160,000 $0 $0 $0 $160,000 $0

Total - Renewal $21,199,015 $3,239,000 $15,827,832 $2,132,183 $2,350,000 $0 $12,297,666 $6,551,349

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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7.3 2023-24 Capital works program – upgrade works 

 

  

Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

Upgrade

Bridges

PR-100745 Echuca Boat Ramp Redevelopment  $1,250,117 $859,407 $171,881 $687,526 $859,407

$859,407 $0 $171,881 $687,526 $859,407 $0 $0 $0

Buildings & Structures

PR-100486 Echuca EWMAC Plantroom and Chemical 

Delivery Upgrade Design Review

$372,000 $54,000 $54,000 $54,000

PR-100675 Shire Resource Recovery Centre Skip Loading 

Bay Upgrades (Colbinabbin, Toolleen, 

Lockington)

$917,000 $742,000 $148,400 $593,600 $742,000

PR-100784 Kyvalley Kyvalley Hall Toilet and Entry Point 

Upgrades

$52,000 $52,000 $52,000 $26,000 $26,000

PR-100806 Shire Security Review  Implementation (Stage 2) $346,500 $346,500 $53,700 $292,800 $346,500

PR-100818 Shire DDA Works $106,000 $106,000 $106,000 $106,000

PR-100820 Echuca Holiday Park Upgrade Program - Cabin 

Refurbishment and En-Suite sites

$2,000,000 $2,000,000 $2,000,000 $2,000,000

$3,300,500 $53,700 $148,400 $3,098,400 $26,000 $0 $426,500 $2,848,000

Total - Upgrade $4,159,907 $53,700 $320,281 $3,785,926 $885,407 $0 $426,500 $2,848,000

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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7.4 2023-24 Capital works program – new works 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

New  

Buildings & Structures

PR-100741 Echuca & District Livestock Exchange Bull Pen 

Construction

$106,000 $106,000 $106,000 $106,000

PR-100819 Echuca & District Livestock New  Bugle 

Lanew ay Design

$54,000 $54,000 $54,000 $54,000

$160,000 $160,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $160,000 $0

Footpaths & Cycleways

PR-100079 Rushw orth Murchison (Waranga) Trail $3,155,000 $909,410 $909,410 $909,410

PR-100821 Shire New  and Upgrade Footpath Program 

(Missing Links)

$212,000 $200,000 $200,000 $200,000

$1,109,410 $1,109,410 $0 $0 $909,410 $0 $200,000 $0

Open Space & Recreation Assets

PR-100791 Echuca East Development - Stage Four (Bike 

Skills Area)

$753,500 $753,500 $753,500 $553,500 $200,000

$753,500 $753,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $553,500 $200,000

Total - New $2,022,910 $2,022,910 $0 $0 $909,410 $0 $913,500 $200,000

Total $27,381,832 $5,315,610 $16,148,113 $5,918,109 $4,144,817 $0 $13,637,666 $9,599,349

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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7.5 Projects carried over from 2022-23 

The following table lists projects that had funding allocated in previous budgets and remain to be delivered. 

 

  Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

Carry Over Projects

Bridges

PR-100557 Gunbow er Thompsons Bridge Renew al $546,500 $400,000 $400,000

PR-100745 Echuca Boat Ramp Redevelopment Stage 1  $1,250,117 $100,000 $20,000 $80,000

$500,000 $0 $420,000 $80,000

Buildings & Structures

PR-100353 Echuca Holiday Park Master Plan Implementation $1,600,000 $1,400,000 $1,400,000

PR-100596 Rushw orth Service Centre Upgrade 

(Construction)

$1,100,904 $600,000 $600,000

PR-100762 Echuca Vic Park Multi-use Changeroom facility $450,000 $400,000 $400,000

PR-100765 Shire Public Amenities Program (LRCI 3) $725,590 $400,000 $400,000

$2,800,000 $0 $0 $2,800,000

Footpaths & Cycleways

PR-100079 Rushw orth Murchison (Waranga) Trail $3,155,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000

PR-100085 Kyabram Breen Avenue Walking Cycle Trail 

(Construction)

$979,600 $435,000 $435,000

$1,435,000 $1,000,000 $0 $435,000

Open Space & Recreation Assets

PR-100360 Echuca Victoria Park Masterplan Review  & Multi-

purpose Facility Design

$300,000 $50,000 $37,500 $12,500

$50,000 $37,500 $12,500 $0

Plant & Equipment

PR-100730 Plant Replacement Program 22/23 $3,471,256 $2,400,000 $2,400,000

$2,400,000 $0 $2,400,000 $0

Roads

PR-100735 Shire Wide Additional Resheeting  (LRCI 3) $1,500,000 $300,000 $300,000

$300,000 $300,000 $0 $0

Stormwater & Flood Control

PR-100647 Echuca Mount Terrick Road Pump  Well 

Renew al

$200,000 $100,000 $100,000

$100,000 $0 $100,000 $0

Total -  Carry Over Projects $7,585,000 $1,337,500 $2,932,500 $3,315,000 $0 $0 $0 $0

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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7.6 2023-24 Capital works program – grant funding 

 

 
 
The grant dependent projects above will only be included in the capital works program if grant applications are successful. These projects are not 
included in the total capital works proposed for the 2023-24 year.  

Project No Project Name Project Cost Project Exp 

(Whole of 

life)

23/24 New Renewal Upgrade Grants Contributions Cash Reserves

Proposed LRCI4

Open Space & Recreation Assets

PR-100577 Toolleen Recreation Reserve Netball Courts 

Upgrade

$608,500 $304,250 $243,400 $60,850 $304,250

$304,250 $0 $243,400 $60,850 $304,250 $0 $0 $0

Roads

PR-100766 Toolleen Axedale -Toolleen Road Widening $2,324,500 $1,162,250 $1,162,250 $1,162,250

$1,162,250 $0 $0 $1,162,250 $1,162,250 $0 $0 $0

Total - Proposed LRCI $1,466,500 $0 $243,400 $1,223,100 $1,466,500 $0 $0 $0

Grant Dependent Projects

Buildings & Structures

PR-100606 Kyabram Recreation Reserve Wilf Cox Pavilion 

Upgrade

$2,500,000 $1,072,500 $214,500 $858,000 $536,250 $536,250

$1,072,500 $0 $214,500 $858,000 $536,250 $0 $536,250 $0

Land

PR-100643 Echuca Aquatic Reserve/Onion Patch Upgrade 

Stage 2 Construction

$4,922,500 $2,461,250 $1,722,875 $492,250 $246,125 $1,661,250 $800,000

$2,461,250 $1,722,875 $492,250 $246,125 $1,661,250 $0 $0 $800,000

Open Space & Recreation Assets

PR-100575 Rochester Recreation Reserve Moon Oval 

Lighting Upgrade

$1,143,000 $1,058,000 $1,058,000 $666,000 $312,000 $80,000

$1,058,000 $0 $0 $1,058,000 $666,000 $312,000 $0 $80,000

Total - Grant Dependent Project $4,591,750 $1,722,875 $706,750 $2,162,125 $2,863,500 $312,000 $536,250 $880,000

Asset Expenditure Types Funding Sources
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Appendix A 

Fees and charges schedule 

The fees and charges document is set out in two parts. 

▪ Part One - Council set (non-statutory) fees and charges. 

▪ Part Two - State or Federal Government set (statutory) fees and charges. 
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Part One - Non statutory fees and charges 

Non statutory fee and charges are set by council. 

When setting these fees council consider the following: 

▪ Cost recovery of service delivery 

▪ Applicable strategies or policies 

▪ Benchmarking 

▪ Competitive neutrality 

Where a fee is listed as ‘taxable’, it is GST inclusive. 
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Animal and Local Laws services

Animal Registration fees

Whole animal Non Taxable $150.00 $154.00 2.67%

Sterilised animal Non Taxable $50.00 $51.00 2.00%

Concession whole animal Non Taxable $75.00 $77.00 2.67%

Concession sterilised animal Non Taxable $25.00 $26.00 4.00%

Registration of domestic animal business Non Taxable $250.00 $256.00 2.40%

Registration Fee for Foster Carer as per S68H(1) DAA Non Taxable $60.00 $60.00 0.00%

Fee to register Foster Carer - Dog - first 12 months S15.4.e.i DAA - 

no more than 5 dogs or combination of 5 dogs/cats

Non Taxable $8.00 $8.00 0.00%

Fee to register Foster Carer - Cat - first 12 months S15.4.f.i DAA - 

no more than 5 cats or combination of 5 cats/dogs 

Non Taxable $8.00 $8.00 0.00%

Parking fees

3 month parking permits Taxable $406.50 $417.00 2.58%

12 month Nish & High street car parking permit option Taxable $1,626.00 $1,667.00 2.52%

Off street parking per hour Taxable $1.50 $1.60 6.67%

On street meter parking per hour Taxable $1.70 $1.80 5.88%

Parking infringements - Road Safety Act Section 87(4) Taxable $85.00 $87.00 2.35%

Residential Parking Permits - per annum Taxable $100.00 $100.00 0.00%

Trade Parking Permits (per bay / per day) Taxable $10.00 $10.00 0.00%

Local Laws charges

Grazing permit - 3 months Non Taxable $80.00 $82.00 2.50%

Street furniture - per setting (table and 4 chairs) Non Taxable $160.00 $164.00 2.50%

A Boards (per board) Non Taxable $100.00 $102.00 2.00%

Goods for sale permit Non Taxable $160.00 $164.00 2.50%

Release of Impounded goods - sign Non Taxable $70.00 $72.00 2.86%

Release of Impounded goods - general goods Non Taxable $130.00 $133.00 2.31%

Inspection of Animal register not more than two animals Non Taxable $8.00 $8.50 6.25%

Issue a certificate from domestic animal register, not more than two 

animals

Non Taxable $15.00 $15.50 3.33%

Street trading delineation marker - each Non Taxable $2.00 $2.00 0.00%

Street trading delineation marker - installation per premise Non Taxable $50.00 $50.00 0.00%

Livestock Impoundment Fees

Impoundment fees (max per head) Taxable $60.00 $62.00 3.33%

Ranger fee (per hour) Taxable $75.00 $77.00 2.67%

Feed costs Taxable at cost at cost

Transport costs Taxable at cost at cost

RFID tags (per head) Taxable $25.00 $26.00 4.00%

Use of Council Stock crate (per transport) Taxable $75.00 $77.00 2.67%

Small cattle up to yearling (per head) Taxable $15.00 $15.50 3.33%

Grown cattle (per head) Taxable $22.00 $22.50 2.27%

Country Fire Authority Act

Administration fee for failure to comply with a Schedule 15 Fire 

Prevention Notice

Taxable $240.00 $246.00 2.50%DRAFT
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 SHIRE OF CAMPASPE FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Animal and Local Laws services cont.

Campaspe Animal Shelter charges

Adoption Fees

A range of fees has been introduced to allow for fees to be reduced  

if there is an over supply of animals available for adoption.

Adult dog Non Taxable $305 - $375 $310 - $380

Senior dog 7 years + Non Taxable $105 -$195 $110 - $200

Puppy Non Taxable $405 - $480 $410 - $485

Adult Cat Non Taxable $15 - $108 $0 - $110

Senior cat 7 years + Non Taxable $10 - $50 $0 - $55

Kitten Non Taxable $55- $173 $60 - $175

Reclaim Fees

1st day impound Non Taxable $58.00 $59.00 1.72%

Additional days Non Taxable $36.00 $37.00 2.78%

Surrender Fees

Surrender Fees- Canine (within Shire) Non Taxable $48.00 $48.50 1.04%

Surrender Fees - Feline (within Shire) Non Taxable $27.00 $27.50 1.85%

Microchip Fee - Impounded animal $50.00 $50.50 1.00%

Microchip Fee - Private animal Non Taxable $33.50 $34.00 1.49%

Aerodrome

Landing fees - per use, per tonne Taxable $11.00 $11.20 1.82%

Access fee general - annual fee Taxable $264.00 $269.30 2.01%

Access fee commercial - annual Taxable $396.00 $403.90 1.99%

Parking fee annual Taxable $396.00 $396.00 0.00%

Aerodrome Meeting Room (NEW)

Room Hire (Inc. kitchenette) 7am - 6pm only Taxable $15 per hour, to a 

maximum of $165 

per day

$15 per hour, to a 

maximum of $165 

per day

Bond Non Taxable $190.00 $190.00 0.00%

Meeting Room hire insurance (public liability if customer does not 

have current public liability certificate)

Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Building and Planning Fees

Building Approval Fees

Domestic Works Taxable by quotation by quotation

Commercial Works Taxable by quotation by quotation

Building information and lodgement administration fees

Property information requests Taxable $54.00 $55.50 2.78%

Property information requests - Private Building Surveyors Taxable $54.00 $55.50 2.78%

Private/public building surveyors lodgement fee Taxable $138.50 $143.00 3.25%

Council lodgement fee Taxable $138.50 $143.00 3.25%

Request for Report and Consent to proposed Demolition Taxable $97.00 $100.00 3.09%

Council consent and report Taxable $330.00 $340.00 3.03%
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 SHIRE OF CAMPASPE FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Building and Planning Fees cont.

Other Services

Non-mandatory inspection and addition re-inspection fees Taxable $250.00 $255.00 2.00%

Amendment of a domestic building permit Taxable $290.00 $300.00 3.45%

Amendment of commercial/industrial building permit Taxable $600.00 $700.00 16.67%

Extension of a current domestic building permit Taxable $335.00 $345.00 2.99%

Extension of a current commercial/industrial building permit Taxable $335.00 $345.00 2.99%

Domestic demolition permit Class 1, 2 and 10 buildings Taxable $740.00 $760.00 2.70%

Commercial/industrial demolition permit (minor) Taxable $1,000.00 $1,150.00 15.00%

Commercial/industrial demolition permit (major) Taxable $1,500.00 $1,700.00 13.33%

Swimming Pool Report/Audit Taxable $300.00 $335.00 11.67%

Building Control

Municipal Building Surveyor (MBS) Approvals

Occupancy Permits (POPES) free entry events Taxable $370.00 $380.00 2.70%

Temporary Occupancy Permits (TOP) free entry events (marquees, 

stages, single structure, multiple by quotation)

Taxable $77.00 $79.00 2.60%

Occupancy Permits (POPES) pay for entry one-off events Taxable $840.00 $890.00 5.95%

Occupancy Permits (POPES) pay for entry events (3 year permit) Taxable $1,850.00 $2,000.00 8.11%

Temporary Occupancy Permits (TOP) pay for entry events Taxable $155.00 $160.00 3.23%

Modification Class 2 - 9 Taxable $390.00 $400.00 2.56%

Owner Builders Defect Report (Sheds & Pools Only) Taxable $515.00 $545.00 5.83%

Retrieval of Council permit file from archives Taxable $128.00 $131.00 2.34%

Red Line Plan & Report - liquor licence Taxable $505.00 $520.00 2.97%

Building over easements Taxable $365.00 $375.00 2.74%

Hourly rates

Referrals for reporting authority consents (CFA, heritage, water 

authority, preparation of protection notices or any other building 

Notice of Orders - MBS)

Taxable $315.00 $325.00 3.17%

Municipal Building Surveyor - For private or municipal building 

surveyor duties where there is not any other applicable charge.  

Note this is not for general advice which remains free of charge.

Taxable $315.00 $325.00 3.17%

Illegal Building Works

Commercial/Industrial  illegal building work or work without a 

building permit (2 times commercial building approval fee as a 

minimum)

Taxable based on value of 

works

based on value of 

works

Domestic illegal building work or work without a building permit (2 

times building approval fee as a minimum)

Taxable based on value of 

works

based on value of 

works

Planning

Extension of time to a permit Taxable $200.00 $225.00 12.50%

Second extension of time to a permit Taxable $450.00 $500.00 11.11%

Secondary consent under a permit Taxable $220.00 $260.00 18.18%

Provision of advice and copies of permit and plans Taxable $150.00 $170.00 13.33%

Public Notice

Standard administration fee Taxable $55.00 $57.00 3.64%

Advertising Signage Taxable $55.00 $57.00 3.64%

Cost per letter sent Taxable $9.60 $9.80 2.08%

Newspaper advertisement Taxable at cost at cost
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 SHIRE OF CAMPASPE FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

Taxable

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Children's Services Fees

Child Care

Rochester Child Care - daily rate Non Taxable $104.00 $107.00 2.88%

Campaspe Child Care - daily rate Non Taxable $122.00 $125.00 2.46%

Preschools

Enrolment Fee Taxable $28.00 $28.00 0.00%

Library Services Fees

Library fees

Library bags Taxable $1.20 $1.50 25.00%

Replacement card Taxable $4.60 $4.80 4.35%

Item replacement processing charge Taxable $18.00 $18.00 0.00%

Temporary membership (refundable) Taxable $60.00 $60.00 0.00%

Bud Earphones Taxable $3.50 $3.50 0.00%

Photocopying & Printing

A4 black & white per page Taxable $0.20 $0.20 0.00%

A3 black & white per page Taxable $0.30 $0.30 0.00%

A4 colour per page Taxable $0.65 $0.65 0.00%

A3 colour per page Taxable $1.00 $1.00 0.00%

Library Fines

Fine - per item per day - discontinued in 2022-23 Taxable

DVDs - per item per day - discontinued in 2022-23 Taxable

Library Loan Requests

Inter library loans from public libraries Taxable $4.30 $5.00 16.28%

Inter library loans from tertiary libraries Taxable $20.00 $22.00 10.00%

Hire of library meeting rooms

Commercial operator, per hour Taxable $42.00 $43.00 2.38%

Not for profit organisation (Government funded), per hour Taxable $19.00 $19.50 2.63%

Community organisation (non Government funding), per booking Taxable $13.00 $13.50 3.85%

After hours bookings access card (refundable) Taxable $30.00 $30.00 0.00%

Waste Services

Clean Tyres - disposal

Car Taxable $6.50 $8.00 23.08%

Light Truck Taxable $13.00 $15.50 19.23%

Truck Taxable $30.50 $30.50 0.00%

Super Single Taxable $61.00 $69.00 13.11%

Tractor small (up to 1.0 metre diameter) Taxable $124.00 $143.00 15.32%

Tractor Large (1.0 - 2.0 metres diameter) Taxable $252.50 $434.50 72.08%

Motorcycle  Taxable $4.10 $8.00 95.12%

Earthmover small (up to 1.0 metre diameter) Taxable $202.00 $229.50 13.61%

Earthmover medium (up to 1.0 - 1.5 metres diameter) Taxable $505.00 $573.50 13.56%

Earthmover large  (up to 1.5 - 2 metres diameter) Taxable $1,010.00 $1,146.50 13.51%

Contaminated Tyres (dirt and/or rock inside tyre) disposal

Car Taxable $14.50 $18.50 27.59%

Light Truck Taxable $29.00 $37.00 27.59%

Truck Taxable $65.50 $68.50 4.58%

Super Single Taxable $131.00 $147.50 12.60%

Tractor small (up to 1.0 metre diameter) Taxable $200.00 $343.50 71.75%

Tractor Large (1.0 - 2.0 metres diameter) Taxable $300.00 $520.00 73.33%

Motorcycle  Taxable $9.50 $17.00 78.95%

Earthmover small (up to 1.0 metre diameter) Taxable $500.00 $551.00 10.20%

Earthmover medium (up to 1.0 - 1.5 metres diameter) Taxable $1,000.00 $1,376.50 37.65%

Earthmover large  (up to 1.5 - 2 metres diameter) Taxable $1,900.00 $2,752.00 44.84%
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

#REF!

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Transfer station fees

Transfer station charges - per cubic metre (general waste)
Taxable $43.00 $45.00 4.65%

Transfer station charges - per cubic metre (garden organic waste) Taxable $20.00 $21.00 5.00%

Refrigerators , Air Conditioners - degassing charge Taxable $15.00 $15.00 0.00%

Mattresses - single Taxable $14.00 $15.00 7.14%

Mattresses - double, queen, king Taxable $20.00 $21.00 5.00%

Clean fill soil - per cubic metre (Echuca and Mt Scobie only) Taxable $21.00 $22.00 4.76%

Concrete/brick tipping per cubic metre (Echuca and Mt Scobie only) Taxable $26.00 $30.00 15.38%

Gas bottles (household up to 9kgs) and fire extinguishers Taxable $6.00 $6.00 0.00%

Kerbside Waste, Recycling, Food and Garden Services

Waste Services

Residential - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - without food and garden bin Non Taxable $238.00 $243.00 2.10%

Residential - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - with food and garden bin Non Taxable $167.00 $170.00 1.80%

Rural - per year - 80 litre 1 bin - food and garden bin not available Non Taxable $202.00 $206.00 1.98%

Residential - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - without food and garden bin Non Taxable $312.00 $318.00 1.92%

Residential - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - with food and garden bin Non Taxable $235.00 $240.00 2.13%

Rural - per year - 140 litre 1 bin - food and garden bin not available Non Taxable $264.00 $269.00 1.89%

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (6 or more in the family) - 

without food and garden bin

Non Taxable $528.00 $539.00 2.08%

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (6 or more in the family) - 

with food and garden bin

Non Taxable $426.00 $435.00 2.11%

Rural - per year - 240 litre 1 bin - food and garden bin not available Non Taxable $445.00 $454.00 2.02%

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (medical condition) - without 

food and garden bin

Non Taxable $312.00 $318.00 1.92%

Residential - per year - 240 litre 1 bin (medical condition) - with 

food and garden bin

Non Taxable $235.00 $240.00 2.13%

Commercial/Industrial - per year - 80 litre Taxable $261.80 $267.30 2.10%

Commercial/Industrial - per year - 140 litre Taxable $343.20 $349.80 1.92%

Commercial/Industrial - per year - 240 litre Taxable $580.80 $592.90 2.08%

Recycling Services

Residential - per year - 140 litre (elderly residents & units/flats) Non Taxable $63.00 $64.00 1.59%

Residential - per year - 240 litre Non Taxable $63.00 $64.00 1.59%

Residential - per year - 360 litre Non Taxable $63.00 $64.00 1.59%

Commercial/Industrial - per year - 240 litre Taxable $69.30 $70.40 1.59%

Commercial/Industrial - per year - 360 litre Taxable $69.30 $70.40 1.59%

Food and Garden Waste Service

Food and Garden Waste Residential - 240 litre Non Taxable $56.00 $57.00 1.79%

Food and Garden Waste Commercial - 240 litre Taxable $61.60 $62.70 1.79%
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

#REF!

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Health Services

Registered Food Premises fees

Food Premises

Class 1 -  Premises serving high risk foods to high risk customers 

including hospitals, childcare centres and aged care facilities

Taxable $510.00 $525.00 2.94%

Class 2A - Premises that are preparing high risk foods and require a 

third party audit such as manufacturers

Taxable $510.00 $525.00 2.94%

Class 2B - Premises preparing and serving high risk foods including 

cafes, restaurants

Taxable $582.00 $600.00 3.09%

Class 2C - Premises preparing and serving high risk foods on a 

reduced scale such motels with cooked breakfasts

Taxable $398.00 $410.00 3.02%

Class 2D - Community groups serving high risk foods Taxable $72.00 $74.00 2.78%

Class 2E - Businesses preparing and serving high risk foods from a 

temporary food premises and that already have a fixed registration

Taxable $72.00 $74.00 2.78%

Class 3A - Accommodation getaways serving ready to eat foods, 

including cooked breakfast. Home based businesses that make 

chutney type products using a hot fill process.

$354.00 $364.00 2.82%

Class 3B - Premises that are preparing and serving medium risk 

foods, high risk pre-packaged foods or low risk unpackaged foods 

including wineries, water carters and service stations

Taxable $354.00 $364.00 2.82%

Class 3C - Premises that are serving high risk pre-packaged foods 

or low risk unpackaged foods on a reduced scale such as motels 

serving continental breakfasts

Taxable $250.00 $257.00 2.80%

Class 3D- Community groups serving high risk pre-packaged foods 

and low risk unpackaged foods

Taxable $72.00 $74.00 2.78%

Class 3D - Businesses preparing and serving high risk pre-

packaged foods or low risk unpackaged foods from a temporary 

food premises and that already have a fixed registration

Taxable $72.00 $74.00 2.78%

1st additional inspection of non compliant class 1 & 2 premises Taxable $153.00 $158.00 3.27%

2nd additional inspection of non compliant class 1 & 2 premises Taxable $192.00 $198.00 3.13%

4th additional inspection of non compliant class 1 & 2 premises Taxable $268.00 $276.00 2.99%

1st additional inspection of non compliant class 3 premises Taxable $115.00 $119.00 3.48%

2nd additional inspection of non compliant class 3 premises Taxable $143.00 $147.00 2.80%

3rd additional inspection of non compliant class 3 premises Taxable $172.00 $177.00 2.91%

4th additional inspection of non compliant class 3 premises Taxable $200.00 $206.00 3.00%

Late registration renewal administration charge - charged to 

premises that have not renewed their registration by the due date 

and have received at least 1 reminder for application.

Taxable $123.00 $127.00 3.25%

Additional Food Samples -charged to premises following 2 failed 

food samples when further samples are required

Taxable $136.00 $140.00 2.94%

New Food Business Fee - annual registration fee plus 50%

Inspection report request (outside registered premises) Taxable $172.00 $177.00 2.91%

Other Health Act Registration fees

Accommodation premises -large - fee for accommodation premises 

that have more than 5 bedrooms such as hotels, motels 

Taxable $282.00 $290.00 2.84%

Accommodation premises - small - fee for accommodation 

premises that have less than 5 bedrooms such as bed & breakfast 

Taxable $183.00 $188.00 2.73%

Health Act premises (tattooist, hairdressers, skin penetration, 

swimming pools)

Taxable $156.00 $161.00 3.21%

Health Act premises Transfer - change of ownership of a registered 

premises under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act

Taxable $76.00 $78.00 2.63%

Accommodation Transfer - change of ownership of an 

accommodation premises under the Public Health and Wellbeing 

Act

Taxable $176.00 $181.00 2.84%

Building referral report Taxable $70.00 $72.00 2.86%

Building referral inspection Taxable $142.00 $146.00 2.82%
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

#REF!

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Immunisation Services

FluQuadri, Afluria (Influenza) Taxable $30.00 $30.00 0.00%

IPV Ipol (Polio) Taxable $74.00 $78.00 5.41%

Varilrix (Chicken Pox) Taxable $78.00 $78.00 0.00%

Havrix (Hepatitis A) Taxable $88.00 $88.00 0.00%

Engerix (Hepatitis B) Taxable $39.00 $40.00 2.56%

Twinrix (Hepatitis A/B) Taxable $98.00 $98.00 0.00%

Boostrix (Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis) Taxable $51.00 $51.00 0.00%

Priorix (Measles, Mumps, Rubella) Taxable $52.00 $52.00 0.00%

Menactra (Adult Meningococcal) Taxable $104.00 $107.00 2.88%

Gardasil 9 (Human Papilloma Virus - HPV) Taxable $213.00 $218.00 2.35%

Bexsero (Meningococcal B childhood) Taxable $138.00 $138.00 0.00%

Administration charge for vaccines $25.00 $26.00

Quarries

Mt Scobie Quarry (price per tonne)

75mm road base Taxable $15.50 $16.80 8.39%

40mm road base Coarse Taxable $17.00 $19.70 15.88%

40mm road base Fine - New product
Taxable $18.40

20mm road base Taxable $18.70 $20.20 8.02%

200mm road base Taxable $13.30 $14.40 8.27%

Spalls Taxable $18.10 $19.60 8.29%

40mm crushed rock Taxable $16.50 $17.90 8.48%

20mm crushed rock Taxable $16.50 $17.90 8.48%

Filling Taxable $11.30 $12.30 8.85%

20mm scalping's Taxable $11.80 $12.80 8.47%

Receipt of clean waste concrete Taxable $22.40 $45.00 100.89%

Crushed concrete resale (price per tonne)

40mm Crushed Concrete Taxable $23.40 $25.30 8.12%

20mm Crushed Concrete Taxable $23.40 $25.30 8.12%

Weighing fee Taxable $14.50 $15.70 8.28%

Nanneella Quarry (price per tonne)

40mm class 4 road base Taxable $18.70 $20.20 8.02%

20mm class 4 road base Taxable $19.20 $20.80 8.33%

75mm road base Taxable $16.50 $17.90 8.48%

40mm road base Taxable $18.20 $19.70 8.24%

20mm road base Taxable $19.70 $20.20 2.54%

40mm crushed rock Taxable $17.60 $19.10 8.52%

20mm crushed rock Taxable $12.30 $13.30 8.13%

Filling/uncrushed Taxable $12.80 $13.90 8.59%

20mm scalping's Taxable $9.00 $9.00 0.00%

Weighing fee Taxable $14.50 $15.70 8.28%

Type C Fill new product Taxable $8.80

Gravel Pits (price per tonne)

65mm crushed rock Taxable $17.00 $18.40 8.24%

40mm crushed rock Taxable $17.60 $19.10 8.52%

20mm crushed rock Taxable $18.20 $19.70 8.24%

Cartage - Cost recovery, based on a per kilometre rate charged by 

external contractors.

                   ***20mm single sized aggregate crushed concrete

                   ***10/14mm single sized aggregate crushed concrete

                   ***product available by prior arrangement and order only
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Echuca and District Livestock Exchange

Truck Wash Per Minute Taxable $1.45 $1.50 3.45%

Yard Dues (per head)

Cattle Taxable $14.00 $14.40 2.86%

Cattle <$150 including no sale stock Taxable $6.00 $6.20 3.33%

Dairy cattle Taxable $14.00 $14.40 2.86%

Bulls Taxable $20.00 $20.00 0.00%

Cow and calf (Sold as one unit) Taxable $16.00 $16.50 3.13%

Cattle sales per agent per sale Taxable $320.00 $330.00 3.13%

Cattle transient fee per head (per day) plus feeding  (notified) Taxable $4.50 $4.60 2.22%

Cattle transient fee per head (per day) plus feeding (unnotified) Taxable $6.50 $6.70 3.08%

RFID tags issued post sale (per tag) Taxable $50.00 $50.00 0.00%

RFID tags (per head) Taxable $21.00 $21.00 0.00%

Office rental (per annum) Taxable $1,660.00 $1,660.00 0.00%

Signage - 2900mm x 1200mm Taxable $1,550.00 $1,550.00 0.00%

Disposal of Stock Taxable $100.00 $102.00 2.00%

Agent fee per head $1.30 $1.30 0.00%

Scanning Fee Taxable $3.00 $3.00 0.00%

Murray River Moorings

Private mooring annual rental fee - set in accordance with NSW 

Dept. of Planning, Industry and Environment. Terms and conditions 

of sub-licence apply.

Taxable $556.00 $556.00 0.00%

Commercial mooring annual rental fee - determined on minimum 

market rent set by a licensed valuer. Terms and conditions of a sub-

licence apply

Taxable Market Rent Market Rent

Application for new mooring sub-licence Taxable $576.00 $576.00 0.00%

Application to revoke/ transfer an existing mooring sub-licence Taxable $576.00 $576.00 0.00%

Alteration of particulars of a mooring sub-licence Taxable $250.00 $250.00 0.00%

Replacement of mooring sub-licence Taxable $27.50 $27.50 0.00%

Sporting and Recreation Reserves fees

Sporting Reserve Charges

Kyabram

Reserve Hire per Day Taxable $500.00 $510.00 2.00%

Reserve Hire per Hour  Taxable $46.00 $47.00 2.17%

Per Court Hire per hour Taxable $26.00 $26.50 1.92%

Key Deposit Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Wilf Cox Pavilion Clubroom & Kitchen Hire per Hour Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Note - Fees for individual clubs who utilise Victoria Park, Kyabram Recreation 

Reserve and Echuca South Recreation reserve are based Policy 133 Fees & 

Charges and the service agreements in place. Fees are subject to the usage data 

provided by users.

Fees for using the facility for any event/sale not mentioned above will be based on 

negotiations with the administration and will reflect the nature and frequency of 

use.
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Sporting and Recreation Reserves fees cont.

Echuca South Recreation Reserve

Reserve Hire per Day Taxable $355.00 $510.00 43.66%

Reserve Hire per Hour  Taxable $46.00 $47.00 2.17%

Clubroom & Kitchen Hire per Hour Taxable $24.50 $25.00 2.04%

Court Hire - per hour - per court Taxable $26.00 $26.50 1.92%

Key Deposit $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Echuca South Netball Complex

Court Hire - per hour - per court Taxable $26.00 $26.50 1.92%

Clubroom Hire per hour Taxable $24.50 $25.00 2.04%

Key Deposit $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Victoria Park Recreation Reserve

Reserve - hire per day Taxable $500.00 $510.00 2.00%

Reserve - hire per hour  Taxable $46.00 $47.00 2.17%

Court Hire - per hour - per court Taxable $26.00 $26.50 1.92%

Key deposit $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Stadiums Fees

Echuca Stadium

Multi Purpose Room per hour Taxable $21.00 $21.50 2.38%

Court Hire - per hour - per court Taxable $30.00 $30.50 1.67%

Casual Sessions - per session - per person (Stadium Facilitated 

Activation)

Taxable $5.00 $5.00 0.00%

Casual Sessions - per family - 2 adults and 2 children - per session 

(Stadium Facilitated Activation)

Taxable $11.00 $11.00 0.00%

Exhibitions and Special Events (per day) Taxable $1,155.00 $1,155.00 0.00%

Bond Non Taxable $160.00 $160.00 0.00%

Kyabram Sports and Entertainment Centre

Multi Purpose Room per hour Taxable $21.00 $21.50 2.38%

Court Hire - per hour - per court Taxable $30.00 $30.50

Casual Sessions - per session Taxable $5.00 $5.00 0.00%

Casual Sessions - per family - 2 adults and 2 children - per session 

(Stadium Facilitated Activation)

Taxable $11.00 $11.00 0.00%

Exhibitions and Special Events (per day) Taxable $715.00 $715.00 0.00%

Bond Non Taxable $160.00 $160.00 0.00%

Bond Non Taxable $160.00 (100.00%)DRAFT
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Sporting and Recreation Reserves fees cont.

Tongala Stadium 

Court hire per hour Taxable $30.00 $30.50 1.67%

Squash court hire per hour Taxable $14.50 $15.00 3.45%

Casual Sessions - per person (Stadium Facilitated Activation) Taxable $5.00 $5.00 0.00%

Casual Sessions - per family - 2 adults and 2 children (Stadium 

Facilitated Activation)

Taxable $11.00 $11.00 0.00%

Exhibitions and Special Events (per day) Taxable $670.00 $357.50 (46.64%)

Bond Non Taxable $160.00 $160.00 0.00%

Key deposit Non Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Shire Halls and Community Facilities

Tongala Halls

Functions (with alcohol) e.g. weddings, balls

Bond Non Taxable $430.00 $440.00 2.33%

Social events (without alcohol) e.g. Concerts, plays, luncheons, 

bazaars, elections

Bond Non Taxable $200.00 $210.00 5.00%

Casual Use .

Casual Charge per hour (one of Bookings) Taxable $15.50 per hour, 

to a maximum of 

$190 per 24 hour 

period

$16 per hour, to a 

maximum of $200 

per 24 hour period

Regular Hirers (6 bookings of more per financial year) Must be NFP 

Community Based group. All bookings must be confirmed at the 

one time

$8 per hour, to a 

maximum of $100 

per 24 hour period

Hire of kitchen per use - additional charge Taxable $32.50 $35.00 7.69%

Hall hire insurance (public liability if customer does not have current 

public liability certificate)

Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Seniors Hall Hire

Casual Hire Seniors Hall Hire Not for profit organisation 

(Government funded), per hour

Taxable $15.50 $16 per hour, to a 

maximum of $200 

per 24 hour period

0.00%

Casual Hire Seniors Hall Hire Community organisation (non 

Government funding), per hour

Taxable $11.00 $11.50 per hour, 

to a maximum of 

$150 per 24 hour 

period

0.00%

Regular Hirers (6 bookings of more per financial year) Must be NFP 

Community Based group. All bookings must be confirmed at the 

one time

Taxable $8 per hour, to a 

maximum of $100 

per 24 hour period

0.00%DRAFT
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Shire Halls and Community Facilities cont.

Echuca East Community Facility - new fees

Functions (with alcohol) e.g. weddings, balls $250.00 $275.00 10.00%

Bond $500.00 $500.00 0.00%

Training, Conferences - for profit organisations inclusive of kitchen 

and open space - per day

$350.00 $350.00 0.00%

Training, Conference - not for profit groups inclusive of kitchen and 

open space - per day

$100.00 $100.00 0.00%

General Community Activity inclusive of kitchen and open space - 

per day
$100.00 $100.00 0.00%

Echuca East Community Facility - Casual use

Casual per hour fee $20.00 $22.50 per hour, 

to a maximum of 

$200 per 24 hour 

period

0.00%

Hire of kitchen per use - additional charge $50.00 $55.00 10.00%

Hall hire insurance (public liability if customer does not have current 

public liability certificate)

$50.00 $50.00 0.00%

Community Lease/ Cultural Practitioner Agreements for 

Council Properties

Public Liability Insurance

Facility Hirers insurance per booking Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Council performers per booking Taxable $25.00 $25.00 0.00%

Council tutors and instructors per booking Taxable $110.00 $110.00 0.00%

Artists in council studios per booking Taxable $110.00 $110.00 0.00%

Community Transport

Melbourne from all locations (maximum) Non Taxable $120.00 $120.00 0.00%

Bendigo from all locations (maximum) Non Taxable $60.00 $60.00 0.00%

Shepparton from all locations (maximum) Non Taxable $50.00 $50.00 0.00%

Miscellaneous Fees and Charges

Echuca CBD Flagpole Hire Taxable $340.00 $340.00 0.00%

Longitudinal Assets in Road Reserves

1. Establishment Fees Taxable $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00%

2. Annual Fees - per kilometre for stock & domestic and irrigation
Taxable $200.00 $200.00 0.00%

Freedom of Information (FOI)

Photocopying (other than Black and White) per A4 sheet - FOI 

requests only

$0.20 $0.20 0.00%

Additional access charge may apply in accordance with Section 22 

of the Freedom of Information Act and the Freedom of Information 

(Access Charges) Regulations 2014

On Quote On Quote

Lease cost will be determined on application by the relevant Manager.
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 
GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 
% Increase

Aquatic Services

Echuca War Memorial Aquatic Centre

Casual Fees

Pool Adult Taxable $7.10 $7.20 1.41%

Pool Adult (concession) Taxable $5.10 $5.20 1.96%

Pool Child (Child 5 years and under 18 years of age) Taxable $5.10 $5.20 1.96%

Pool Family Taxable $19.50 $20.00 2.56%

Swim/Steam Taxable $10.10 $10.30 1.98%

NEW FEE - Steam Taxable $5.00

Steam Casual Upgrade Taxable $3.00 $3.10 3.33%

10 visit Adult Pool Taxable $56.80 $57.60 1.41%

10 Visit Concession Pool Taxable $40.80 $41.60 1.96%

10 Visit Child Pool (Child 5 years and under 18 years of age) Taxable $40.80 $41.60 1.96%

Carnival Half day (up to 3 hours) *3 lifeguards, nil entry fee, extra 

lifeguards will be charged if required" 

Taxable $525.00 $540.00 2.86%

Carnival Full Day (from 4 to 6hours) Taxable $870.00 $890.00 2.30%

NEW FEE - Exclusive use Inflatable hire - per hour Taxable $174.00

Memberships (Fortnightly direct debit)

Gold Adult Taxable $44.50 $45.50 2.25%

Gold Adult Concession Taxable $38.00 $38.70 1.84%

Corporate Gold Adult Taxable $38.00 $38.70 1.84%

Family Gold  Taxable $87.00 $88.00 1.15%

Family Gold  Concession Taxable $74.00 $74.80 1.08%

Pool Adult  Taxable $26.00 $26.50 1.92%

Pool Adult Concession Taxable $22.00 $22.50 2.27%

Corporate Pool Adult Taxable $22.00 $22.50 2.27%

Family Pool Taxable $49.00 $50.00 2.04%

Family Pool Concession Taxable $42.00 $42.50 1.19%

NEW FEE Swim Fit Taxable $33.00

Other Pool Hire Fees

Group Swim Individual Entry  (+ Lane Hire if requiring exclusive use 

of space)

Taxable $3.90 $4.00 2.56%

Lane Hire per hr General (+ Group Swim Entry for non-members - 

Max 15 per lane)

Taxable $40.00 $41.00 2.50%

School Learn To Swim 30 Minute session per school child Non Taxable $7.50 $7.70 2.67%

School Learn to Swim 45 Minute session per school child $11.25 $11.50 2.22%

School Learn To Swim 60 Minute session per school child Non Taxable $15.00 $15.40 2.67%

LTS Group lesson - per 30 min lesson Non Taxable $16.50 $16.70 1.21%

LTS Private One Lesson (per 30 min lesson) Non Taxable $45.50 $46.50 2.20%

LTS Junior Development Squad (per 45 min lesson, previously 30 

min lesson)

Non Taxable $24.75 $25.00 1.01%

School Holiday LTS program Non Taxable $82.50 $83.50 1.21%DRAFT
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

COUNCIL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE (NON 

STATUTORY)

GST Status

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Outdoor Pools - Seasonal

Family Day Pass Taxable $18.00 $18.50 2.78%

Family Season Pass Taxable $180.00 $185.00 2.78%

Casual Adult Pass Taxable $5.50 $5.60 1.82%

Adult Season Pass Taxable $82.50 $84.00 1.82%

Concession Day pass Taxable $4.50 $4.60 2.22%

Child Day Pass (Child 5 years and under 18 years of age) Taxable $4.50 $4.60 2.22%

Concession Season Pass Taxable $67.50 $69.00 2.22%

Child Season Pass Taxable $67.50 $69.00 2.22%

Outdoor Pool Hire

Outside operational hours - per hour hire Taxable $175.00 $175.00 0.00%

Carnival Half day (up to 4 hours) Taxable $525.00 $540.00 2.86%

Carnival Full Day (from 4 to 6hours) Taxable $870.00 $890.00 2.30%

NEW FEE - Inflatable hire - per hour Taxable $179.00

EWMAC Gym and Group Fitness

Gym and Group Fitness fees

Gym - Casual Taxable $18.50 $18.50 0.00%

Gym - Casual Concession Taxable $15.50 $15.50 0.00%

Group Fitness Class Taxable $15.50 $15.50 0.00%

Group Fitness Class - Casual Concession (Water, Fit and Chair 

Based)

Taxable $13.00 $13.20 1.54%

Personal Training 1 hr Member Taxable $74.00 $74.00 0.00%

Personal Training 1/2 hr Member Taxable $45.00 $45.00 0.00%

10 visit Group Fitness Taxable $124.00 $124.00 0.00%

NEW FEE 5 visit Personal Trainer 1 hour Taxable $296.00

NEW FEE 5 visit Personal Trainer 1/2 hour Taxable $180.00

Fitness Session Group Booking (Maximum of 25 participants) Taxable $135.00 $138.00 2.22%

Memberships (fortnightly direct debit)

Gym Taxable $39.00 $39.50 1.28%

Gym Concession Taxable $33.00 $33.50 1.52%

Group Fitness Taxable $39.00 $39.50 1.28%

Group Fitness Concession Taxable $33.00 $33.50 1.52%

Youth Gym (Restricted hours of access refer to terms and 

conditions)

Taxable $25.00 $25.50 2.00%

Over 55's Taxable $30.00 $31.00 3.33%

Other Hire Fees

Shower Only Taxable $5.00 $5.00 0.00%

Additional staff member per hour Taxable $58.00 $58.00 0.00%DRAFT
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Part Two - Statutory fees and charges 

Statutory fees and charges are set by the State Government. Council has no input into these fees. 

The fees are based on the State Government penalty unit and fee units which were gazetted on 17 April 2023. 

For the 2023-2024 year these are: 

 One Penalty Unit  = $192.31 

 One Fee Unit  = $15.90  

The fees have been rounded to the nearest dollar when the full fees are calculated based on the above units. 
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

STATE OR FEDERAL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE 

(STATUTORY)

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

ALL STATUTORY FEES LISTED ARE GST EXEMPT

Animal fines (Government Penalty Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $192.31)

Registered animal not wearing council ID marker (0.5 of a penalty unit) $92.00 $96.00 4.3%

Unregistered animal wearing council ID marker (2 penalty units) $370.00 $385.00 4.1%

Person other than owner removing, altering or defacing ID marker (0.5 of a 

penalty unit)

$92.00 $96.00 4.3%

Dog or Cat on private property after notice served (0.5 of a penalty unit) $92.00 $96.00 4.3%

Dog at large or not securely confined to owners premises during daytime 

(1.5 of a penalty unit)

$277.00 $288.00 4.0%

Cat at large or not securely confined to owners premises in restricted 

municipal district (0.5 of a penalty unit)

$92.00 $96.00 4.3%

Dog or cat creating nuisance (0.5 of a penalty unit) $92.00 $96.00 4.3%

Contravening Council order relating to presence of dogs and cats in public 

places (1 penalty unit)

$185.00 $192.00 3.8%

Dog at large or not securely confined to owners premises during night time 

(2 penalty units)

$370.00 $385.00 4.1%

Greyhound not adequately muzzled or not controlled by chain, cord or 

leash (1.5 of a penalty unit)

$277.00 $288.00 4.0%

Not complying with order to abate nuisance  (1.5 of a penalty unit) $277.00 $288.00 4.0%

Failure to apply to register a dog or cat (2penalty units) $370.00 $385.00 4.1%

Parking

Road Safety (General Regulations) Offences Schedule 3 (4) $85.00 $85.00 0.0%

Road Safety (General Regulations) Offences Schedule 3 (6) (1 penalty unit) $185.00 $192.00 3.8%

Municpal Fire Prevention

Fire Prevention Infringement Notice (CFA Act Section 41D) (10penalty 

units)

$1,849.00 $1,923.00 4.0%

Land information certificates (1.82 fee units) $28.00 $29.00 3.6%

Stormwater legal point of discharge fee (9.77 fee units) $149.00 $155.00 4.0%

Application for Pool Registration (2.15 fee units) $33.00 $34.00 3.0%

Pool information search (3.19 fee units) $49.00 $51.00 4.1%

Lodgement of compliance pool certificate (1.38 fee units) $21.00 $22.00 4.8%

Lodgement of non-compliance pool certificate (26 fee units) $398.00 $413.00 3.8%

Planning - Subdivisions

Processing an application to certify a plan of subdivision under the 

Subdivision Act 1988 (11.8 fee units)

$180.00 $188.00 4.4%

Processing any other application for certification under the Subdivision Act 

1988 (11.8 fee units)

$180.00 $188.00 4.4%

Supervision of Works 2.50% x cost 

of engineering 

work

2.50% x cost 

of engineering 

work

NA

Check Engineering plans 0.75% x cost 

of engineering 

work

0.75% x cost 

of engineering 

work

NA

Certificates of Compliance under section 97N (22 fee units) $336.00 $350.00 4.2%

The fee for determining a matter where a planning scheme specifies that 

the matter must be done to the satisfaction of a responsible authority or a 

referral authority (22 fee units)

$336.00 $350.00 4.2%

Building Records/Information Services (Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $15.90)

Applications for Certification under the subdivision Act 1988 (Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - 

$15.90) DRAFT
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

STATE OR FEDERAL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE 

(STATUTORY)

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Planning Infringement Notice (Private 5 penalty units) per offence under the 

Planning and Environment Act

$925.00 $962.00 4.0%

Planning Infringement Notice (Company 10 penalty units) per offence under 

Planning and Environment Act

$1,849.00 $1,923.00 4.0%

Planning Approvals 

Planning Permit/Planning Permit Amendment Fees

Combined permit applications calculation 

required

calculation 

required

NA

The fee for an application for any combination of the classes of application 

outlined below is the sum arrived at by adding the highest of the fees which 

would have applied if separate applications had been made plus 50% of 

each of the other fees which would have applied if separate applications 

had been made.

calculation 

required

calculation 

required

NA

To Subdivide an existing building (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To Subdivide land into two lots (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To effect a realignment of a common boundary between lots or to 

consolidate two or more lots (89 fee units)

$1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To subdivide land other than above types of subdivision (89 fee units) $1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

$1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

NA

To remove a restriction (within the meaning of the Subdivision Act 1988) 

over land if the land has been used or developed for more than 2 years 

before the date of the applications in a manner which would have been 

lawful under the Planning and Environment Act. (89 fee units)

$1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To create, vary or remove a restriction within the meaning of the Subdivision 

Act 1988; or to create or remove a right of way (89 fee units)

$1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To create, vary or remove an easement other than a right of way; or to vary 

or remove a condition in the nature of an easement other than a right of way 

in a Crown grant. (89 fee units)

$1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

To amend an application for a permit after notice has been given 40% of fee 40% of fee NA

Class 1 - Use (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 2 - Single < $10K (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 3 - Single > $10K < $100K (42.5 fee units) $650.00 $676.00 4.0%

Class 4 - Single > $100K < $500K (87 fee units) $1,330.00 $1,383.00 4.0%

Class 5 - Single > $500K < $1M (94 fee units) $1,437.00 $1,495.00 4.0%

Class 6 - Single > $1M < $2M (101 fee units) $1,544.00 $1,606.00 4.0%

Class 7 - VicSmart < $10K (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 8 - VicSmart > $10K (29 fee units) $443.00 $461.00 4.1%

Class 9 - VicSmart Sub (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 10 - VicSmart App'n (other than class 7, 8 or 9) (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 11 - Dev < $100K (77.5 fee units) $1,185.00 $1,232.00 4.0%

Class 12 - Dev >$100K < $1M (104.5 fee units) $1,598.00 $1,662.00 4.0%

Class 13 - Dev > $1M < $5M (203.5 fee units) $3,524.00 $3,665.00 4.0%

Class 14 - Dev > $5M < $15M (587.5 fee units) $8,983.00 $9,341.00 4.0%

Class 15 - Dev > $15M < $50M (1732.5 fee units) $26,490.00 $27,547.00 4.0%

Class 16 - Dev > $50M (3894 fee units) $59,539.00 $61,915.00 4.0%

Class 17 - Sub Existing (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 18 - Sub 2 lots (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 19 - Realign (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 20 - Sub (other than class 17, 18 or 19) (89 fee units) $1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

$1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

Class 21 Vary Restriction (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 22 - Non defined (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Planning Infringements (Government Penalty Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $184.92)

Type of planning application  (2023/2024 Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 14 April 2022 - $15.9)

Planning Permit - Development (Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $15.90)
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

STATE OR FEDERAL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE 

(STATUTORY)

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Planning Permit - Amendment (classified)

Class 1 - Amendment to change the use of the permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 2 - Amendment to a permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 3 - Amendment to class 2, 3, 5, 5 or 6 permit if <$10K (13.5 fee 

units)

$206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 4 - Amendment to class 2, 3, 5, 5 or 6 permit if >$10K - <$100K 

(42.5 fee units)

$650.00 $676.00 4.0%

Class 5 - Amendment to class 2, 3, 5, 5 or 6 permit if >$100K - <$500K 

(87 fee units)

$1,330.00 $1,383.00 4.0%

Class 6 - Amendment to class 2, 3, 5, 5 or 6 permit if >$500K (94 fee 

units)

$1,437.00 $1,495.00 4.0%

Class 7 - Amendment to VicSmart permit if <$10K (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 8 - Amendment to VicSmart permit if >$10K (29 fee units) $443.00 $461.00 4.1%

Class 9 - Amendment to class 9 permit (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 10 - Amendment to class 10 permit (13.5 fee units) $206.00 $215.00 4.4%

Class 11 - Amendment to class 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 & 16 permit if <$100K 

(77.5 fee units)

$1,185.00 $1,232.00 4.0%

Class 12 - Amendment to class 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 & 16 permit if >$100K - 

<$1M (104 .5 fee units)

$1,598.00 $1,662.00 4.0%

Class 13 - Amendment to class 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 & 16 permit if >$1M 

(203.5 fee units)

$3,524.00 $3,665.00 4.0%

Class 14 - Amendment to class 17 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 15 - Amendment to class 18 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 16 - Amendment to class 19 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 17 - Amendment to class 20 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

$1,361.00 per 

100 lots 

created

Class 18 - Amendment to class 21 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Class 19 - Amendment to class 22 permit (89 fee units) $1,361.00 $1,415.00 4.0%

Application for certification of whole farm plans (22 fee units) $336.00 $350.00 4.2%

To amend to end an agreement under section 173 of the Act (44.5 fee 

units)

$680.00 $708.00 4.1%

Amendments to Planning Scheme

Considering a request to amend a planning scheme (206 fee units) $3,150.00 $3,275.00 4.0%

Considering submissions which seek a change to an amendment, and 

where necessary referring the submissions to a panel. Up to 10 

submissions (1021 fee units)

$15,611.00 $16,234.00 4.0%

Considering submissions which seek a change to an amendment, and 

where necessary referring the submissions to a panel. 11-20 submissions 

(2040 fee units)

$31,192.00 $32,436.00 4.0%

Considering submissions which seek a change to an amendment, and 

where necessary referring the submissions to a panel. More than 20 

submissions (2727 fee units)

$41,696.00 $43,359.00 4.0%

Adopting an amendment or a part of an amendment in accordance with 

section 20(4) (270 fee units)

$4,128.00 $4,293.00 4.0%

Adopting an amendment or a part of an amendment in accordance with 

section 20A (65 fee units)

$994.00 $1,034.00 4.0%

Whole Farm Plans (Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $15.90)

DRAFT
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2023/2024 CAMPASPE SHIRE COUNCIL FEES AND CHARGES

STATE OR FEDERAL SET FEES & CHARGES SCHEDULE 

(STATUTORY)

2022/2023 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

2023/2024 

Charge (Incl. 

GST)

% Increase

Works within a Road Reserve permit fees (Goverment Fee Unit gazetted on 17 April 2023 - $15.90)

Municipal Road with speed limit less than 50kmh 

Works conducted on any part of the roadway, shoulder or pathway (23.5 

fee units)

$359.00 $374.00 4.2%

Works not conducted on any part of the roadway, shoulder or pathway (6 

fee units)

$92.00 $95.00 3.3%

Municipal Road with speed limit greater than 50kmh NA

Works conducted on any part of the roadway, shoulder or pathway (43.1fee 

units)

$659.00 $685.00 3.9%

Works not conducted on any part of the roadway, shoulder or pathway 

(23.5 fee units)

$359.00 $374.00 4.2%

Caravan Park (3 year registrations, new regulations)

Caravan Park A (17 fee units) $260.00 $270.00 3.8%

Caravan Park B (34 fee units) $520.00 $541.00 4.0%

Caravan Park C (68 fee units) $1,040.00 $1,081.00 3.9%

Caravan Park D (103 fee units) $1,575.00 $1,638.00 4.0%

Caravan Park E (137 fee units) $2,095.00 $2,178.00 4.0%

Caravan Park F (171 fee units) $2,615.00 $2,719.00 4.0%

Onsite Wastewater Permit Fees

Installation, construction or alteration of an onsite wastewater system 

(48.88 fee units)

$747.00 $777.00 4.0%

Minor alteration of an onsite wastewater system (37.25 fee units) $570.00 $592.00 3.9%

Additional time spent over 8.2 hours 6.12 fee units per hour $94.00 $97.00 3.2%

Transfer of an Onsite Wastewater System permit (9.93 fee units) $152.00 $158.00 3.9%

Application to amend an Onsite Wastewater System Permit (10.38 fee 

units)

$159.00 $165.00 3.8%

Application to renew an Onsite Wastewater System Permit (8.31 fee units) $127.00 $132.00 3.9%

Freedom of Information (FOI)

Application Fee (2 fee units) $31.00 $32.00 3.2%

Search Time Charge (1.5 fee units) per hour $23.00 per 

hour or part of 

an hour

$23.00 per 

hour or part of 

an hour

NA

Inspection Supervision Charge (1.5 fee units) per hour $23.00 per 

hour (to be 

calculated per 

quarter hour or 

part of a 

quarter hour)

$23.00 per 

hour (to be 

calculated per 

quarter hour or 

part of a 

quarter hour)

NA

Photocopying (Black and White) per A4 sheet - FOI requests only $0.20 $0.20 0.0%DRAFT
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OFFICIAL

2023/2024 BUDGET SUBMISSIONS REGISTER

SUBMISSIONS CLOSE 5.00PM THURSDAY 1 JUNE 2023

SUBMISSION HEARING 6.00PM TUESDAY 6 JUNE 2023

DATE 
RECEIVED

NAME P/CODE DUAL
SUBS

COMMENT RESPONSE

24/05/2023 Colin Bacon on 
Behalf of 

Lockington Rec 
Reserve 

Management 
Committee

3563 No Lockington Rec Reserve oval lighting upgrade is absent from the 
2023-24 Campaspe Shire Budget.  This is disappointing as the 
oval lighting upgrade has been a Lockington community priority 
that has been raised at numerous town planning forums over a 
period of some fifteen years.  In these discussions safety has 
always been raised as a concern.

Please refer to the Campaspe Shire pre-budget submission 
Receipt Number 60 that was submitted 4 January on behalf of 
the Lockington Rec Reserve Management Committee, where the 
need for a lighting upgrade is outlined.

Additional information now known as the existing oval lights have 
been tested twice since the earlier submission.  Both tests have 
shown the average Lux level to be of very poor standard and 
quite unsafe, not fit for purpose.  My understanding is the first 
test came back with an average Lux reading of 22.3, the second 
was a little higher between 24 and 25 Lux.  Both a failure.

The Campaspe Shire website has an article Light testing at 
sports grounds published on 3 April 2020 this reads Council is 
continuing to assess and maintain its infrastructure and will be 
testing sports grounds lights during the shire during this month.  
Lockington Recreation Reserve was named.  It goes on to say, 
“that the testing will start in early April and will take approximately 
three weeks and will ensure the lighting at sports grounds 
continues to meet the needs of the community and Australian 
Standards”.  Was this completed and any report produced?  To 
my knowledge the Lockington Rec Reserve Management 
Committee haven’t seen any results.  If the lights had been 
tested at this time you would assume that going by the resent 
test results, they would have failed to meet the shires own 
standards.  This makes it more puzzling to understand why there 
has been no upgrade three years on, and why they are not listed 
in the 10-Year capital works program.

A quick search, you will find a few websites that refer to AFL oval 
lighting guideline/recommendations.  I have attached the link to 

Response to Submitter:

Due to the emergent nature of the 
lighting issue at Lockington, the 
project has not been included in a 
future capital program as it is 
anticipated it will be addressed as 
soon as possible in the current 
program.  The current pole height is 
correct to achieve the local level 
requirement for training of 50 Lux.

The AFL guidelines clearly indicate 
50 Lux is suitable for training at 
local club level.
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DATE 
RECEIVED

NAME P/CODE DUAL
SUBS

COMMENT RESPONSE

AFL preferred guidelines and sport.vic.gov.au Community 
Sporting Facility Lighting Guide both documents use the same 
lighting standards.  
https://cdn.aflvic.com.au/raw/AFL-PFG-Guidelines-2019.pdf  
https://sport.vic.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0020/56180/football-
netball-soccor-lighting-guide-2012.pdf  

We (Lockington Rec Reserve Management Committee) have 
been previously informed that the Lockington Rec Reserve oval 
lights if renewed would only be to a standard of 50 Lux, a so-
called training standard.  Page 17 & 18 in the AFL preferred 
facility guidelines makes for informative reading regarding oval 
lighting.  But I refer to page 19 Australian standard (AS2560.2.3 
– lighting for football (all codes) amateur level.  50 Lux maybe 
suitable for ball and physical training but a minimum 100 Lux is 
required for club competition and match practice.  Gone are the 
days of inline training drills.  I would argue that 90% of all modern 
football training comprises of match type drills simulating match 
play thus requiring lighting at a minim of 100 Lux.  LBU senior 
football training usually involves up to 50 players as a groups, 
sometimes more.

Note 1:  According to AS25260.2.3 footnote e; Ball and Physical 
Training is considered to differ from match practice in that ball 
and physical training is more controlled, involves fewer 
participants (typically two to four) and the paths of the 
participants and that of any ball used are more predictable than 
in a match-practice environment.

The Lockington football oval is of a similar size to the oval 
diagram on page 19 of the Community Sporting Facility Lighting 
Guide.  With a  playing surface of 166m X 130m this shows that 
to get the lighting up to Australian lighting standards the current 
oval light poles aren’t of adequate height.

At a minimum 2023-24 budget consideration is required to 
formulate a total project design to get a build phase.

We look forward to working with the council to get the oval lights 
up to the required specifications to meet the State Government 
guidelines, AFL standards and the Campaspe Shire’s own 
standards as quickly as possible to avoid any safety issues.
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DATE 
RECEIVED

NAME P/CODE DUAL
SUBS

COMMENT RESPONSE

01/06/2023 Philip Whiting 3550 Yes The Mount Pleasant Football Netball Club is greatly appreciative of
Council including $304,000 in its draft 2023/24 budget to fund essential
infrastructure upgrades to the Toolleen Recreation Reserve netball
courts.

Our club has been working on this project since 2017 and engaging with
Council since 2018 to complete this work which is becoming more 
urgent with time & especially after the impact of the 2022 floods. To date 
we have expended approx. $30,000 of our own limited resources toward 
this project by way of temporary repairs & design plans.

It is pleasing to see that this allocation supports the claim made to our
club and the HDFNL at last year’s onsite visit with council representative
that the Toolleen Netball Court upgrade was Council’s “top priority” for
sporting upgrades.

This project has been a particularly frustrating journey for our club and 
its committed volunteers, and we are excited that after 7 years of 
planning and stop, start activity that this project is now much closer to 
completion.

We thank the Council for their engagement with this project and
honouring its commitment to allocate funding should our club meet the
cost of a detailed design & construct plan.

The following is a brief summary of this project’s history.
Time Frame Summary of Events

Nov 2018 Engaged Council with plans to complete Toolleen Netball 
Court re-surfacing work, anticipating approx. 18-month timeframe to 
completion.

Feb 2021 Clun planned to self-fund resurfacing work at a cost of approx.
$60,000 in readiness for the 2022 season.

Mar 2021 Council advised they would cover the cost of this resurfacing,
like for like funded, with works to be completed after the 2021 netball
season.  

We understand Council received a grant of approx. $75,000 to fund this
work.

Oct 2021 On Site visit with Council who advised they would project
manage the upgrade; this is despite our club having already obtained
quotes in readiness to complete & we were prepared to project manage
ourselves to minimise costs.

Dec 2021 Council advised they did not receive any responses to their

Response to Submitter:

Thank you for your submission.  
Your comments have been noted.
Council has included an allocation 
of LRCI grant funding of $304,250 
in the 2023-2024 Budget for this 
project.
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COMMENT RESPONSE

tender request and that the tender would be extended.

Dec 2021 Netball Victoria conducted an audit on Campaspe Shire 
courts and Toolleen courts had non-compliant issues to resolve.

Feb 2022 Council advised that the anticipated re-surfacing project cost 
was expected to be $150,000 and that the existing grant was insufficient 
and had to be spent by June 2022.

Feb 2022 Further advised that a detailed design would be required and 
that the project would need to be a court replacement not a re-surfacing. 
Council asked if our club would cover/contribute to the cost of a full 
detailed design.

We understand the grant money earmarked for this project was
redirected to another project to meet the grant June 2022 spend
deadline.

May 2022 Club & HDFNL Chairman meet with acting Council CEO on 
site at Toolleen and discussed the protracted history and club 
frustrations with this project.

We were advised that in terms of sporting upgrades the Toolleen Netball
courts upgrade was Councils “top priority”.

We were also advised that if the club paid for a detailed design for the
construction of new compliant netball courts at Toolleen Recreation
Reserve, Council would allocate 1st priority funding from its future
Federal LRCI grant application.

Apr 2023 Club paid $22,261.80 for the detailed design for the 
construction of new compliant netball courts at Toolleen Recreation 
Reserve.

May 2023 Campaspe Shire allocates $304,000 in its draft 2023/24 
budget for essential infrastructure upgrades to the Toolleen Recreation 
Reserve netball courts. 

I look forward to attending the submission hearing on June 6th, along
with the Toolleen Recreation Reserve President, Russell Pretty, to talk 
to our submission.
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SUBS

COMMENT RESPONSE

29/05/2023 Russell John 
Pretty

3551 Yes The Toolleen Recreation Reserve Committee fully supports the 
replacement of the Mount Pleasant Netball Courts at the 
Toolleen Recreational Reserve. The whole of life cost of 
$608,500 aligns with
current budget costings. The proposed $304,250 expenditure for 
23/24 Grant Funded Capital Work will allow for the replacement 
of the lighting, players shelter and fencing. The Committee has 
applied for a DEECA
Flood Recovery Grant for the court replacement works for 
$453,474 (court demolition/excavation, new base course, new 
asphalt, concrete pathways, drainage, line marking). If the 
DEECA grant application is unsuccessful then the reserve will be 
relying on the Council initiated grant applications to cover the full 
amount. This could be over two financial year cycles providing 
the court playing surface works were the
priority for the first financial year.
The TRR is also supportive of the skip loading bay upgrade 
works planned for the Toolleen Waste Transfer Station and the 
widening of the Toolleen/Axedale Road.

Response to Submitter:

Thank you for your submission.  
Your comments have been noted.
Council has included an allocation 
of LRCI grant funding of $304,250 
in the 2023-2024 Budget for this 
project.
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NAME P/CODE DUAL
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COMMENT RESPONSE

26/05/2023 David Baker 3564 No I would like to say I am happy with the Budget and 
would like to find if the allocation for the Library allows 
for new books to be purchased.

Response to Submitter:

Campaspe Shire Council is actively 
working to improve the variety and age of 
its library collection.  Increased resourcing 
for physical collection items as well as e-
books and e-magazines is included in the 
draft 2023-24 budget, with approximately 
20% increased spend proposed when 
compared to financial year 2022-23.

01/06/2023 Dean Wallace 3559 No It is disappointing that the shire has left Colbinabbin out 
of the community growth model it has shown for other 
towns. Many community and recreation reserve projects 
for Colbinabbin have been sent to the
Shires responsible officers for consideration. None have 
been mentioned in this draft budget. Community and 
directly CHILD safety is surprisingly a low priority for the 
Shire of Campaspe putting rubbish and talking as a
higher priority.
The number of items logged with the shire is as follows
Finalise drainage following from Nov 2022 floods:
Advocate safe channel crossings to the School and 
Recreation reserve to and from the township.
Provide compliant public toilets to the town.
Provide minimum service level facilities to the 
recreation reserve, namely disabled toilet, coaches 
boxes football, netball change rooms.
Behind the goals nets for football and ground 
renovation for bowls rink.
Colbinabbin is a growth corridor for Tourism and 
Agriculture. The school and kindergarten are at 
capacity, This means local children miss out
while services in town are stagnant due to council 
inactivity.

Response to Submitter:

There are several projects for local 
Colbinabbin road-related renewals and 
waste infrastructure upgrades that are 
included within the broader capital works 
program along with continued support for 
programs consistent with the Colbinabbin 
Place Based Plan. Council is working with 
the community through the Place Based 
Plan to develop a Township Facilities Plan. 
Once a Township Facilities Plan has been 
developed the community and Council can 
use this to apply for funding and/or design 
to develop identified and necessary 
infrastructure.

Attachment 8.5.1.2

20 June 2023 Council Meeting Attachments Minutes 239



Asset Capitalisation policy 144

1 of 15 

   
C

ou
nc

il 
Po

lic
y 

   
   

   
 C

ou
nc

il 
Po

lic
y 

   
   

   
C

ou
nc

il 
Po

lic
y 

   
   

   
C

ou
nc

il 
Po

lic
y

Asset Capitalisation

1. Purpose
To provide consistent guidelines, in accordance with relevant Accounting Standards and State Government 
Policy, regarding which Campaspe Shire Council (‘Council’) assets are to be capitalised (as opposed to 
expensed).

The policy:

 Specifies the principles for recognising an asset for capitalisation

 States what ‘Measurement and Recognition' model Council applies to its assets

 Provides guidance to staff involved in budgeting and expenditure decisions around assets

 Provides direction on responsibilities around asset data management

 Assists staff in determining appropriate funding sources for asset works.

This policy applies to all non-current assets of the Council.

Accounting standards (particularly Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) AASB 116 - Property, 
Plant and Equipment) require a distinction to be made between expenditure that is consumed immediately in 
operations (or within one financial year) and expenditure on physical assets that will provide service over more 
than one financial year, normally many years.

Typical physical non-current assets managed by Council include roads, bridges, footpaths, drains, parks and 
buildings. Typical non-physical assets managed by Council include software, licenses, water rights, 
trademarks, copyrights and images.

This policy is to provide staff involved in budgeting and expenditure decisions clear guidance when classifying 
expenditure in the corporate Finance system. It establishes the capitalisation criteria at the point of recognition 
of an asset.

The recording of expenditure as an asset means that it is recorded in the Council’s balance sheet and the 
details are entered into the corporate asset register. The process is often referred to as capitalisation. Such 
expenditure on assets is referred to as capital expenditure.

Importantly, capital expenditure is divided between renewal, upgrade, expansion and new expenditure 
classifications.

2. Definitions
Asset Recognition Rules Council Asset Recognition Rules are contained in this policy. These rules 

outline when expenditure is classed as capital and is required to be recorded 
on the corporate asset register. The rules are defined principally in physical 
terms to align with budget setting, assist asset register capture and aid 
technical staff with decision making.

In general, expenditure that creates a new asset or upgrades / enhances an 
existing asset is treated as capital expenditure (subject to asset recognition 
rules).

Where capital expenditure is classed as renewal / replacement of entire asset, 
the replaced asset is retired from the corporate asset register and the new 
asset capitalised.

Asset disposals that are not related to renewal works are dealt with under the 
Council Asset Rationalisation and Disposal Policy.

Council Policy Number 144

Date adopted 20 June 2023

Scheduled for review June 2026
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A Non-Current Asset Any asset which is not expected to be fully consumed, realised, sold or 
otherwise disposed of within one financial year. Not all non-current assets will 
be capitalised under this policy.

Corporate Asset Register Asset database containing physical, technical, financial and service level 
information for each asset. Spatial representation of assets is recorded 
through GIS software. The assets capitalised under this policy will form a 
subset of the corporate asset register which should include all non-current 
assets not just capitalised assets.

Capital Expenditure Is the expenditure used to create a new assets or to increase the capacity of 
existing assets beyond the original design capacity or service potential. 
Capital expenditure increases the value of asset stock. This is determined by 
the asset recognition rules and expenditure can fall under one of the following 
categories and includes the entire asset component, where an asset has been 
componentised:

a) Renewal is expenditure on an existing asset or replacing an existing 
asset that returns the service capability to its original capacity.

(Future operating and maintenance expenditure may be reduced if 
completed at the optimum time, e.g. resurfacing or re-sheeting part of 
a road network, replacing a section of a drainage network with pipes of 
the same capacity, resurfacing an oval.)

b) Upgrade is expenditure that –

i. enhances an existing asset to provide a higher level of service; 
or

ii. increases the life of the asset beyond its original life.

(It will generally increase operating and maintenance expenditure, including 
depreciation, in the future because of the increase in the council's asset base, 
e.g., widening the sealed area of an existing road, replacing drainage pipes 
with pipes of a greater capacity, enlarging a grandstand at a sporting facility, 
building extension etc.)

c) Expansion is expenditure that extends the capacity of an existing asset 
to provide benefits to new users at the same standard as is provided to 
existing beneficiaries.

(It is discretionary expenditure, which increases future operations and 
maintenance costs, because it increases the organisation’s asset base, but 
may be associated with additional revenue from the new user group, e.g. 
extending a drainage or road network, the provision of an oval or park in a 
new suburb for new residents.)

d) New is expenditure that creates a new asset that provides a service 
that does not currently exist.

Operating Expenditure is recurrent expenditure, which is continuously required to provide a service. 
It is also any expenditure that does not fall within the asset recognition rules 
(including expenditure on assets that are not owned or managed by Council).

Maintenance Expenditure is recurrent expenditure, specifically on an asset, which is periodically required 
as part of the anticipated schedule of works needed to ensure that the asset 
achieves its estimated useful life and provides the required level of service. It 
is expenditure, which was anticipated in determining the assets useful life. It 
is normally relatively low cost compared to the asset value. Maintenance 
expenditure includes reactive maintenance and repair or planned 
maintenance.
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3. Policy Statement
1. The Asset Recognition Matrix below defines how expenditure on assets will be recognised.

2. Assets with shared ownership or control will be recognised in proportion to Council’s agreed 
management interest.

3. The Asset Recognition Rules define how expenditure is treated financially.

4. The responsibility to record and manage assets not recognised under this policy will be defined in the 
Asset Management Strategy.

5. Only assets capitalised under this policy will depreciate and contribute to the determination of available 
annual renewal funds under the Strategy.
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ASSET RECOGNITION MATRIX
The following matrices define the treatment of assets based on management and ownership structures:

Asset Management

Land Ownership

Council 
Managed 
(Direct)

Council 
Managed 

(Delegated) 

Council 
Managed 
(Contract)

Council Leased, 
Licenced or 

Agreed (Council 
Lessee/Licensee)

Asset 
Commercially 

Leased (Council 
Lessor)

Other 
(non-commercial) 

Lease 
(Council Lessor)

DEECA 
Local 

Committee Other
Council Land 1 1 1 2 3 3

Crown Land -Council Committee of 
Management 1 1 1

2 3
3

Crown Land –  Vested 1 1 1 2 3 3
Crown Land – Lease 1 1 1 2 3 3

Crown Land – Non-Council Managed 
Other Committee of Management

1 4

Private Land
1 5 – Proposed 

Subdivisions
Government Road 1 1 4

Asset Management

Mobile/Non-Fixed Physical Asset 
Ownership

Council 
Managed 
(Direct)

Council 
Managed 

(Delegated) 

Council 
Managed 
(Contract)

Council Leased, 
Licenced or 

Agreed (Council 
Lessee/Licensee) 

Asset 
Commercially 

Leased (Council 
Lessor)

Other Lease 
(Council Lessor)

DEECA 
Local 

Committee Other
Council 1 1* 3 3
Private 6

Asset Management

Non-Physical Asset Ownership

Council 
Managed 
(Direct)

Council 
Managed 

(Delegated) 

Council 
Managed 
(Contract)

Council Leased, 
Licenced or 

Agreed (Council 
Lessee/Licensee) 

Asset 
Commercially 

Leased (Council 
Lessor)

Other Lease 
(Council Lessor)

DEECA 
Local 

Committee Other
Council 1 2 3 3
Private 6

1. Expenditure is recognised per Asset Recognition Rules of this policy. (* Due to changes in accounting standards leased assets will be depreciated from 1 July 2019)
2. Expenditure is recognised per Asset Recognition Rules of this policy but asset recorded on corporate asset register is not depreciated.
3. Refer to specific agreement in place outlining the treatment of expenditure. If no agreement in place, asset remains on corporate asset register until agreement is in place (peppercorn leases).
4. Any expenditure is at Council’s discretion and is deemed to be operational.
5. Assets are not recognised (until a Statement of Compliance is issued).
6. Assets are not recognised
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4.1 Measurement and Recognition Rules
In accordance with AASB 116:

a. An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset shall be 
measured at its cost. 

b. Notwithstanding this, where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost (as the case with 
developer and other granted assets), the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Assets owned by Council not previously recognised shall be capitalised in line with the requirements of AASB 
116. New assets will be allocated an ID number before being added to the asset register.

4.2 Recognition Cost
AASB 116 defines the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment as comprising:

a) Its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade 
discounts and rebates;

b) Any costs directly attributable to bring the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management;

c) The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it 
is located, the obligation for which an entity incurred either when the item is acquired or as a consequence of 
having used the item during a particular period for purposes other than to produce inventories during that 
period.1

Examples of costs that are not costs of an item of property, plant and equipment are:

a) Costs of opening a new facility;
b) Costs of introducing a new product or service (including advertising);
c) Costs of conducting business in a new location;

Activity Recurrent 
Expenditure

Capital 
Expenditure2

All activities prior to decision made to proceed with investment including:
 Strategic planning reports
 Project feasibility planning and investigation 



All activities following decision made to proceed with investment 
including:
 Planning approvals 
 Survey and design 
 Professional fees
 Site preparation
 Construction
 Contract payments (excluding compensation payments)
 Council direct costs, wages, salaries, plant hire, materials, on-

costs
 Administration and other general overhead costs.
 Supervision
 Transport, installation, assembly and testing
 Project Management

Future dismantling and removing item and site restoration (where 
applicable)



1. AASB, 2004, Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, para 89

2. Capital expenditure subject to expenditure recognition criteria section of this policy    
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4.3 Work In-Progress
Work-in-progress shall be monitored and reviewed regularly to determine whether development costs for 
projects should be capitalised upon completion. In line with best practice, Project Managers are required to 
send Asset Transfer Forms and Project Completion Certificates to the Assets Department as soon as a project 
is finalised. This ensures development costs ready to be capitalised commence with an accurate useful life.

The [insert title of asset officers] will review the Asset Transfer Forms and Project Completion certificates, and 
capitalise the project developments adding the new assets to the asset register 

The Finance Manager is notified of Project Completion Certificates being uploaded onto the Asset 
Management System. The Work-in-Progress General Ledger is reviewed by the Management Accountant and 
recently completed projects capitalised are removed from the ledger.

See Appendix A for Work-In-Progress Flowchart. 

4.4 Materiality 
AASB outlines information is material if its omission, misstatement or non-disclosure has the potential, 
individually or collectively, to:

a) influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements; or

b) affect the discharge of accountability by the management of governing body of the entity.

Materiality can depend on the size and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in surrounding 
circumstances. 

Based on the materiality level set, it is not necessary to recognise and capitalise every potential non-current 
asset. For example expenditure of items of capital nature may only have a useful life greater than 12 months 
but its value is minor and would not affect the economic decisions of the Council if not capitalised. For example, 
a calculator, office lamp or keyboard. When such expenses are immaterial and not capitalised, they are 
expensed and coded as minor, low value or miscellaneous assets.

The purpose of setting a threshold is to minimise the expense, time and effort associated with maintaining the 
asset register. This must be balanced with the need to expense items through depreciation.

Care should be taken when determining capital expenses, which alone, would normally be under the threshold. 
However, if they form part of a collection or group of assets with a total value that is material could be 
capitalised as part of a project. For example painting on its own would normally be expenses but if it was to 
upgrade a company vehicle, it would be deemed material and capitalised.

Asset class capitalisation thresholds are contained in the Capitalisation Thresholds table in Appendix B.

4. Exclusions
Nil

5. Human Rights
This report has considered and complies with the Human Rights and Responsibilities contained in the Victorian 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006.

6. Related Legislation
Legislative requirements which Council must comply with include:

The Local Government Act 2020, Section 98 provides that Council must prepare Financial Statements in 
accordance with the Act.

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  This policy has been developed in accordance with the 
following AASB Standards

 AASB 116 Property Plant & Equipment

 AASB 1041 Revaluation of Non-current Assets

 AASB 136 Impairment of Assets

 AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting    
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Additional guidance material is available including:

 Australian Infrastructure Financial Management Manual (2015)

 Victorian Auditor-General’s Office – issues annual reports on the results of Local Government

 Audits, including comments and recommendations regarding aspects of asset valuation practice.

 Department of Treasury and Finance – issues financial reporting directions and financial reporting 
guidance notes, some of which are applicable to Local Government.

 Local Government Victoria – Local Government Asset Management – Better Practice Guide. 

7. Related Policies, Procedures and Strategies
Nil

8. Attachments
Asset Recognition Rules

9. Review Period, Responsible officer
Three years Asset Manager and Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

10. Administrative Updates
It is recognised that, from time to time, circumstances may change leading to the need for minor administrative changes 
to this document. Where an update does not materially alter the policy, such a change may be made administratively. 
Examples include a change to the name of a Council department, a change to the name of a Federal or State Government 
department, and a minor update to legislation which does not have a material impact. However, any change or update 
which materially alters this document must be by resolution of Council.

11. Approval History
Adopted 11 September 2013 Executive Management Group
Reviewed 14 December 2016 Executive Management Group
Reviewed 19 February 2019 Minutes Book Reference No 404 (item 7.2)
Revised 23 June 2020 Minute Book Reference No 2221 (Item 9.6)
Revised 1 March 2021 Administrative update to apply consistent reference to

Campaspe Shire Council (‘Council’)
Revised 20 June 2023 Council Resolution

Chief Executive Officer: …………………………………………………………………………

Date: …………………………………………………………………………
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Appendix A – Work-in-Progress Review Process 

Project Costs 
Incurred

• Costs expensed initially as development costs and reside in 
Work-In-Progress Spend and Project Capitalisation General 
Ledger.

Project 
Completion

• An Asset Transfer Form and Completion Certificate are 
finalised and sent to the Asset Department as soon as the 
project is compelted. 

Update of 
Asset Register

• Asset Transfer Forms and Completion Certificates are 
reviewed and approved by Asset Analyst. These new 
assets are then entered into the Asset Managment 
system and will commence depreciating.

Update WIP

• The Finance Manager is notified once the asset has been 
capitalised by the Asset Department. The Managment 
Accountant will review and update the Work-In-Progress 
General Ledger and remove the capitalised expenditure.
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 Asset Category 4 Asset Component 2 
Asset Class 5 Recogn 

ised 
(Y/N) 6 

Fair 
Value 
Method 
7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-
Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Pool Structure 
(Shell) 

Swimming Pools Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 80 Condition-
Based 

Water Treatment 
Systems 

 Swimming Pools Y DRC N/A 3 N/A 3 1-50 Straight-Line 

Recreational, Leisure and 
Community

Water Treatment 
Facility

Swimming Pools Y DRC N/A 3 N/A 3 20 Straight-Line 

SWIMMING POOLS

 

 

Pools Surrounds & 
Equipment

Pool Structures Swimming Pools Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 5-80 Condition-
Based 

Super-Structure  Bridges Y DRC Condition 3 33 3 100 Condition-
Based 

Major Culverts Bridges Y DRC Condition 3 33 3 100 Condition- 
Based.

BRIDGES Bridges 
(Incl. Major Culverts, 
Footbridges 
& boardwalks) 

 

 
Super-Structure Footbridges 

& boardwalks
Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 50 Condition-

Based

Artworks Artworks Artworks Y HC  N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A Not 
Depreciated 

Artefacts & Exhibits 
(Furniture & Equipment)

Building Equipment Artefacts & 
Exhibits

Y HC N/A N/A N/A N/A 5-20 Straight-Line

ARTWORKS, 
MONUMENTS, 
ARTEFACTS & 
EXHIBITS

Other Infrastructure Statues & 
Monuments  
 

Monuments, 
Statues & 
Fountains 

Y HC  Age N/A N/A N/A 100 Straight-Line 
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 Asset Category 4 Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 
Recogn 

ised 
(Y/N) 6 

Fair 
Value 
Method 
7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-
Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation Method 

 Other Infrastructure

 

Plaques 
Plaques

N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Drinking Fountains Drinking 
Fountains 

N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

 

 

 

Fountains & 
Water 
Features 

 
Water Features Water 

Features 
N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

FOOTPATHS & 
CYCLEWAYS

Footpaths & 
Cycleways

Footpaths & 
Cycleways

Footpaths & 
Cycleways

Y DRC Condition 5 N/A 5 50 Condition-Based 

Plant - Heavy Plant and 
Equipment 

Y HC Age N/A N/A N/A 3 - 10 Straight-Line PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

 

 

Plant and 
Equipment 

 

 

Plant - Minor Plant and 
Equipment 

Y HC Age N/A N/A N/A 1 - 5 Straight-Line 

Fleet & Light Vehicles Plant and 
Equipment 

Y HC Age N/A N/A N/A 3 - 5 Straight-Line 
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 Asset Category 4 Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 
Recogn 

ised 
(Y/N) 6 

Fair Value 
Method 7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Fittings Furniture & 
Equipment
 

Furniture & Office 
Equipment 

Plant and 
Equipment

Y HC Age N/A N/A N/A 3 - 15 Straight-Line 

Heritage Plant & 
Equipment

Heritage Plant & 
Equipment

Plant and 
Equipment

Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 100 Straight-Line

Computers & 
Telecommunications

Computers & 
Telecommunications 

Plant and 
Equipment

Y HC Age N/A N/A N/A 4 Straight-Line 

Structure – Long Life Buildings Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 75 Condition-Based 

Structure – Short Life Buildings Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 25-50 Condition-Based 

BUILDINGS

 

 

 

 

 

 Buildings  
 

 

Other Structures (Town 
Entrances)

Buildings Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 25-50 Condition-Based

Buildings Investments Properties Structure – Long Life Investments 
Buildings

Y DRC/MV Condition 3 N/A 1 75 Condition-Based
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 
Asset 
Category 4 

Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 
Recogn 

ised 
(Y/N) 6 

Fair 
Value 
Method 
7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-
Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Land – Crown Land Land Y MV N/A  N/A N/A 3  Indefinite   Not Depreciated 

Land – Council Owned Land Y MV N/A  N/A N/A 3 Indefinite Not Depreciated 

 Land Improvements
Land Y M/V N/A N/A N/A N/A 1-50 Straight Line

LAND

 

 

 

 

 Land

 

 

 
Land Under Roads  

Land Y MV N/A  N/A N/A 3 Indefinite Not Depreciated 

Irrigation-
Miscellaneous

Irrigation Y DRC Age N/A N/A 3 25 Straight-Line OPEN SPACES, 
PARKS & 
STREETSCAPES
 
 

 

Standpipes Standpipes N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Exercise 
Equipment 

Park Equipment Exercise 
equipment

Y DRC Condition N/A N/A N/A 20 Straight-Line

Playgrounds 
(play areas)

Playgrounds Playgrounds Y DRC Condition 1 N/A 3 30 Condition-Based 

Benches, Tables & 
Picnic Sets 

Furniture N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Bins & Surrounds Furniture N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Public 
Furniture & 
Fixtures 

 

 Barbeques Barbeques Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 10 Condition-Based 

OPEN SPACES

 

 

 

 

 

Skate Parks

    
Skate Parks Skate Parks Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 80 Condition-Based 
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 Asset Category 4 Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 Recogn ised 
(Y/N) 6 

Fair 
Value 
Method 
7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-
Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Bus Stops Bus Stops N N/A N/A N/A N/A   N/A N/A N/A

Fences & Bollards Fences & 
Bollards

Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 50 Straight Line 

Parking Meters Parking 
Meters

Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 15 Straight Line

Guard Rails Guard Rails N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Bus Shelters Bus Shelters N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Railway Railway Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 100 Straight Line

OTHER 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Signs Signs y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 20 Straight Line

Marine 
Structures

Other 
Infrastructure

Pontoons, 
Wharves & Jetties

Pontoons, 
Wharves & 
Jetties

Y DRC Condition 5 N/A 5 80 Condition-
Based
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 
Asset 

Category 4 
Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 

Recogn 
ised 

(Y/N) 6 
Fair 
Value 
Method 7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-Based 

 Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Sports Courts Park Active Area Sports Courts Y DRC Condition 5 N/A 5 25 - 50 Condition-
Based 

Sports 
Infrastructure 
(Scoreboards, 
goal posts)

Park Equipment
Sports 
Infrastructure

Y DRC Condition 5 N/A 5 20 Condition-
Based

Recreational, 
Leisure and 
Community

Sports 
Lighting

Lighting Main Sports Lighting Y   DRC Condition  3 N/A 3 30 Straight Line

Surface Main - Asphalt Surface Y DRC Condition 4 N/A 4 20 Condition-
Based 

Surface Main– Spray 
Seals 

Surface Y DRC Condition 4 N/A 4 15 Condition-
Based 

Pavement Pavement Y DRC Condition 4  N/A 4  80 Condition-
Based 

Roads
Unsealed 
Roads (Inc. 
internal 
roads and 
Unsealed 
runways and 
Car Parks)

Gravel Roads Gravel Pavement Y DRC Condition  2 N/A 4 15 Condition 
Based

Shoulders Shoulders Y DRC Condition 4 N/A 4 15 Condition 
Based
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Valuation Method Condition Assessment 

Asset Group1 
Asset 

Category 4 
Asset Component 2 Asset Class 5 

Recogn 
ised 

(Y/N) 6 
Fair 

Value 
Method 7 

If DRC 
Age-based 

or 
Cond-
Based 

Frequency 
(Years) 

What % 
Condition 
Inspection 
Annually 

Revaluation 
Frequency 

(Years) 

Adopted 
Asset Life 

Depreciation 
Method 

Roads Earth Roads Earth Roads N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Not 
Depreciated

ROADS

Formation Formation Formation Y N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Indefinite Not 
Depreciated

KERB & CHANNEL  Roads Kerb and Channel – All 
Types

Kerb & Channel Y DRC Condition 4 N/A 4 50 Condition-
Based

STORMWATER & 
FLOOD CONTROL

 Drainage Stormwater Pipes Pipes and 
Culverts 9

Y DRC Age N/A N/A 5 80 Straight-Line 
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Asset Valuation 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Purpose 

This policy covers the valuation of non-current assets throughout their lifecycle. This includes: 

▪ Valuation on initial recognition 

▪ Valuation for financial management 

▪ Valuation for asset management 

▪ Valuation of shared assets 

▪ Valuations relating to sale of assets 

▪ Insurance valuations 

Application of this policy will drive consistent processes to produce comparable valuations. 

Policy Statement 

1.1. 1. Valuations for Financial Management 

Financial reporting obligations require valuations of non-current assets in accordance with relevant Australian 
Accounting Standards and other State Government requirements. 

AASB 1049, Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting, requires Campaspe 
Shire Council (‘Council’) to measure all non-current physical assets at fair value using the revaluation model 
under AASB 116 Property Plant and Equipment. The Revaluation Model states assets whose fair value can 
be measured reliably shall be carried at a re-valued amount, being its fair value. Fair value is defined as the 
amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. The valuation methodology used will be documented within the valuation report (internal or 
external). 

AASB 1041, Revaluation of Non-Current Assets, outlines the application of the fair value approach to valuation, 
prescribing the method of accounting for revaluation increments and decrements and specifies rules relating 
to the frequency of revaluation. 

All non-current Asset Classes, subject to their initial recognition under the Capitalisation Policy, will be 
recognised at fair value using the revaluation model.  Where assets have an available market price for their 
current type and condition, the market price is deemed to be the fair value.  

For infrastructure assets and assets where there is no market-based evidence of fair value, fair value is based 
on the current value to replace the asset based on unit rates. 

Local government refers to these current replacement cost unit rates as ‘Greenfield’ unit rates. Greenfield unit 
rates are based only on the costs that would be included on initial acquisition / construction of the asset at an 
undeveloped site.  Costs that would be incurred upon subsequent replacement or renewal of an asset, such 
as demolition of the old asset or traffic management costs, are excluded from Greenfield unit rates. 

Council Policy Number 136 

Date adopted 23 June 2020 

Scheduled for review June 2023 

DRAFT
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The table below defines costs which will be included (X) for Greenfield unit rates. 

 

 Greenfield 

Strategic planning reports X 

Project scoping and investigation, valuation reports, planning approvals X 

Demolition Costs  

Disposal Costs  

Site Restoration  

Built up location costs (e.g. Traffic Management)  

Survey and design X 

Professional fees X 

Site preparation X 

Formation and Earthworks X 

Construction (excluding Formation and Earthworks) X 

Contract payments X 

Council direct costs, wages, salaries, plant hire, materials, on-costs X 

Overheads X 

Supervision X 

Transport, installation, assembly and testing X 

Project Management X 

 

Asset classes that have short lived or low value assets such as plant and equipment, office furniture and 
vehicles are not revalued as the initial cost is expected to provide a reasonable approximation of fair value for 
these short lived assets.   

1.2. 2. Valuations for Asset Management 

Whereas financial reporting obligations require valuations of non-current assets in accordance with relevant 
Australian Accounting Standards and other State Government requirements, asset management requires 
valuations of non-current assets for renewal planning purposes. 

For asset management, renewal planning requires a reasonable estimate of actual costs to replace an asset 
at the end of its useful life.  The cost to actually rebuild or replace an asset includes the cost for demolition of 
the old asset and  traffic management costs as they form part of the real cost to Council to renew its assets 
and these costs are referred to as ‘Brownfield’ unit rates.   

The table below defines costs which will be included (X) Brownfield unit rates and contrasts this with those 
included in Greenfield unit rates. 
 

 Greenfield Brownfield 

Strategic planning reports X X 

Project scoping and investigation, valuation reports, planning approvals X X 

Demolition Costs  X 

Disposal Costs  X 

Site Restoration  X 

Built up location costs (e.g. Traffic Management)  X 

Survey and design X X 

Professional fees X X 

Site preparation X X 

Formation and Earthworks X X 

Construction (excluding Formation and Earthworks) X X 

Contract payments X X 

Council direct costs, wages, salaries, plant hire, materials, on-costs X X 

Overheads X X 
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Supervision X X 

Transport, installation, assembly and testing X X 

Project Management X X 

 

Asset valuation information (using Brownfield rates) is required in Asset Management Plans in order to assist 
with decisions regarding the level of funding required for asset maintenance and asset renewal expenditures.  
Current asset valuation information assists in making decisions regarding the allocation of resources to those 
assets. 

Under AASB 116, when a certain asset is due to be revalued, all assets within that asset class shall be revalued 
at the same time. The valuation methodology used will be documented within the valuation report (internal or 
external). 

1.3. 3. Greenfield v Brownfield valuations 

Example of Greenfield v Brownfield – Kerb and Channel 

Greenfield: 

Costs involved include initial digging out of site and formation (no existing road pavement or services, drainage 
etc), and pouring kerb.  

Brownfield: 

Costs involved include digging out and removing existing kerb, digging out section of the adjoining road 
pavement, digging out area behind the kerb including footpath, driveways, trees, median strip. Site is now 
prepared and new Kerb can be poured in place. The surrounding areas will now have to be reinstated including 
rehabilitation of adjoining pavement, median strip etc. 

In this case Brownfield unit rates will be much higher than Greenfield rates. In other circumstances where 
some of the existing material can be re-used and demolition & disposal costs are low, Brownfield unit rates will 
be lower. 

As Greenfield rates vary from Brownfield rates, renewal requirements can be more accurately assessed based 
on brownfield valuations. 

1.4. 4. Useful Life 

In accordance with AASB 116 the useful life of an asset should take into account the following: 

▪ expected use of the asset 

▪ expected physical wear and tear 

▪ technical or commercial obsolescence 

▪ legal or similar limits on the use of the asset 

Useful life of each class of asset is documented within Appendix A of the Policy.  

Condition assessments are required to be conducted regularly on assets by the responsible officer or manager 
to reassess the useful life and identify impairments. Results of condition assessments are documented on the 
asset management system and useful lives shall be updated on the asset register by the Strategic Assets 
Coordinator when required. 

Assets shall be separately identified and depreciated into smaller assets (known as Componentised Assets) 
when applicable under AASB116. Componentised assets shall be assessed on useful life and impairment at 
asset component level.  

1.5. 5. Depreciation Method 

The consumption of assets for financial reporting purposes is calculated using the straight line depreciation 
approach. This assumes the asset will lose an equal amount of value each year and is based on a pre-
determined asset useful life. 

The consumption of assets for asset management purposes is referred to as Average Annual Asset 
Consumption. This is calculated based on asset degradation models relating to the physical condition of the 
assets.  In most cases this approach results in an asset losing less value in the early years of its use than in 
later years when it degrades at a quicker rate. 
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A conceptual comparison of straight line depreciation as a measure of consumption to an increasing 
consumption asset degradation model is provided in the figure below 

 
Figure 1 Depreciation vs. Consumption 

 

1.6. 6. Valuation requirements 

All assets require both a Greenfield and Brownfield valuation with the exception of assets held for sale. 

To perform a revaluation the following is required: 

▪ Assessment of asset condition 

▪ Assessment of remaining asset life 

▪ Affirmation of depreciation method 

▪ Assessment of any asset impairment 

Frequency of valuation and average useful life is determined as per Appendix A and are the responsibility of 
both the Finance Manager and Strategic Asset Coordinator. 

1.7. 7. Valuation of shared assets 

Shared assets are recorded based on Council’s control of that asset determined by way of percentage.  For 
infrastructure assets the % is applied to area as opposed to the unit rate (e.g. If a bridge is shared 50:50 for 
renewal purposes with another Council, note this and record 50% of the area in the financial asset register.  In 
this manner, no variation to unit rates is required when performing revaluations).   

Control of shared assets is to be confirmed in writing with the other party. 

Annual valuations for shared assets should be confirmed by the Strategic Asset Coordinator with the other 
party and a Memorandum of Understanding should be put in place by the Strategic Asset Coordinator to 
confirm the process of agreeing valuations. 

1.8. 8. Valuations of assets held for sale 

Financial Reporting 

Assets held for sale are moved into the current assets section of Council’s balance sheet.  They are no longer 
required to be re-valued and are held at their written down value at time of transfer. These are not modelled 
for renewal planning purposes. 

Sale Valuations – Property Assets 

Prior to sale of an asset Council will seek an independent valuation on a willing buyer/willing seller basis.  As 
a minimum, Council are required to obtain one valuation from a licensed valuer but may consider up to 6 
valuations of comparable sites in similar municipalities in order for Council to determine the price at which it 
wants to sell the asset.  

Sale Valuations – Non-Property Assets 

Non property assets include items such as vehicles, heavy plant, and minor equipment. 
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For sale of non-property assets, Council officers will seek benchmarking data in order to ascertain a reasonable 
price. 

1.9. 9. Insurance valuations 

Valuations are required to allow Council to reduce the risk of financial loss through insurance in the event of 
loss or damage to its assets. 

Insurance valuations are determined on complete replacement cost assuming an asset was completely 
destroyed.  This includes the cost of demolition and design of the replacement asset.  These valuations are 
outsourced and managed through the Risk department based on guidelines provided by Council’s insurer.  
Council’s current insurer requires valuations to be conducted every 4 years with a CPI increase applied in 
between. Where insurance valuations align with asset revaluation cycles they can be used as a cross check 
for replacement cost however asset revaluations also require condition and remaining life data which is not 
provided as part of insurance valuations. 

1.10. 10. Policy commitment 

In implementing this policy Council will: 

a) Annually review financial and asset management valuations of Council owned or controlled non-
current asset classes, including confirmation of remaining useful life through consideration of 
change in condition, depreciation method and impairment as well as maintaining supporting 
documentation. 

b) An out of cycle re-valuation within the asset class will be triggered where annual reviews identify 
a material change (5% - 10%) in the following factors relating to a single class: 

i. Unit rates 

ii. Condition change across a material number of assets. 

c) Not revalue assets in the plant and equipment class and instead hold them at initial cost. 

d) Notwithstanding a material change triggering a revaluation of an asset class and excluding assets 
held at initial cost, conduct asset revaluations for each asset class per adopted frequency as per 
Appendix A, including updating condition, remaining useful life and financial valuation. 

e) Ensure corporate systems record the current adopted asset values for reporting in audited 
financial statements within the Annual Report. 

f) Establish and maintain a register detailing the corporate system(s) in which each valuation type 
addressed in the policy recorded. 

1.11. 11. Responsibilities 

Finance Manager 

▪ Coordination of financial valuation process including determination and approval of Greenfield unit rates 

▪ Reporting fair value in the financial statements in line with accounting standards (including any 
impairment) 

▪ Assessment of asset impairments in conjunction with the Strategic Asset Coordinator   

Strategic Asset Coordinator 

▪ Coordination of renewal valuation process including determination and approval of Brownfield unit rates 

▪ Approval and verification of condition assessments and review of asset lives 

▪ Assessment of asset impairments in conjunction with the Finance Manager   

 

Asset Analyst 

▪ Coordination of condition assessments and data collection 

▪ Keeping the Asset Management System up to date (including asset condition, asset characteristics and 
other related (non-financial valuation) data) 

▪ Undertaking annual asset review, documenting findings and providing information to finance department 
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▪ Collecting data through the asset handover process on Brownfield rates and reviewing / updating 
Brownfield unit rates annually. 

▪ Collecting data and reviewing / updating Greenfield unit rates annually. 

 Asset Accountant 

▪ Keeping the Asset Management System up to date through processing of all asset additions, renewals 
and disposals – including all data related to financial control of assets. 

▪ Processing annual revaluations for financial reporting purposes including implementing changes to 
asset remaining useful lives, depreciation method and impairments 

Risk Management Officer 

▪ Coordination of insurance valuations 

External Valuers 

▪ Undertake regular valuation of asset classes with valuations assigned to an external valuer under 
Appendix A  

Exclusions 

Nil 

Human Rights 

This report has considered and complies with the Human Rights and Responsibilities contained in the Victorian 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006. 

Definitions 

Average Annual Asset Consumption The amount of an organisation’s asset base consumed during a 
reporting period (generally a year). 

Asset Class  A group of assets that are similar in nature or function. 

Cost The amount paid or the fair value of any other consideration given to 
acquire an asset at the time of its original acquisition or construction.  
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost (as the 
case with developer and other contributed assets), the cost is its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. 

Depreciable Amount The cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for its cost, less its 
residual value. 

Depreciation The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over 
its useful life. 

Fair Value The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Impairment The amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds it 
recoverable amount. 

Non-Current Asset Any capitalised asset which is not expected to be fully consumed, 
realised, sold or otherwise disposed of within one financial year. 

Revaluation The act of reassessment of values, condition, remaining life and 
impairment of non-current assets at a particular date. 

Shared Assets Are generally assets that cross Council boundaries (such as bridges) 
and therefore are part owned by each party under agreement. 

Remaining Useful Life The time remaining until an asset ceases to provide the required 
service level or economic usefulness. 

Useful Life Age plus remaining useful life. 
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Related Legislation 

Legislative requirements which Council must comply with include: 

The Local Government Act 2020, Section 98 provides that Council must prepare Financial Statements in 
accordance with the Act. 

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) - This policy has been developed in accordance with the 
following AASB Standards 

▪ AASB 116 Property Plant & Equipment 

▪ AASB 1041 Revaluation of Non-current Assets 

▪ AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 

▪ AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting 

Additional guidance material is available including: 

▪ Australian Infrastructure Financial Management Guidelines (2009) 

▪ Victorian Auditor-General’s Office – issues annual reports on the results of Local Government Audits, 
including comments and recommendations regarding aspects of asset valuation practice.  

▪ Department of Treasury and Finance – issues financial reporting directions and financial reporting 
guidance notes, some of which are applicable to Local Government. 

▪ Department of Planning and Community Development – issues guidelines on asset management and 
financial reporting. 

Related Policies, Procedures and Strategies 

Council Policy 091 - Sustainable Asset Management  

Council Policy 144 - Asset Capitalisation  

Asset Management Strategy 

Attachments 

Nil  

Review Period Responsible officer 

Three years  Finance Manager 

Administrative Updates 

It is recognised that, from time to time, circumstances may change leading to the need for minor administrative changes 
to this document. Where an update does not materially alter the policy, such a change may be made administratively. 
Examples include a change to the name of a Council department, a change to the name of a Federal or State Government 
department, and a minor update to legislation which does not have a material impact. However, any change or update 
which materially alters this document must be by resolution of Council. 

Approval History 

Adopted 18 September 2012 Minute Book Reference No 1259 (item 4.24) 
Revised 18 August 2015 Minute Book Reference No 905 (item 6.2) 
Revised 19 February 2019 Minute Book Reference No 404 (item 7.2) 
Revised 23 June 2020 Minute Book Reference No 2221 (Item 9.6) 
Revised 22 February 2021 Administrative update to apply consistent reference to  
   Campaspe Shire Council (‘Council’) 

Chief Executive Officer: ………………………………………………………………………… 

Date:  ………………………………………………………………………… 
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APPENDIX A - CONDITION AND VALUATION TABLE  

Asset Group1  Asset Category 4  
Asset Component 

2  

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  

Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  

Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  

Fair 

Value 

Method 
7  

If DRC  

Age-

based  

or  

Cond-

Based  

Frequency  

(Years)  

What %  

Condition  

Inspection  

Annually  

SWIMMING 

POOLS 

  

  

Recreational, Leisure 

and Community 

 

Pool Structure 

(Shell)  

Swimming Pools Y  DRC  Condition  3 N/A  3 80  Condition-

Based  

Water Treatment 

Systems  

 Swimming Pools Y  DRC  N/A  3 N/A 3 1-50  Straight-Line  

Water Treatment 

Facility 

Swimming Pools Y  DRC  N/A 3  N/A  3  20  Straight-Line  

Pools Surrounds & 

Equipment 

Pool Structures  Swimming Pools Y  DRC  Condition  3  N/A 3 5-80 Condition-

Based  

BRIDGES Bridges  

(Incl. Major Culverts, 

Footbridges  

& boardwalks)  

  

  

Super-Structure   Bridges Y  DRC  Condition  3  33  3  100  Condition-

Based  

Major Culverts Bridges Y DRC Condition 3  33 3 100 Condition- 

Based. 

Super-Structure Footbridges  

& boardwalks 

 

Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 

 

3 50 Condition-

Based 

 

ARTWORKS, 

MONUMENTS, 

ARTEFACTS & 

EXHIBITS 

Artworks  Artworks  Artworks  Y  HC   N/A   N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  Not 

Depreciated  

Artefacts & Exhibits 

(Furniture & Equipment) 

Building 

Equipment 

Artefacts & 

Exhibits 

Y 

 

HC N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

5-20 Straight-Line 

Other Infrastructure Statues & 

Monuments   

  

Monuments, 

Statues & 

Fountains  

Y  HC   Age  N/A  N/A  N/A 100  Straight-Line  
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Asset Group1  Asset Category 4  Asset Component 2  

 

 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation 

Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  

Asset Life  
Depreciation Method  

Fair 

Value 

Method 
7  

If DRC  

Age-

based  

or  

Cond-

Based  

Frequency  

(Years)  

What %  

Condition  

Inspection 

Annually  

  

  

  

 Other Infrastructure 

 

  

Plaques   

Plaques 

N  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

Fountains &  

Water  

Features  

  

Drinking Fountains  Drinking 

Fountains  

N N/A N/A  N/A N/A  N/A N/A  N/A 

 

Water Features  Water 

Features  

N N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A 

 

FOOTPATHS & 

CYCLEWAYS 

Footpaths & 

Cycleways 
Footpaths & 

Cycleways 

Footpaths & 

Cycleways 

Y  DRC  Condition  5 N/A 5 50  Condition-Based  

PLANT &  

EQUIPMENT  

  

  

Plant and  

Equipment  

  

  

Plant - Heavy  Plant and 

Equipment  

Y  HC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A  3 - 10 Straight-Line  

Plant - Minor Plant and 

Equipment  

Y  HC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A  1 - 5  Straight-Line  

  Fleet & Light Vehicles  Plant and 

Equipment  

Y  HC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A  3 - 5  Straight-Line  
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Asset Group1  Asset Category 4  Asset Component 2  

 

Asset Class 
5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation 

Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  

Asset 

Life  

Depreciation 

Method  

Fair 

Value 

Method 
7  

If DRC  

Age-

based  

or  

Cond-

Based  

Frequency 

(Years)  

What %  

Condition 

Inspection 

Annually  

 Fittings Furniture & 

Equipment 

  

Furniture & Office 

Equipment  

Plant and 

Equipment 

Y  HC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A  3 - 15 Straight-Line  

Heritage Plant & 
Equipment 

Heritage Plant & 

Equipment 

Plant and 

Equipment 

Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 100 Straight-Line 

Computers & 
Telecommunications 

Computers & 

Telecommunications  

Plant and 

Equipment 

Y HC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A  4 Straight-Line  

BUILDINGS 

  

  

  

  

  

 Buildings   

  

  

Structure – Long Life Buildings Y DRC  Condition  3  N/A 3 75 Condition-

Based  

Structure – Short 

Life  

Buildings Y DRC  Condition  3  N/A 3 25-50 Condition-

Based  

Other Structures 

(Town Entrances) 

Buildings Y DRC Condition 3 N/A 3 25-50 Condition-

Based 

Buildings Investments 

Properties 

 

Structure – Long Life Investments 

Buildings 

 

Y DRC/MV 

 

Condition 3 N/A 

 

1 75 

 

Condition-

Based 
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Asset Group1  
Asset 

Category 4  
Asset Component 2  

 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  

Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  

Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  

Fair 

Value 

Method 
7  

If DRC  

Age-based  

or  

Cond-

Based  

Frequency  

(Years)  

What %  

Condition  

Inspection  

Annually  

LAND 

  

  

  

  

 Land 

  

  

Land – Crown Land  Land Y  MV  N/A   N/A  N/A  3  Indefinite    Not Depreciated  

Land – Council Owned  Land Y  MV  N/A   N/A  N/A  3  Indefinite  Not Depreciated  

 

 Land Improvements 

Land Y M/V N/A N/A N/A N/A 1-50 Straight Line 

  

Land Under Roads   

Land Y  MV  N/A   N/A  N/A  3  Indefinite  Not Depreciated  

OPEN SPACES 

  

  

  

  

  

OPEN SPACES, 

PARKS & 

STREETSCAPES 

  

  

  

 

 

Irrigation-

Miscellaneous 

Irrigation  Y  DRC  Age  N/A  N/A  3  25  Straight-Line  

Standpipes  Standpipes N N/A N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  

Exercise 

Equipment  

Park Equipment  Exercise 

equipment 

Y DRC  Condition  N/A N/A N/A 20  Straight-Line 

Playgrounds 

(play areas) 

Playgrounds Playgrounds Y  DRC  Condition  1 N/A  3 30  Condition-Based  

Public  

Furniture & 
Fixtures  

  

  

Benches, Tables & 

Picnic Sets  

Furniture N  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

Bins & Surrounds  Furniture N  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

Barbeques  Barbeques Y  DRC  Condition  3  N/A  3  10  Condition-Based  

 

Skate Parks 

     

Skate Parks 

 

Skate Parks 

 

Y  

 

DRC  

 

Condition  

 

3 

 

N/A  

 

3 

 

80 
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Asset Group1  Asset Category 4  Asset Component 2  
 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn ised  
(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  
Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  
Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  
Fair 

Value 

Method 
7  

If DRC  
Age-based  

or  
Cond-

Based  

Frequency  
(Years)  

What %  
Condition  
Inspection  
Annually  

OTHER 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

Other 

Infrastructure 
Bus Stops Bus Stops N N/A N/A N/A N/A    N/A  N/A N/A 

Fences & Bollards  Fences & 

Bollards 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A  N/A  N/A 50  Straight Line  

Parking Meters Parking 

Meters 

Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 15 Straight Line 

Guard Rails  Guard Rails N  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A  N/A N/A N/A  

Bus Shelters  Bus Shelters N  N/A N/A N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A 

Railway Railway Y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 100 Straight Line 

Signs Signs y DRC Age N/A N/A N/A 20 Straight Line 

Marine 
Structures 

Pontoons, 

Wharves & Jetties 

 

Pontoons, 

Wharves & 

Jetties 

 

Y DRC Condition 5 

 

N/A 5 

 

80 

 

Condition-

Based 
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Asset Group1  Asset 

Category 4  Asset Component 2  
 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  
Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  
Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  Fair 

Value 

Method 7  

If DRC  
Age-based  

or  
Cond-Based  

 Frequency  
(Years)  

What %  
Condition  
Inspection  
Annually  

Recreational, 

Leisure and 

Community 

Sports Courts Park Active Area Sports Courts  Y  DRC  Condition  5 N/A  5  25 - 50  Condition-

Based  

Sports 

Infrastructure 

(Scoreboards, 

goal posts) 

 

Park Equipment 

Sports 

Infrastructure 

Y DRC Condition 5 N/A 5 20 Condition-

Based 

Sports 

Lighting 

Lighting Main Sports Lighting Y   DRC Condition  3 N/A 3 30 Straight Line 

 Roads 

Unsealed 

Roads (Inc. 

internal 

roads and 

Unsealed 

runways and 

Car Parks) 

Surface Main - Asphalt  Surface Y  DRC  Condition  4 N/A 4 20  Condition-

Based  

Surface Main– Spray 

Seals  
Surface Y  DRC  Condition  4 N/A  4  15  Condition-

Based  

Pavement  Pavement  Y  DRC  Condition  4   N/A 4   80  Condition-

Based  

Gravel Roads Gravel Pavement Y DRC Condition  2 N/A 4 15 Condition 

Based 

 Shoulders Shoulders Y DRC Condition 4 N/A 4 15 Condition 

Based 
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Asset Group1  Asset 

Category 4  Asset Component 2  
 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  
Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  
Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  Fair 

Value 

Method 7  

If DRC  
Age-based  

or  
Cond-

Based  

Frequency  
(Years)  

What %  
Condition  
Inspection  
Annually  

ROADS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Roads Earth Roads Earth Roads N N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Not 

Depreciated 

Formation Formation Formation Y N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Indefinite Not 

Depreciated 

KERB & CHANNEL 

 

 Roads  Kerb and Channel – All 

Types 
 

Kerb & Channel 

 

Y 
 

DRC 
 

Condition 4 
 

N/A 
 

4 
 

50 Condition-

Based 
 

STORMWATER & 

FLOOD CONTROL 

 Drainage  
 

Stormwater Pipes  Pipes and 

Culverts 9 

 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A N/A  5 80  Straight-Line  
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Asset Group1  Asset 

Category 4  Asset Component 2  
 

Asset Class 5  

 

Recogn 
ised  

(Y/N) 6  

Valuation Method  Condition Assessment  

Revaluation  
Frequency  

(Years)  

Adopted  
Asset Life  

Depreciation 

Method  
Fair 

Value 

Method 7  

If DRC  
Age-based  

or  
Cond-Based  

Frequency  
(Years)  

What %  
Condition  
Inspection  
Annually  

STORMWATER & 

FLOOD CONTROL 

  

  

  

  

 Drainage 

  

  

  

  

Stormwater Pits   Pits and 

Structures 9 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A N/A  5 80  Straight-Line  

Minor Culverts   Pipes and 

Culverts 9 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A N/A 5  80 Straight-Line 

Bores & Wells Pump Wells Y DRC Age N/A N/A 5 80 Straight-Line 

Open Drains & 

Channels 

Open Drains & 

Channels 

Y DRC Age  5 N/A 5 80 Straight-Line 

Stormwater GPT Pits and 

Structures 9 

 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A  N/A  5  80  Straight-Line  

Retaining Walls & 

Levee Banks 

Retaining Walls 

and Levee Banks 

Y DRC Age  5 N/A 5 40 Straight Line 

Retention Basins & 

Wetlands 

Basins, Dams & 

Wetlands 

Y DRC Age  5 N/A 5 80 Straight Line 

Water Pumps & Pump 

Stations  
Pumps and 

Electricals 

Y  DRC  Age  N/A N/A  5  20  Straight-Line  

INTANGIBLE 

ASSETS  
Water Rights Water Rights Intangible Assets Y  MV  N/A  N/A  N/A  1  N/A  N/A  
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Notes:  
1. Asset Management Plans are typically developed at the Asset Group level.  

2. Assets will be recognised at the Asset Component level.  

3. Renewal modelling will typically be considered at the Asset Component level.  

4. If there is no further Asset Component breakdown in the Asset Hierarchy, then assets will be recognised at the Asset Category level.  

5. Asset Class is a term defined in Australian Accounting Standards and is used in financial valuation and capitalisation processes.  Asset Class 

defines the level at which council's Balance Sheet will be reported (FS Note 6.2).  This is also defined in the Asset Group sections of the Asset 

Capitalisation Policy.  

6. Recognition and revaluation of an individual asset may be at either the Asset Class or the Asset Component level.  This is further defined in 

the Asset Capitalisation Policy.  

7. Fair Value Acronym Definitions:  

                        DRC = Depreciated Replacement Cost  
                        GRC = Gross Replacement Cost (i.e., Recognised but not depreciated)  
         HC = Historical Cost (Held at Cost)  
         MV = Market Value  
   NPV= Net Present Value  

        

8. Condition Assessment Frequency – The frequency of condition assessment will be linked to the organisation’s needs for maintaining currency 

of data and to meet compliance obligations in accordance with Accounting Standards, compliance with other codes such as Urban Drainage 

Manuals etc. (IPWEA Stormwater Drainage Practice Note -5, Section11.4). 

9. With above note drainage (Pits, Pipes) frequency of 5 yrs. has been taken out of the previous schedule and it is suggested as N/A (As needs 

basis) in this revision. These will be revalued on straight-line basis and due to the nature of these assets long useful life (80 years) and buried 

underground. It is recommended to always find data gaps within drainage asset data and based on risk level targeted drainage data capture 

could be done specific to a location. Also, maintenance team carryout jetting and cleaning of these assets. This means condition assessment 

on a set frequency is not adopted to entire drainage network.   
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Campaspe Service Planning 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Purpose 

To articulate Campaspe Shire Council’s (‘Council’) commitment to service planning and establish a framework 
to ensure service planning is undertaken in a structured, consistent, considered, cost effective and financially 
sustainable manner across the whole of the organisation. Importantly, implementation of this policy is to 
demonstrate to the community that sound service planning practices underpin Council’s approach to planning 
and delivery of services to the community.  

Service Planning underpins services to:  

▪ Confirm that the current level and type of service delivered is in accordance with Council’s strategic 
direction, as outlined in ‘Campaspe Tomorrow’ 

▪ Determine the purpose of each service, and in instances where services do not align with Council’s 
strategic direction, investigate the reasons for any difference, and/or:  

▪ determine the community need for the service to be delivered, and  

▪ determine if Council is the most appropriate agency to deliver the service,  

▪ identify the most appropriate service model and levels for ongoing delivery of the service,  

▪ ensure services meet the requirements of external legislation, regulation and guidelines 

▪ Assess effectiveness/ efficiency and quality of the service model 

▪ Seek and consider feedback from the community and service users about the adequacy of, and 
satisfaction with, services in relation to their needs and expectations 

▪ Identify the community’s need for additional or different services 

▪ Identify the community’s ability to access other services or programs that would better meet their 
needs 

▪ Identify services’ resource requirements for the longer term 

▪ Have regard to the Service Performance principles, as outlined in the Local Government Act 2020.  

Policy Statement 

When making a service delivery related decision, Council and its officers will have regard to the principles 
documented in this policy. This policy provides Council and staff with a framework to administer and manage 
the service analysis and planning process to ensure responsible and sustainable decisions are made.  

Objectives of Service Planning  

Objectives of Council’s Service Planning program are:  

▪ To develop a clear understanding and agreement on the purpose, and desired outcomes of the 
service 

▪ To develop an accurate forecast of the likely future costs associated with the delivery of individual 
services, to support long term financial planning 

▪ To inform new and upgrade capital works planning, and renewal demand, maintenance and 
operation costs relative to the assets and resources required to support Council’s service provision 

▪ To support Council decision making regarding:  
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▪ The range of services Council will provide  

▪ The link between these services and Council’s Vision and Council Plan, including the Long Term 
Financial Plan, the funding approach and implications  

▪ The strategic intent of the service, service model and level of service 

▪ To explore a range of funding options to support service delivery 

▪ To confirm the true cost and benefits of delivering services 

▪ To establish a process for the regular review of the service delivery approach and model 

▪ To regularly publish the results and the outcomes of service reviews 

▪ To identify service provision demand trends, and changes and the implications these may have for 
the service now and into the future. 

Service Planning Principles  

▪ Council will regularly review the strategic intent of services and its role in service delivery. Council 
acknowledges that services must meet current and future community need. Council must determine 
the degree to which it is responsible for meeting that need within the context of other levels of 
government legislation and regulations, Council’s strategic direction, Council’s financial capability, 
social and environmental sustainability. Services must use resources efficiently and effectively and 
care must be taken to not duplicate services already provided for by others. Council must focus on 
services that create the best outcomes for the community within resources available.  

▪ Council will regularly review the service model, including service delivery model of each service to 
ensure that it effectively supports the strategic intent of a service, is financially sustainable, is socially 
equitable and is environmentally sustainable and efficient.  

▪ Council will regularly review levels of service to ensure that they are effective, efficient, and are 
appropriately resourced. Council shall commit to providing appropriate resourcing for the adopted 
levels of service.  

▪ In reviewing a service, the linkages between services (including internal support services) will be 
considered, including the implications of any recommended service change options on associated 
service/s.  

▪ Council will plan to be sustainable in the short and long term. Where possible, Council will consider 
long term implications of any service change, or lack of change, such as negative social, 
environmental or financial sustainability impacts on Council or the community.  

▪ Service planning will drive responsible decisions regarding the renewal, upgrade or the construction 
of new assets. Decisions about assets are first driven by service delivery.  

▪ Emphasis will be placed on providing effective services, and in order to use Council’s resources for 
the largest benefit possible for the community, services will also be delivered in an efficient manner.  

▪ Services will be planned using evidence of community need and what works. 

▪ Council will consider all of the above principles when considering introducing new services.  

Council will abide by the Service Performance Principles within the Local Government Act 2020. The Service 
Performance Principles are:  

a) services should be provided in an equitable manner and be responsive to the diverse needs of the 
municipal community;  

b) services should be accessible to the members of the municipal community for whom the services 
are intended;  

c) quality and costs standards for services set by the Council should provide good value to the municipal 
community;  

d) a Council should seek to continuously improve service delivery to the municipal community in 
response to performance monitoring;  

e) service delivery must include a fair and effective process for considering and responding to 
complaints about service provision.  
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Exclusions 

Nil 

Human Rights 

This policy has considered and complies with the Human Rights and Responsibilities contained in the Victorian 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006. 

Definitions 

Asset  A physical item that is owned or controlled by Council and supports the 
provision of services to the community.  

Asset Management  The process applied to manage assets over each stage of their service 
life from asset needs analysis, creation, operation, maintenance, 
renewal and disposal. The objective of asset management is to meet a 
required level of service in the most cost effective manner through the 
management of assets for present and future needs of members of the 
community.  

Service Performance Principles  Refers to the principles outlined in the Local Government Act 2020, 
Section 106, which Councils required to comply with, when undertaking 
planning for Council services and activities. The principles are listed in 
this Policy.  

Individual(s)  A resident(s) and/or service user(s) of the municipality.  

Long Term Financial Plan (‘LTFP’) Financial planning processes of ensuring the objectives of council are 
matched by an appropriate resource plan. The LTFP is revised annually 
to ensure ongoing alignment with Council’s Vision and Council Plan.  

 
Program  An ongoing activity or activities, or a process of managing several 

projects, which is developed and performed to meet a public need and 
forming part of a service.  

Project  An activity which either delivers services or programs but has a clearly 
defined start and end point and identifiable milestones and 
achievements.  

Service  A group of programs and projects primarily focussed on external 
recipients, which collectively provide support or guidance to the 
community in order to achieve the objectives of Council’s Vision and 
the Council Plan. A combination of tangible and intangible benefits that 
can be produced and consumed.  

Service Level  In service planning is defined as the ‘amount of an activity’ provided by 
a service.  

Service Model  Describes the activities of a service and how, where and when they are 
delivered. 

Workforce Planning  The process of determining the staff resourcing requirements, both in 
terms of numbers and skill mix, of Council in the medium and long term 
future, in order to support the strategic delivery of Council’s Vision and 
Objectives.  
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Related Legislation 

The Service Planning policy has been developed with reference to relevant federal and state government 
legislation, in particular the Local Government Act 2020. Specific legislation pertaining to an individual service 
will be considered in developing each service plan.  

Related Policies, Procedures and Strategies 

Campaspe Service Planning Guide 

Attachments 

Nil 

Review Period Responsible officer 

Three years  Manager Governance & Strategy  

Administrative Updates 

It is recognised that, from time to time, circumstances may change leading to the need for minor administrative changes 
to this document. Where an update does not materially alter the policy, such a change may be made administratively. 
Examples include a change to the name of a Council department, a change to the name of a Federal or State Government 
department, and a minor update to legislation which does not have a material impact. However, any change or update 
which materially alters this document must be by resolution of Council. 

 

Approval History 

Adopted 27 June 2017 Minute Book Reference No 1572 (Item 6.4) 
Revised 18 February 2020 Minute Book Reference No 164 (item 9.3) 
Revised 22 February 2021 Administrative update to apply consistent references to  
  Campaspe Shire Council (‘Council’) 
 

 

 

Chief Executive Officer: ………………………………………………………………………… 

Date:  ………………………………………………………………………… 
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